## The Principles of Limit Absorption and Limit Amplitude for Periodic Operators

Zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades eines

#### DOKTORS DER NATURWISSENSCHAFTEN

von der Fakultät für Mathematik des Karlsruher Instituts für Technologie (KIT) genehmigte

#### DISSERTATION

von Dipl. phys. Maria Barbara Radosz aus Ratibor in Polen

Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 19.7.2010 Referent: Prof. Dr. M. Plum Korreferent: Prof. Dr. A. Kirsch

#### Danksagung

An dieser Stelle möchte ich ganz herzlich Herrn Prof. Plum danken, der diese Arbeit betreut und deren Fortgang mit wichtigen Vorschlägen gefördert hat.

Herrn Prof. Kirsch danke ich herzlich für die freundliche Bereitschaft, das Korreferat zu übernehmen.

Dank gebührt auch der DFG, die mich im Rahmen des Graduiertenkollegs 1294 finanziell gefördert hat sowie den Dozenten des Graduiertenkollegs für ihren fortwährenden Einsatz.

Vu Hoang möchte ich für zahlreiche Diskussionen danken, die zum Gelingen der Arbeit beigetragen haben, sowie für die genaue Durchsicht des Manuskripts.

Meiner Famile und Giacomo K. möchte ich für ihre wertvolle moralische Unterstützung danken.

# Contents

Intr	oduction	4
1.1	Motivation: The principles of limit absorption, limit amplitude and radiation in homogeneous media.	4
1.2	Limit absorption and amplitude principle, some other authors	7
1.3	Photonic crystals, periodic media	10
1.4	The class of Floquet-Bloch decomposable operators	13
1.5	Contents and scope of this work	15
Dist	ributional limiting absorption principle	19
2.1	Distributional formulation of the problem	20
2.2	Determination of the limit distribution $u^{\pm} = \lim_{\delta \to 0^{\pm}} u_{\delta} \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	21
2.3	The convergence of distributional solutions $u_{\delta}$ to $u^{\pm}$ as $\delta \to 0^{\pm}$	30
Lim	iting absorption principle for regular frequencies $\lambda$	41
3.1	The notion of regular $\lambda$	44
3.2	A criterion on the band functions, such that almost all $\lambda$ are regular	46
3.3	A theorem on the inverse Floquet-Bloch transform restricted to level sets at regular $\lambda$	49
3.4	Representation of the distributional limiting absorption solution for regular $\lambda$ .	60
3.5	Properties of integrals over regular level sets	62
3.6	The limiting absorption principle for regular $\lambda$	67
3.7	Comments	74
	Intr 1.1 1.2 1.3 1.4 1.5 Dist 2.1 2.2 2.3 Lim 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.7	Introduction         1.1       Motivation: The principles of limit absorption, limit amplitude and radiation in homogeneous media.         1.2       Limit absorption and amplitude principle, some other authors         1.3       Photonic crystals, periodic media         1.4       The class of Floquet-Bloch decomposable operators         1.5       Contents and scope of this work         1.5       Contents and scope of the problem.         1.6       Distributional limiting absorption principle         2.1       Distributional formulation of the problem.         2.2       Determination of the limit distribution $u^{\pm} = \lim_{\delta \to 0^{\pm}} u_{\delta}$ 2.3       The convergence of distributional solutions $u_{\delta}$ to $u^{\pm}$ as $\delta \to 0^{\pm}$ .         3.1       The notion of regular $\lambda$ .         3.2       A criterion on the band functions, such that almost all $\lambda$ are regular .         3.3       A theorem on the inverse Floquet-Bloch transform restricted to level sets at regular $\lambda$ .         3.4       Representation of the distributional limiting absorption solution for regular $\lambda$ .         3.4       Representation of the distributional limiting absorption solution for regular $\lambda$ .         3.5       Properties of integrals over regular level sets .         3.6       The limiting absorption principle for regular $\lambda$ .

4	The	limit amplitude principle for regular frequencies	76
	4.1	Functions of the operator $\mathcal{L}$	77
	4.2	The solution of the wave equation for $t < \infty$	81
	4.3	Asymptotic behavior of the solution of the wave equation for $t \to \pm \infty$	89
		4.3.1 Asymptotic behavior of the parts of $u_{as.}$ involving the Hilbert transform $H$	90
		4.3.2 Asymptotic behavior as $t \to +\infty$ of the nonsingular parts of $u_{as.}$ and of $u_{trans.}$	96
	4.4	Formulation of the limit amplitude principle for regular frequencies	97
	4.5	Equivalence of the presented principles of limit absorption and limit amplitude	99
5	Арр	endix 1	01
	5.1	The Floquet-Bloch transform	01
	5.1 5.2	The Floquet-Bloch transform    1      The Cauchy principal value integral    1	01 02
	<ul><li>5.1</li><li>5.2</li><li>5.3</li></ul>	The Floquet-Bloch transform       1         The Cauchy principal value integral       1         The Hausdorff Measure       1	01 02 03
	<ul><li>5.1</li><li>5.2</li><li>5.3</li><li>5.4</li></ul>	The Floquet-Bloch transform       1         The Cauchy principal value integral       1         The Hausdorff Measure       1         The Area- and Coarea-Formula       1	01 02 03 04
	<ul> <li>5.1</li> <li>5.2</li> <li>5.3</li> <li>5.4</li> <li>5.5</li> </ul>	The Floquet-Bloch transform1The Cauchy principal value integral1The Hausdorff Measure1The Area- and Coarea-Formula1A trace operator onto the diagonal for $L^{\infty}$ -valued Lipschitz functions1	01 02 03 04 05
	<ul> <li>5.1</li> <li>5.2</li> <li>5.3</li> <li>5.4</li> <li>5.5</li> <li>5.6</li> </ul>	The Floquet-Bloch transform1The Cauchy principal value integral1The Hausdorff Measure1The Area- and Coarea-Formula1A trace operator onto the diagonal for $L^{\infty}$ -valued Lipschitz functions1A variant of the Hilbert transform1	01 02 03 04 05 13

### **Chapter 1**

## Introduction

# **1.1** Motivation: The principles of limit absorption, limit amplitude and radiation in homogeneous media.

An important problem in mathematical physics is the solution of the wave equation in a homogeneous medium

$$-c^2 \Delta u + \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial t^2} = f \tag{1.1}$$

on the whole of  $\mathbb{R}^3$  where f is a function modeling an external force<sup>1</sup>. For simplicity we put c = 1 in this section. For time-harmonic external forces  $f = e^{i\omega t}g$  one is often interested in stationary time-harmonic solutions of the form

$$u = e^{i\omega t}v.$$

Inserting u and f in (1.1) one arrives at the Helmholtz equation

$$-\Delta v - k^2 v = g \qquad (k = \omega). \tag{1.2}$$

So formally every solution of the Helmholtz equation gives rise to a time-harmonic solution of the wave equation. For a Hölder continuous compactly supported g the volume potential

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>In the case of electromagnetic waves, f models a radiation source.

defined by

$$v^{\pm}(x) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} g(y) \frac{e^{\pm ik|x-y|}}{4\pi |x-y|} \, dy \quad (x \in \mathbb{R}^3)$$

is Hölder continuous and twice continuously differentiable, and for each choice of sign in the exponent it is a solution of (1.2) on  $\mathbb{R}^3$ . In mathematical physics, it is desirable to formulate problems involving the Helmholtz equation which admit unique solutions. On bounded domains this is achieved by imposing a boundary condition. But since we are looking for solutions on the unbounded set  $\mathbb{R}^3$  we have to impose some "boundary condition at infinity". One could try to impose a decay condition like

$$v(x) \to 0$$
 uniformly as  $|x| \to \infty$ ,

meaning that for all  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exists a  $r = r(\varepsilon)$  such that for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^3$  with |x| > r,  $|v(x)| < \varepsilon$  holds. But it turns out that this decay condition is not sufficient to enforce unique solvability of the Helmholtz equation for every right hand side g and every value of  $k^2$ . Consider first the case  $k^2 < 0$ , i.e.  $k = i\kappa$  for some  $\kappa > 0$ . The volume potentials

$$v_1(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} g(y) \frac{e^{-\kappa |x-y|}}{4\pi |x-y|} \, dy, \qquad v_2(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} g(y) \frac{e^{\kappa |x-y|}}{4\pi |x-y|} \, dy$$

are both solutions of (1.2), but only  $v_1$  vanishes at infinity in the above sense. In this case, the uniform decay condition selects a decaying solution and seems to be suitable. But in the case  $k^2 > 0$ , i.e. putting  $k = \kappa > 0$ , we have the situation, that both potentials

$$v_1(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} g(y) \frac{e^{-i\kappa|x-y|}}{4\pi|x-y|} \, dy, \qquad v_2(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} g(y) \frac{e^{i\kappa|x-y|}}{4\pi|x-y|} \, dy$$

solve the Helmholtz equation (1.2) and tend uniformly to 0 at infinity. So the uniform decay condition does not work for all  $k^2$ . There is still a need for additional conditions at infinity to define the solution of (1.2) uniquely.

Now there are three well known possibilities to introduce additional physically motivated requirements on the solution of the Helmholtz equation, such that the solution becomes unique in these distinguished classes of solutions. These are the principles of radiation, limit absorption and limit amplitude, which turn out to be mutually equivalent in the case of homogeneous media.

The principle of radiation is often also called outgoing (Sommerfeld) radiation condition, in three space dimensions given by

$$v = O(r^{-1})$$

$$\frac{\partial v}{\partial r} + ikv = o(r^{-1}).$$

This condition is in particular fulfilled for a spherical wave, so it expresses the physical idea that every stationary wave field looks like a spherical wave at infinity provided the force term has compact support. Looking for solutions v satisfying (1.2) and the radiation condition selects  $v_1$  and gives the desired uniqueness.

The principle of limit amplitude (of the first kind) tells to select the unique function v defined by the following process as the physical solution of (1.1). Consider the wave equation (1.1) with time harmonic right hand side  $f = e^{i\omega t}g$  and study its solution as  $t \to +\infty$ . If the force term is time harmonic then for physical reasons the initial conditions (which we assume to be localized in some sense) become unimportant as  $t \to +\infty$  and the solution u of the wave equation will perform forced oscillations with the frequency of the source. So as  $t \to +\infty$ we expect the asymptotic behavior

$$u(x,t) \sim e^{i\omega t} v(x) \quad (t \to +\infty),$$

with a v that solves the Helmholtz equation. This unique v is then the limit amplitude solution of (1.2).

Finally the principle of limit absorption (of the first kind) is based on the idea that there is always a small positive damping in the physical system, and so one has to add a small absorption  $\delta > 0$  to the wave equation and the Helmholtz equation for a more realistic physical situation. Then the damped (or absorptive) equations are

$$-\Delta u + \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial t^2} + \delta \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} = f \tag{1.3}$$

and

$$-\Delta v - (k^2 - i\delta\omega)v = g \qquad (k = \omega).$$
(1.4)

The unique limit absorption solution of (1.2) is given by the pointwise limit of the solutions  $v_{\delta}$  of (1.4) as  $\delta \to 0^+$ .

The selected solution v is always the same for any of the three principles.

Since we speak of principles of limit amplitude and limit absorption of the first kind, this indicates that there are corresponding principles of the second kind.

For the limit absorption principle of the second kind equation (1.4) is replaced by

$$-\Delta \widetilde{v} - (k^2 + i\delta\omega)\widetilde{v} = g \qquad (k = \omega).$$
(1.5)

The limit absorption solution of (1.5) is the limit of solutions of this equation as  $\delta \rightarrow 0^+$ .

For the limit amplitude principle of second kind the right hand side f is written in the form  $f = e^{-i\omega t}g$  and the asymptotic behavior of the wave equation reads now  $u(x,t) \sim e^{-i\omega t}\tilde{v}$  as  $t \to +\infty$ .

Third in row is the incoming (Sommerfeld) radiation condition, in three space dimensions given by

$$v = O(r^{-1})$$
$$\frac{\partial v}{\partial r} - ikv = o(r^{-1}).$$

The latter three principles select the same unique solution  $\tilde{v}$  of the Helmholtz-equation (1.2), namely  $\tilde{v} = v_2$ . In general  $v_1 \neq v_2$ .

All facts in this section are taken from [1, 2, 3].

# **1.2** Limit absorption and amplitude principle, some other authors

The construction of physical solutions by the limiting absorption and limit amplitude principle has a long history (see [1, 2] and references to early papers therein). We briefly list some steps in the development of the theory of the principles of limit absorption and limit amplitude for various kinds of differential operators. The body of literature is very large. The following collection of results is not meant to be exhaustive, but rather we restrict ourselves to the most popular approaches to this field.

In [4] the limiting absorption principle is proved for the elliptic equation of the form

$$gu = -\sum_{k,l=1}^{m} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_k} \left( a_{kl}(x) \frac{\partial}{\partial x_l} \right) u + q(x)u = \lambda u + f(x)$$

for an exterior domain with bounded boundary  $\Gamma$  and boundary condition  $u|_{\Gamma} = 0$ . Furthermore, the differential operator g is supposed to coincide with

$$-\triangle + q$$
 (\*)

outside a sphere and q and f decay sufficiently fast. For the proofs the space dimension is set equal to 3. (\*) allows to make use of the well-known Green's kernel for  $-\triangle$ . The method is

based on a contradiction argument to show a certain a-priori bound in a weighted norm for solutions  $u_{\epsilon}$  of the absorptive equation. Then a subsequence  $u_{\epsilon_n}$  of  $(u_{\epsilon})_{\epsilon>0}$  converges<sup>2</sup> to a solution u of the equation with absorption parameter  $\epsilon = 0$  in  $H^2$ -norm on every bounded interior subregion of the exterior domain and in  $H^1(\Omega_{\rho})$  for every  $\rho$ , where  $\Omega_{\rho}$  is the part of the exterior domain that is contained in the sphere  $S_{\rho}$ . The limit element u satisfies an integral-form radiation condition

$$\lim_{\rho \to \infty} \int_{S_{\rho}} \left| \frac{\partial u}{\partial r} - i\sqrt{\lambda} u \right|^2 \, d\sigma = 0$$

which contributes uniqueness, and so for the whole sequence  $u_{\epsilon} \rightarrow u$  holds in the above sense.

By similar methods a limiting absorption result is obtained in [4] for a region shaped like a semi-infinite cylindrical tube, where the operator g is simplified to  $-\triangle$  outside a finite part of the domain and for right hand side is set to f = 0.

[5] extends the principles of radiation, limit amplitude and limit absorption to a class of hypoelliptic equations with constant coefficients and a class of elliptic equations that consist of a constant coefficient part of order 2m and a part of order  $\leq 2m$  with variable compactly supported coefficients. The limiting absorption result is obtained by weak convergence of fundamental solutions of the absorptive equation and weak convergence of absorptive solutions.

In [6] the case of a magnetic Schrödinger operator

$$L = -\sum_{j=1}^{n} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} + ib_j\right)^2 + V$$

with decaying magnetic and electric potential is discussed. The limiting absorption principle is obtained as a limit of solutions of  $(L - k^2 - i\delta)u = f$ , i.e. the limit

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0^+} (L - k^2 - i\delta)^{-1} f$$

exists in a weighted  $L^2$  space under the assumption of a unique continuation property for L. Moreover some sort of outgoing radiation condition is given in the form

$$\left\|\mathcal{D}u\right\|_{(-1+\varepsilon)/2,E_1} < \infty,$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>First in local  $L^2$ -norm and then by an additional a-priori estimate in the  $H^2$ -norm.

where  $\mathcal{D}u = (\mathcal{D}_1 u, \dots, \mathcal{D}_n u), \mathcal{D}_j u = (\partial_j + ib_j(x))u(x) + \frac{n-1}{2|x|} \frac{x_j}{|x|}u(x) - ik\frac{x_j}{|x|}u(x)$ . The norm is a weighted  $L^2$ -norm with weight  $(1 + |x|)^{(-1+\varepsilon)/2}$  over the complement of the unit ball. Finally the absolute continuity for L on  $(0, \infty)$  is shown using the limiting absorption method for L.

[7] (see also references therein) draws the limiting absorption principle for an operator  $H = H_0 + V$  on a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  from smoothness assumptions on the spectral family  $E_0(\lambda)$  of  $H_0$  and perturbation arguments on V. In particular, the spectral family  $E_0(\lambda)$  is supposed to be weakly differentiable in  $\lambda$  with locally Hölder continuous derivative. For  $A_0$  being the derivative of the spectral family associated to  $H_0$  the following representation formula is given:

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} (H_0 - (\mu \pm i\varepsilon))^{-1} = \mathcal{P} \!\!\!\int_K \frac{A_0(\lambda)}{\lambda - \mu} \, d\lambda \pm i\pi A_0(\mu) + \int_{U \setminus K} \frac{A_0(\lambda)}{\lambda - \mu} \, d\lambda$$

where  $\mu \in K$  and  $K \subset U$  are some open intervals (satisfying further conditions). For  $H = H_0 + V$ , the limit

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} (H - (\lambda \pm i\varepsilon))^{-1}$$

exists in uniform operator topology of  $B(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{X}_{H_0}^*)$ . Here  $\mathcal{X}$  is a dense, continuously embedded subspace of  $\mathcal{H}$  and  $\mathcal{X}_{H_0}^* \subset \mathcal{X}^*$  is to be chosen suitably. The operator  $V : \mathcal{X}_{H_0}^* \to \mathcal{X}$  is assumed to be compact. The method is then applied to the operator

$$H = -\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_1^2} - x_1 + q(x_1) + T_{x'} + V(x), \quad (x_1, x') \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{n-1}$$

with twice continuously differentiable periodic q and self-adjoint operator  $T_{x'}$  (semibounded from below) and V as above. The second application is the Schrödinger operator

$$H = -\triangle + V.$$

The absorptive resolvents converge in the operator norm topology between a weighted  $L^2$  space and a suitably weighted Sobolev space. Finally some other classes of operators are treated.

In [8] the limiting absorption principle for an analytically fibered operator  $H_0$  is derived in an abstract way from a so-called Mourre estimate for the commutator of  $H_0$  with a conjugate operator A

$$\chi_{\Delta}(H_0)[H_0, iA]\chi_{\Delta}(H_0) \ge c_0\chi_{\Delta}(H_0) + K,$$

where  $\chi_{\triangle}(H_0)$  is the spectral projection on the interval  $\triangle \subset \mathbb{R}$  and K is a compact operator. The limit

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} (H_0 - \lambda \pm i\varepsilon)^{-1}$$

for  $\lambda \notin \sigma_p(H_0)$  exists as a bounded operator between suitable weighted spaces. This result is applied to perturbations of a periodic Schrödinger operator in [9].

The Mourre-estimate approach is applied to various differential operators and geometries. It can also be used to obtain resolvent estimates in Besov spaces (see [10, 11, 12, 13]).

Concerning periodic operators there is some interest coming from scattering theory in crystals. An important object in this field is the Green's function as the integral kernel of the resolvent. The periodicity of the medium suggests to use the Floquet-Bloch transform for a representation of the resolvent. In [14] (which also contains references to the application of the limiting absorption principle in scattering theory) this method is used to show the existence of the limit in  $L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  of solutions

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} (L - \lambda \mp i\delta)^{-1} f$$

for a second order elliptic operator L on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $d \ge 2$ , with periodic coefficients and right hand side  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  with compact support. As a crucial requirement  $\lambda$  has to be close to the bottom of the spectrum of L. For the integral kernel of  $(L - \lambda \mp i0)^{-1}$  an asymptotic formula for  $|x| \to \infty$  is derived. The operator  $\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda}\right)^m (L - \lambda \mp i0)^{-1}$  between the Besov spaces  $B_{m+\frac{1}{2}}$ and  $B_{m+\frac{1}{2}}^*$  is shown to be bounded.

The limit amplitude principle, in comparison to the limiting absorption principle, seems to play a subordinate role in the literature. A reason is that often one of the essential ingredients in the proof of the limit amplitude principle is the validity of the limiting absorption principle. Thus, many of the authors who study the limiting absorption principle, also derive versions of the limit amplitude principle (see [15, 16, 17, 18]).

#### **1.3** Photonic crystals, periodic media

For reference to this section see [19, 20, 21].

A (3-dimensional) photonic crystal is a piece of optical material whose dielectric "constant" varies periodically with respect to some fixed spatial lattice. This discrete periodicity creates physical effects that are not present in homogeneous media, such as the existence of band

gaps, i.e. frequency regions such that light at these frequencies cannot propagate in the crystal due to destructive interference. Not every periodic structure necessarily has band gaps, but photonic crystals with band gaps have already been fabricated. The periodicity of the dielectric constant with respect to some lattice is expressed by the relation  $\varepsilon(r+R) = \varepsilon(r)$  for all  $r \in \mathbb{R}^3$  and all lattice vectors R. Without loss of generality we take  $\mathbb{Z}^3$  as the periodicity lattice, since any other 3-dimensional lattice can be produced from  $\mathbb{Z}^3$  by a linear transformation. Since periodic functions can be expressed by their Fourier transform, a second lattice becomes important: the dual or reciprocal lattice. It is determined as the lattice build up from vectors q such that for all lattice vectors R there exists a  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  with  $q \cdot R = n2\pi$ . So the dual lattice of  $\mathbb{Z}^3$  is  $2\pi\mathbb{Z}^3$ . Propagation of electromagnetic radiation is governed by the Maxwell equations. For time harmonic electric and magnetic fields E, H respectively, and the magnetic permeability  $\mu = 1$  one can derive the following master equation for free propagation without a source

$$\nabla \times \left(\frac{1}{\varepsilon(r)}\nabla \times H(r)\right) = \frac{\omega^2}{c_0^2}H(r)$$

with divergence condition  $\nabla \cdot H(r) = 0$ , or alternatively

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon(r)}\nabla\times(\nabla\times E(r)) = \frac{\omega^2}{c_0^2}E(r)$$

with divergence condition  $\nabla \cdot (\varepsilon E) = 0$ . To exploit the discrete periodicity of the medium the fields are expanded into Bloch modes. For illustration we focus on the H field. The Bloch modes  $H_{sk}$ , where s is a discrete index and  $k \in \mathbb{R}^3$ , are divergence free eigenfunctions of  $\nabla \times \frac{1}{\varepsilon(r)} \nabla \times$  with eigenvalues  $\frac{\omega_s(k)^2}{c_0^2}$  i.e.

$$\nabla \times \left(\frac{1}{\varepsilon(r)}\nabla \times H_{sk}\right) = \frac{\omega_s(k)^2}{c_0^2}H_{sk}.$$

Moreover, the  $H_{sk}$  are k-quasiperiodic, i.e.  $H_{sk}(r+n) = e^{ink}H_{sk}(r)$  for any  $n \in \mathbb{Z}^3$ . k is the wave vector of  $H_{sk}$  and the functions  $\omega_s$  are called band functions. Because of the kquasiperiodicity, all information characterizing wave propagation in the crystal is contained in the set of Bloch modes and band functions with wave vector  $k \in [-\pi, \pi]^3$ . This set of wave vectors is called Brillouin zone (B or BZ).

Starting point for this work was the Green's function for the photonic crystals, which is frequently and successfully used in physics literature and given by the formula (here for the

electric field E)

$$G_0(r, r'; \omega) = \sum_s \int_{BZ} d^3k \; \frac{E_{sk}^*(r) \otimes E_{sk}(r')}{\omega_{sk}^2/c_0^2 - (\omega/c_0 + i0_+)^2}.$$
(1.6)

Clearly the Green's function is a formal limit of absorptive Green's functions

$$G_{\delta}(r,r';\omega) = \sum_{s} \int_{BZ} d^3k \; \frac{E_{sk}^*(r) \otimes E_{sk}(r')}{\omega_{sk}^2/c_0^2 - (\omega/c_0 + i\delta)^2}$$

The solution of

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon(r)}\nabla \times (\nabla \times E(r)) - \left(\frac{\omega}{c_0} + i\delta\right)^2 E(r) = f$$
(1.7)

for  $f \in L^2$  is a  $L^2$ -function given by

$$E^{\delta}(r) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} G_{\delta}(r, r'; \omega) f(r') \, dr'.$$

If  $\omega \neq \omega_{sk}$  for all s, k, which means that  $\omega$  is in a band gap of the crystal, there is no singularity in the denominator of the Green's function, when  $\delta \to 0$ . So  $E^{\delta}$  converges in  $L^2$ to some unique  $E^0 \in L^2$  solving (1.7) with  $\delta = 0$ . The fast decaying solution<sup>3</sup> corresponds to the fact that there is no light propagation in the crystal. Also for  $\omega$  in a band, i.e. if  $\omega = \omega_{sk}$ for one or several s, k, the notation (1.6) is used in physics literature. But now it is not clear in which sense the limit  $\delta \to 0$  is to be taken. Moreover, if the frequency  $\omega$  lies in a band, propagation of radiation in the crystal is possible, i.e. one expects a solution that decays more slowly than a  $L^2$ -function (the decay depending on the space dimension) when |r| goes to infinity. Moreover, the propagating radiation should be carried by modes that correspond to the frequency  $\omega$ . The formal expression (1.6) provides no such information on propagating parts of the solution.

Motivated by these questions, we want to show in this work a limiting absorption principle for a class of periodic operators in order to define limiting absorption solutions rigorously in an appropriate sense. The representation formulas will reveal some more information on propagating and evanescent parts of the solutions. Having established a limiting absorption principle for periodic operators, it is also interesting to prove a limit amplitude principle. The kind of limiting absorption principle presented in this work admits an equivalent limit amplitude principle.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>If  $\omega$  is in a band gap, one can show that the solution decays exponentially (see [22]).

#### **1.4** The class of Floquet-Bloch decomposable operators

Let  $d \ge 1$  be the space dimension and  $M \ge 1$ .  $\Omega = [0,1]^d$  denotes the cell of periodicity and  $B = [-\pi, \pi]^d$  the Brillouin zone. Let  $\mathcal{J} \subseteq \mathbb{Z}$  be fixed subset of the integers (not necessarily bounded or semibounded). In this work we consider operators  $\mathcal{L} : L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M) \supseteq D(\mathcal{L}) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$  which fulfill the following five requirements

- (1)  $\mathcal{L}$  is densely defined, all compactly supported smooth functions are in the domain of  $\mathcal{L}$ , and  $\mathcal{L}\varphi$  is a compactly supported smooth function provided  $\varphi$  is one<sup>4</sup>.
- (2) There exists a family of operators  $(\mathcal{L}_k)_{k\in B}$ ,

$$\mathcal{L}_k: D(\mathcal{L}_k) \subseteq L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^M) \to L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^M)$$

a family of *B*-periodic<sup>5</sup> real valued Lipschitz functions  $(\lambda_s)_{s \in \mathcal{J}}$  on *B* and for each  $k \in B$  a  $L^2(\Omega)$ -orthonormal complete system

$$\{\psi_s(\cdot,k): s \in \mathcal{J}\}$$

of k-quasiperiodic eigenfunctions of  $\mathcal{L}_k$  on  $\Omega$  with corresponding eigenvalues  $\lambda_s(k)$ , i.e.

$$\mathcal{L}_k \psi_s(\cdot, k) = \lambda_s(k) \psi_s(\cdot, k) \quad (s \in \mathcal{J}, \ k \in B)$$
  
$$\psi_s(x+n, k) = e^{ikn} \psi_s(x, k) \quad (n \in \mathbb{Z}^d, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d),$$

where  $kn = \sum_{i=1}^{d} k_i n_i$  for  $k = (k_1, \dots, k_d)$ ,  $n = (n_1, \dots, n_d)$ . The functions  $\lambda_s$  are called the *band functions of*  $\mathcal{L}$  and the  $\psi_s(\cdot, k)$  are called the *Bloch waves of*  $\mathcal{L}$ .

- (3) The mapping  $k \mapsto \psi_s(\cdot, k) \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^M)$  is measurable<sup>6</sup>.
- (4) For any fixed k ∈ B the eigenspace of λ<sub>s</sub>(k) is finite dimensional and the sequence of eigenvalues (λ<sub>s</sub>(k))<sub>s∈J</sub> is ordered by magnitude and multiplicity (i.e. ... ≤ λ<sub>s</sub>(k) ≤ λ<sub>s'</sub>(k) ≤ ... if s, s' ∈ J, s ≤ s'). For any compact interval I ⊂ ℝ there are only finitely many s with I ∩ λ<sub>s</sub>(B) ≠ Ø.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>If  $\mathcal{L}$  is a differential operator, for simplicity we assume the coefficients to be in  $C^{\infty}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>i.e. having the same values on opposite faces of B

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Since  $L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^M)$  is a separable Hilbert space, weak, strong and Borel-measurability are equivalent (see [23], Theorem IV.22).

(5) Let

$$\begin{split} D(\mathcal{L}) = & \{ u \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M) : \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_B \lambda_s(k) \langle Uu(\cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^M)} \psi_s(\cdot, k) \ dk \\ & \text{converges in } L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M) \}. \end{split}$$

(The series converges in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$  if

$$\sum_{s \in \mathcal{J} \cap \{n \in \mathbb{Z}: |n| \ge l\}} \int_B \lambda_s(k) \langle Uu(\cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^M)} \psi_s(x, k) \ dk \xrightarrow{l \to \infty} 0$$

in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$ .)

For  $u \in D(\mathcal{L})$  we have the following decomposition of  $\mathcal{L}$  with respect to the Floquet-Bloch transform U (for definition of U, see section 5.1 in the appendix)

$$\mathcal{L}u(x) = U^{-1}\mathcal{L}_k Uu(x)$$
  
=  $\frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_B \lambda_s(k) \langle Uu(\cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^M)} \psi_s(x, k) \, dk$  (1.8)

where the series converges in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$ .

In chapter 4 exclusively we make the following additional hypothesis:

(6) The spectrum of  $\mathcal{L}$  is absolutely continuous and  $\lambda_s > 0$  for all  $s \in \mathcal{J}$ .

It follows that  $\mathcal{L}$  is selfadjoint and

$$\sigma(\mathcal{L}) = \bigcup_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \lambda_s(B).$$

The following representation is most important for this work. If  $\lambda \notin \sigma(\mathcal{L})$ ,  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$  then

$$(\mathcal{L} - \lambda)^{-1} f(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_B \frac{\langle Uf(\cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^M)} \psi_s(x, k)}{\lambda_s(k) - \lambda} \, dk.$$
(1.9)

This framework fits to many operators in physical and mathematical applications. For example all self-adjoint elliptic differential operators with smooth periodic (with respect to some lattice) coefficients are Floquet-Bloch decomposable (see [24], which also contains more classes of operators compatible with the Floquet-Bloch transform). The first order Maxwell

system with smooth periodic dielectric and magnetic constants as well as the corresponding second order Maxwell operator  $\frac{1}{\varepsilon(x)}$  curl curl are Floquet-Bloch decomposable using suitable operator domains (see [25]). Concerning the absolute continuity of the spectra of periodic operators, see [26] and [27].

The reason for introducing the abstract class of Floquet-decomposable operators instead of working for example with a concrete elliptic differential operator is that the limit absorption and limit amplitude principle result from the Bloch-wave expansion of the operator and its resolvent (1.9) and not from other properties of the operator such as ellipticity or the order.

#### **1.5** Contents and scope of this work

In this work we will prove a variant of limit absorption and limit amplitude principle for operators  $\mathcal{L}$  as described in section 1.4. The principles work for any dimension including d = 1, though applying the Floquet-Bloch transform with respect to just one of the variables stronger results can be derived using methods of complex analysis, in particular by deforming the integral over B in the representation formula for the resolvent into the complex plane to avoid singularities (see e.g. [28]). Notice that for a d-dimensional periodicity lattice, it is also possible to perform the Floquet-Bloch transform with respect to less than d variables, i.e. to exploit just a part of the periodicity and ignore the rest. For example consider the s-dimensional Floquet-Bloch transform

$$U_{s}f(x_{1},\ldots,x_{d},k) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B_{s}|}} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}^{s}} f((x_{1},\ldots,x_{s})-n,x_{s+1},\ldots,x_{d})e^{ink}$$

with  $B_s = [-\pi, \pi]^s$ ,  $k = (k_1, \ldots, k_s)$ ,  $x_{s+1}, \ldots, x_d$  are regarded as parameters. So the notion of dimensionality refers rather to the number of variables, which are involved in the Floquet-Bloch transform than to the dimension of the space  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . In this work we will exploit the full given periodicity, i.e.  $U_s = U_d = U$ .

Unlike other authors ([15, 7, 29]) we will not exploit Hölder continuity of the resolvent, of the derivative of the spectral family or of the solution. The only smoothness assumption is the Lipschitz condition on the band functions  $\lambda_s$ . We will see that this implies that (with  $A(\lambda) = \frac{d}{d\lambda}E(\lambda)$  denoting the derivative of the spectral family  $E(\lambda)$  associated with  $\mathcal{L}$ ) for any  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$  the mapping  $\mu \mapsto A(\mu)f$  is is at least in  $L^2$  for  $\mu$  in an interval of regular (in the sense of definition 3.6) values of the band functions (regular frequencies), but it is not clear whether it is Hölder continuous. Thus we will develop a method, which uses only the  $L^2$ -property. We will work directly with the Bloch waves  $\psi_s$  and not with full projections on eigenspaces. But since no more smoothness of the Bloch waves is needed than to be measurable in k, multiple eigenvalues will not cause more problems than simple ones. The cost for doing without stronger smoothness assumptions is that we will not show convergence of absorptive resolvents with respect to the operator norm (hence there are no resolvent estimates in this work), neither we will try to extend the resolvent analytically across the real line. Instead we will show the *convergence of solutions*  $u_{\delta}$  of absorptive equations

$$(\mathcal{L} - (\lambda + i\delta))u = f \tag{1.10}$$

in a suitable sense. The right hand side  $f = f(\lambda, \cdot) \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$  can explicitly depend on  $\lambda$  as long as the dependence is Lipschitz. If f is not constant in  $\lambda$ , for technical reasons we demand f to have compact support in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . If f is constant in  $\lambda$  we can do without compact support and just assume  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$ . We would like to mention that we do not use or derive any sort of (integral- or differential-form) radiation condition in this work.

It is the character of this work, that the results are obtained in a very direct way, i.e. by direct computations and estimations.

The key to our method to prove the principles of limit absorption and limit amplitude for the class of operators introduced in 1.4 is to regard the solution  $u_{\delta}$  of the absorptive equation

$$(\mathcal{L} - \lambda - i\delta)u = f$$

as a function in the variables  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ .

In chapter 2 a distributional formulation of the limit absorption principle is formulated rigorously. We will show, that for all test functions  $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$ ,  $u_{\delta}[\varphi]$ , where  $u_{\delta}$  is regarded as a distribution in x and  $\lambda$ , converges to some  $u^{\pm}[\varphi]$  as  $\delta \to 0^{\pm}$ , defining for each choice of sign a distribution  $u^{\pm}$  being a distributional solution of  $(\mathcal{L} - \lambda - i0^{\pm})u = f$ , i.e.

$$u^{\pm}[(\mathcal{L}-\lambda)\varphi] = f[\varphi] \quad (\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M))$$

We then call  $u^-$  the distributional limit absorption solution of the first kind and  $u^+$  the distributional limit absorption solution of the second kind in analogy to section 1.1. The distributional formulation has the great advantage that absolutely no restrictions on the range of  $\lambda$  are needed. Moreover we gain a semi-explicit representation formula for the limit distributions.

In chapter 3 we strive to establish a limit absorption principle for  $\mathcal{L}$  in a function space. To this end, we have to make restrictions on the range of  $\lambda$ . We demand  $\lambda$  to be regular in some sense, i.e. the band functions  $\lambda_s$  have - in some sense - non-vanishing derivatives on the level set corresponding to  $\lambda$ . The physical interpretation of regularity of a frequency  $\lambda$  is that all Bloch waves  $\psi_s(\cdot, k)$  with band functions crossing the frequency  $\lambda$  have non vanishing group velocity, and thus propagate in space. Then for an interval  $I_0 \subset \mathbb{R}$  of regular frequencies and a suitable weight function w, we show the convergence of solutions  $u_{\delta} = u_{\delta}(\lambda, x) \in$  $L^p(I_0, L^2(\mathbb{R}^d; w(x)dx); d\lambda)$  of the absorptive equation

$$(\mathcal{L} - \lambda - i\delta)u = f$$

to some function  $u^{\pm}(\lambda, x)$  in the space  $L^{p}(I_{0}, L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d}; w(x)dx); d\lambda)$  as  $\delta \to 0^{\pm}$ . For each choice of sign, the function  $u^{\pm}$  solves the limit equation  $(\mathcal{L} - \lambda)u = f$  distributionally, i.e.

$$u^{\pm}[(\mathcal{L}-\lambda)\varphi] = f[\varphi] \quad (\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(I_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M))$$

An important step to show the convergence is to realize that the inverse Floquet-Bloch transform can be restricted to operate on functions defined on the product of the periodicity cell and a level set of a band function. The restricted inverse Floquet-Bloch transform takes functions which are in  $L^2$  on the product of the periodicity cell  $\Omega$  and the level set of  $\lambda_s$  under consideration to functions on the whole  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , which are in a weighted  $L^2$ -space. Not only the existence of the limit is shown, but also a representation formula in terms of the Bloch waves is given. The structure of the limit reveals parts of the solution with different decay behavior, which are expected from a physical point of view.

In chapter 4 we show a limit amplitude principle for  $\mathcal{L}$ . Our starting point for this chapter is the exposition of the limit amplitude principle in the book [30] (Chapter XVII.B.§4.) which works for all frequencies  $\lambda = \omega^2 \notin \sigma(\mathcal{L})$ . We extend these results to regular frequencies  $\omega$  of  $\mathcal{L}^{1/2}$ , for which  $\omega^2 \in \sigma(\mathcal{L})$  holds. The assumption (6) in section 1.4 is made in order to use some results from [30]. Then by properties of the Hilbert transform and its Fourier multiplier we will show, that for the solution of the wave equation u(x, t) with time periodic right hand side

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial t^2} + \mathcal{L}u = e^{i\omega t}g, \\
u(0) = u^0, \\
\frac{\partial u}{\partial t}(0) = u^1,
\end{cases}$$
(1.11)

the following asymptotic relation

 $u \sim e^{i\omega t} v^{-}$ 

holds in some sense as  $t \to +\infty$ , where  $v^-$  is the limit absorption solution of the first kind of the corresponding Helmholtz equation. To achieve this asymptotic behavior, the solution  $u(t, \cdot)$  of the Cauchy problem (1.11) for any fixed t is regarded as an element of  $L^2(I, L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M; w(x)dx); d\omega)$ , where  $I \subset (0, \infty)$  is an interval of regular frequencies of  $\mathcal{L}^{1/2}$  and w is a suitable weight function. Furthermore the well-known representation of the solution u of the wave equation

$$u(t) = \cos(\mathcal{L}^{1/2}t)u^{0} + \mathcal{L}^{-1/2}\sin(\mathcal{L}^{1/2}t)u^{1} + \int_{0}^{t} \mathcal{L}^{-1/2}\sin\left(\mathcal{L}^{1/2}(t-\sigma)\right)e^{i\omega\sigma}g \,d\sigma,$$

with initial conditions  $u^0, u^1$  and a time harmonic source  $e^{i\omega t}g$  will be extremely helpful. The principles of limit amplitude and limit absorption presented in this work are equivalent, in the sense that they select the same physical solution v of the problem

$$(\mathcal{L} - \lambda)v = g$$

for regular  $\lambda \in \sigma(\mathcal{L})$ .

## Chapter 2

# Distributional limiting absorption principle

In this chapter we will state and prove a limiting absorption principle for distributional solutions of the Helmholtz-like equation

$$(\mathcal{L} - \lambda)u = f \tag{2.1}$$

on the entire  $\mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $d \ge 1$ , for the class of Floquet-decomposable operators introduced in section 1.4. The fact that the absorptive solutions  $u_\delta$  of

$$(\mathcal{L} - \lambda - i\delta)u = f$$

converge for  $\delta \to 0^{\pm}$  in distributional sense with respect to the frequency variable and the spatial variables to limit distributions which are a distributional solutions of (2.1) will enable us to avoid regularity conditions on the range of frequencies. Thus the range of  $\lambda$  may even include band intersections and overlaps, local extrema of the bands, saddle point frequencies or eigenvalues of  $\mathcal{L}$ . We will regard the absorptive solution as a distribution in the variables x and  $\lambda$  and decompose it via the Floquet-Bloch transform. Then, based on a well known theorem about Cauchy principal value integrals, we will guess from its structure the limit distributions, prove the crucial semi-norm estimates as well as the convergence and the solution property.

#### **2.1** Distributional formulation of the problem.

Throughout this chapter we make the following assumptions on the right hand side f.

• 
$$\left\{ \begin{array}{rcl} f: \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^d & \to & \mathbb{C}^M \\ (\lambda, x) & \mapsto & f(\lambda, x) \end{array} \right.$$

•  $\exists \mathcal{K} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d, \mathcal{K} \text{ compact } : \forall \lambda \in \mathbb{R} : \operatorname{supp} f(\lambda, \cdot) \subseteq \mathcal{K}$ 

• 
$$\forall \lambda \in \mathbb{R} : f(\lambda, \cdot) \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$$

•  $\lambda \mapsto f(\lambda, \cdot) \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$  is locally Lipschitz continuous with local Lipschitz constant

$$\operatorname{Lip}(f)_{\mathfrak{C}} = \inf\left\{ C > 0 : \|f(x,\cdot) - f(y,\cdot)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{M})} \le C|x-y|, \ x,y \in \mathfrak{C} \right\}$$

for any compact  $\mathfrak{C} \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ .

Thus, f may explicitly depend on  $\lambda$ . In the most common case when f is constant in  $\lambda$ , the assumption on the compact support of f can be dropped, which will become apparent in the estimations below.

Consider the distributional version of the problem (2.1) in the variables x and  $\lambda$ .

**Definition 2.1** (Distributional solution). With a given f as above, a distribution u acting on test functions  $\varphi = \varphi(\lambda, x) \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$  is called a distributional solution of (2.1) if for all  $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$ 

$$u[(\mathcal{L} - \lambda)\varphi] = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(\lambda, x)\varphi(\lambda, x) \, dx \, d\lambda.$$
(2.2)

In the right integrand the product of  $f(\lambda, x)$  with  $\varphi(\lambda, x)$  is the standard inner product in  $\mathbb{C}^M$ , which will be used without mentioning from now on. For  $\delta \neq 0$  we have, because of the self-adjointness of  $\mathcal{L}$ , that  $\lambda + i\delta \notin \sigma(\mathcal{L})$  and so we have a  $L^2$ -solution  $u_{\delta}$  of (2.1) with fixed  $\lambda$  given by the Floquet-Bloch decomposition of  $(\mathcal{L} - (\lambda + i\delta))^{-1} f$ :

$$u_{\delta}(\lambda, x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_{B} \frac{\langle (Uf)(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_{s}(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^{M})}}{\lambda_{s}(k) - (\lambda + i\delta)} \psi_{s}(x, k) \, dk.$$
(2.3)

We can interpret  $u_{\delta}$  as a distribution in the variables  $\lambda$  and x acting on test functions  $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$  by

$$u_{\delta}[\varphi] =$$

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_B \frac{\langle (Uf)(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^M)}}{\lambda_s(k) - (\lambda + i\delta)} \psi_s(x, k) \, dk \, \varphi(\lambda, x) \, dx \, d\lambda.$$
(2.4)

Note that the integral is well defined since  $u_{\delta} \in L^2_{loc.}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M; d\lambda \otimes dx)$ . Then  $u_{\delta}$  is a distributional solution of the problem

$$(P_{\delta}) \qquad \qquad u[(\mathcal{L} - (\lambda + i\delta))\varphi] = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(\lambda, x)\varphi(\lambda, x) \, dx \, d\lambda$$

Now we are interested in the limit of  $u_{\delta}[\varphi]$  as  $\delta \to 0$ . It will turn out that the limits are different whether  $\delta \to 0$  from above or from below. We will treat both possibilities simultaneously. **Notation:** To keep the notation simpler, we will suppress the target space  $\mathbb{C}^M$  in the notation in the proofs. Furthermore

$$\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle := \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^M)}.$$

# **2.2 Determination of the limit distribution** $u^{\pm} = \lim_{\delta \to 0^{\pm}} u_{\delta}$

The aim is now to show, that the limits

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0^{\pm}} u_{\delta}$$

exist in distributional sense and solve the problem  $(P_0)$ .

Interchanging the order of integrations in (2.4), which will be justified by the estimations in proof of theorem 2.8, we see

$$u_{\delta}[\varphi] =$$

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{\langle (Uf)(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_{s}(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^{M})}}{\lambda_{s}(k) - (\lambda + i\delta)} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \psi_{s}(x, k)\varphi(\lambda, x) \, dx \right) \, d\lambda \, dk.$$
(2.5)

The integral over  $\mathbb{R}^d$  can be reduced to an integral over the periodicity cell, by splitting  $\mathbb{R}^d$  into translates of  $\Omega$ , using the Floquet-Bloch transform and the *k*-quasiperiodicity of the Bloch waves  $\psi_s$ . This is done in the next

Lemma 2.2.  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \varphi(\lambda, x) \psi_s(x, k) \ dx = \sqrt{|B|} \ \overline{\langle U\overline{\varphi}(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle}_{L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^M)}$ 

Proof.

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \varphi(\lambda, x) \psi_s(x, k) \, dx \\ &= \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \int_{\Omega} \varphi(\lambda, x - j) \psi_s(x - j, k) \, dx = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \int_{\Omega} e^{-ikj} \varphi(\lambda, x - j) \psi_s(x, k) \, dx \\ &= \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \int_{\Omega} \overline{e^{ikj}} \varphi(\lambda, x - j) \psi_s(x, k) \, dx = \int_{\Omega} \psi_s(x, k) \overline{\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}^d} e^{ikj} \overline{\varphi(\lambda, x - j)}} \, dx \\ &= \sqrt{|B|} \int_{\Omega} \psi_s(x, k) \overline{U\overline{\varphi}(\lambda, x, k)} \, dx = \sqrt{|B|} \, \langle \psi_s(\cdot, k), U\overline{\varphi}(\lambda, \cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)}, \end{split}$$

where we have used the k-quasiperiodicity of  $\psi_s(\cdot, k)$ .

Since the the expression in the numerator in (2.5) will appear very often, we define

#### **Definition 2.3.**

$$\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda) := \sqrt{|B|} \,\overline{\langle U\overline{\varphi}(\lambda,\cdot,k), \psi_s(\cdot,k) \rangle}_{L^2(\Omega,\mathbb{C}^M)} \langle Uf(\lambda,\cdot,k), \psi_s(\cdot,k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega,\mathbb{C}^M)}.$$

Now we would like to apply theorem 5.6 from the appendix on every term in the series (2.5). Then the limit for each term, i.e. for fixed s and k, would be

$$\mathcal{P}\!\!\int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda)}{\lambda_s(k) - \lambda} \, d\lambda \pm i\pi \Phi_{s,k}(\lambda_s(k)),$$

provided  $\Phi_{s,k}$  satisfies the requirements of theorem 5.6. This is indeed true by the following

**Lemma 2.4.**  $\Phi_{s,k}$  is locally Lipschitz continuous with a Lipschitz constant  $Lip(\Phi_{s,k})_{\mathfrak{C}}$  depending on  $\varphi$  and f, but not on k and s.

*Proof.* Let  $\text{supp}(\varphi) \subseteq K_1 \times K_2 \subseteq \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^d$ , s, k fixed. Let  $\lambda, \lambda$  lie in a compact set  $\mathfrak{C} \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ . First we use the definition of  $\Phi_{s,k}$  (skipping the subscripts), insert cross terms and use the triangle inequality:

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} |\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda) - \Phi_{s,k}(\widetilde{\lambda})| = \left| \overline{\langle U\overline{\varphi}(\lambda,\cdot,k), \psi_s(\cdot,k) \rangle} \langle Uf(\lambda,\cdot,k), \psi_s(\cdot,k) \rangle - \overline{\langle U\overline{\varphi}(\widetilde{\lambda},\cdot,k), \psi_s(\cdot,k) \rangle} \langle Uf(\widetilde{\lambda},\cdot,k), \psi_s(\cdot,k) \rangle \right|$$

$$\leq \left| \overline{\langle U\overline{\varphi}(\lambda,\cdot,k),\psi_{s}(\cdot,k)\rangle} \langle Uf(\lambda,\cdot,k),\psi_{s}(\cdot,k)\rangle - \overline{\langle U\overline{\varphi}(\widetilde{\lambda},\cdot,k),\psi_{s}(\cdot,k)\rangle} \langle Uf(\lambda,\cdot,k),\psi_{s}(\cdot,k)\rangle \right| \\ + \left| \overline{\langle U\overline{\varphi}(\widetilde{\lambda},\cdot,k),\psi_{s}(\cdot,k)\rangle} \langle Uf(\lambda,\cdot,k),\psi_{s}(\cdot,k)\rangle - \overline{\langle U\overline{\varphi}(\widetilde{\lambda},\cdot,k),\psi_{s}(\cdot,k)\rangle} \langle Uf(\widetilde{\lambda},\cdot,k),\psi_{s}(\cdot,k)\rangle \right|.$$

Then we rearrange and use linearity of U and Cauchy-Schwarz inequality on the inner products, noting that  $\|\psi_s(\cdot, k)\|_{L^2(\Omega)} = 1$ :

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} |\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda) - \Phi_{s,k}(\widetilde{\lambda})| \\
\leq |\langle Uf(\lambda,\cdot,k), \psi_s(\cdot,k)\rangle|| \langle U\overline{\varphi}(\lambda,\cdot,k), \psi_s(\cdot,k)\rangle - \langle U\overline{\varphi}(\widetilde{\lambda},\cdot,k), \psi_s(\cdot,k)\rangle| \\
+ |\langle U\overline{\varphi}(\widetilde{\lambda},\cdot,k), \psi_s(\cdot,k)\rangle|| \langle Uf(\lambda,\cdot,k), \psi_s(\cdot,k)\rangle - \langle Uf(\widetilde{\lambda},\cdot,k), \psi_s(\cdot,k)\rangle| \\
\leq ||Uf(\lambda,\cdot,k)||_{L^2(\Omega)} ||U\overline{\varphi}(\lambda,\cdot,k) - U\overline{\varphi}(\widetilde{\lambda},\cdot,k)||_{L^2(\Omega)} \\
+ ||U\overline{\varphi}(\widetilde{\lambda},\cdot,k)||_{L^2(\Omega)} ||Uf(\lambda,\cdot,k) - Uf(\widetilde{\lambda},\cdot,k)||_{L^2(\Omega)}.$$

Next we use the estimate from lemma 5.3 in the appendix, noting that f and  $\varphi$  have compact support with respect to the variable x:

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} |\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda) - \Phi_{s,k}(\widetilde{\lambda})| \\
\leq \frac{C(\operatorname{supp}(f), \operatorname{supp}(\varphi))}{|B|} ||f(\lambda, \cdot)||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \left\|\varphi(\lambda, \cdot) - \varphi(\widetilde{\lambda}, \cdot)\right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \\
+ \frac{C(\operatorname{supp}(\varphi), \operatorname{supp}(f))}{|B|} \left\|\varphi(\widetilde{\lambda}, \cdot)\right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \left\|f(\lambda, \cdot) - f(\widetilde{\lambda}, \cdot)\right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \\
\leq \frac{C(\operatorname{supp}(f), \operatorname{supp}(\varphi))}{|B|} \sup_{\lambda \in \mathfrak{C}} ||f(\lambda, \cdot)||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \operatorname{Lip}(\varphi)\mathfrak{c}|\lambda - \widetilde{\lambda}| \\
+ \frac{C(\operatorname{supp}(f), \operatorname{supp}(\varphi))}{|B|} \sup_{\widetilde{\lambda} \in \mathfrak{C}} \left\|\varphi(\widetilde{\lambda}, \cdot)\right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \operatorname{Lip}(f)\mathfrak{c}|\lambda - \widetilde{\lambda}| \\
\leq C(\mathfrak{C}, \varphi, f)|\lambda - \widetilde{\lambda}|.$$
(2.6)

In the second last step we use that  $\lambda \mapsto \varphi(\lambda, \cdot) \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and  $\lambda \mapsto f(\lambda, \cdot) \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  are locally Lipschitz and hence are also locally bounded.

By now we have a clear idea how the limit distribution should look like and so we make the following definition.

**Definition 2.5.** For  $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$  define the distributions  $u^{\pm}$  by

$$u^{\pm}[\varphi] := \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_{B} \left[ \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \mathcal{P}_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda)}{\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda} \, d\lambda \pm \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} i\pi \Phi_{s,k}(\lambda_{s}(k)) \right] \, dk.$$
(2.7)

In the proof of the next theorem we will show that the sum

$$\sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \mathcal{P}_{\mathbb{R}} \underbrace{\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda)}{\lambda_s(k) - \lambda} d\lambda$$

converges absolutely and that for each choice of sign  $u^{\pm}$  is indeed a distribution.

**Theorem 2.6.** For all compact  $K = K_1 \times K_2 \subseteq \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^d$  there exist  $C_1, C_2 \ge 0$  depending only on K, f and other system constants such that for all  $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$  with support in K

$$|u^{\pm}[\varphi]| \le C_1 \|\varphi\|_{\infty} + C_2 \|\frac{\partial}{\partial\lambda}\varphi\|_{\infty}$$

holds.

*Proof.* Applying lemma 5.5 from the appendix to  $\Phi_{s,k}$  we obtain ( $\Phi_{s,k}$  is Lipschitz by lemma 2.4), noting that the support of  $\Phi_{s,k}$  is contained in  $K_1$ :

$$\begin{split} \left| \mathcal{P}\!\!\int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda)}{\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda} \, d\lambda \right| &= \left| \int_{|\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda| > \epsilon} \frac{\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda)}{\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda} \, d\lambda + \mathcal{P}\!\!\int_{\lambda_{s}(k) - \epsilon}^{\lambda_{s}(k) + \epsilon} \!\!\frac{\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda)}{\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda} \, d\lambda \right| \\ &= \left| \int_{|\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda| > \epsilon} \frac{\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda)}{\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda} \, d\lambda + \int_{\lambda_{s}(k) - \epsilon}^{\lambda_{s}(k) + \epsilon} \!\!\frac{\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda) - \Phi_{s,k}(\lambda_{s}(k))}{\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda} \, d\lambda \right| \\ &\leq \int_{|\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda| > \epsilon} \frac{|\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda)|}{|\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda|} \, d\lambda + \int_{\lambda_{s}(k) - \epsilon}^{\lambda_{s}(k) - \epsilon} \!\left| \frac{\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda) - \Phi_{s,k}(\lambda_{s}(k))}{\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda} \right| \, d\lambda \\ &\leq \frac{1}{\epsilon} \int_{K_{1}} |\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda)| \, d\lambda + \int_{\lambda_{s}(k) - \epsilon}^{\lambda_{s}(k) - \epsilon} \!\left| \frac{\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda) - \Phi_{s,k}(\lambda_{s}(k))}{\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda} \right| \, d\lambda. \end{split}$$

We use this estimate to estimate the first part of  $u^{\pm}$  (see definition 2.7) containing the principal value integral:

$$\left|\frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \mathcal{P}\!\!\int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda)}{\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda} \, d\lambda \, dk\right|$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \frac{1}{\epsilon} \int_{K_{1}} |\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda)| \, d\lambda \, dk \qquad (2.8)$$
$$+ \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_{\lambda_{s}(k)-\epsilon}^{\lambda_{s}(k)+\epsilon} \left| \frac{\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda) - \Phi_{s,k}(\lambda_{s}(k))}{\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda} \right| \, d\lambda \, dk.$$

Now we take care of the first summand of (2.8). In the following estimations the steps marked with  $(\star)$  are justified by Fubini's theorem on the sum and the two integrals (see [31], Section 1.4, Theorem 1 for a suitable version of Fubini's theorem).

$$\begin{split} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \frac{1}{\epsilon} \int_{K_{1}} |\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda)| \, d\lambda \, dk \\ \stackrel{(\star)}{=} & \frac{1}{\epsilon} \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_{K_{1}} \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} |\sqrt{|B|} \, \overline{\langle U\overline{\varphi}(\lambda,\cdot,k), \psi_{s}(\cdot,k) \rangle} \langle Uf(\lambda,\cdot,k), \psi_{s}(\cdot,k) \rangle| \, dk \, d\lambda \\ &= & \frac{1}{\epsilon} \int_{K_{1}} \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} |\langle U\overline{\varphi}(\lambda,\cdot,k), \psi_{s}(\cdot,k) \rangle| |\langle Uf(\lambda,\cdot,k), \psi_{s}(\cdot,k) \rangle| \, dk \, d\lambda \\ &\leq & \frac{1}{\epsilon} \int_{K_{1}} \int_{B} \sqrt{\sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} |\langle U\overline{\varphi}(\lambda,\cdot,k), \psi_{s}(\cdot,k) \rangle|^{2}} \sqrt{\sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} |\langle Uf(\lambda,\cdot,k), \psi_{s}(\cdot,k) \rangle|^{2}} \, dk \, d\lambda. \end{split}$$

Up to now we inserted the definition of  $\Phi_{s,k}$  (see def. 2.3) and used the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality on the sum. Next we use the completeness of  $\{\psi_s(\cdot, k) : s \in \mathcal{J}\}$  and then again the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality on the integral over B to obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \frac{1}{\epsilon} \int_{K_{1}} |\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda)| \, d\lambda \, dk \\ &\leq \frac{1}{\epsilon} \int_{K_{1}} \int_{B} \|U\overline{\varphi}(\lambda,\cdot,k)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \|Uf(\lambda,\cdot,k)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \, dk \, d\lambda \\ &\leq \frac{1}{\epsilon} \int_{K_{1}} \left( \int_{B} \|U\overline{\varphi}(\lambda,\cdot,k)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \, dk \right)^{1/2} \left( \int_{B} \|Uf(\lambda,\cdot,k)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \, dk \right)^{1/2} \, d\lambda \\ &= \frac{1}{\epsilon} \int_{K_{1}} \|U\overline{\varphi}(\lambda,\cdot,\cdot)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega\times B)} \|Uf(\lambda,\cdot,k)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega\times B)} \, d\lambda. \end{aligned}$$

The isometry property of U now implies:

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \frac{1}{\epsilon} \int_{K_{1}} |\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda)| \, d\lambda \, dk$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{\epsilon} \int_{K_{1}} \|\varphi(\lambda, \cdot)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \|f(\lambda, \cdot)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \, d\lambda$$
(2.9)

$$\leq \frac{1}{\epsilon} \sqrt{|K_2|} \|\varphi\|_{\infty} \int_{K_1} \|f(\lambda, \cdot)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)} \, d\lambda < \infty.$$

Thus  $(\star)$  is justified. In the last step we estimated the  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  norm of  $\varphi$  by  $\sqrt{|K_2|} \|\varphi\|_{\infty}$  and used that  $\|f(\lambda, \cdot)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)}$  is locally Lipschitz in  $\lambda$ .

We are finished with the first summand and continue the estimations with the second summand of (2.8). Let

$$r = \max\{|s| : s \in \mathcal{J}, \operatorname{conv}(\lambda_s(B) - \epsilon, \lambda_s(B) + \epsilon) \cap K_1 \neq \emptyset\}$$

and

$$\mathfrak{C} = \bigcup_{|s| \le r} \operatorname{conv}(\lambda_s(B) - \epsilon, \lambda_s(B) + \epsilon) \cup K_1.$$

conv denotes the convex hull taken in  $\mathbb{R}$ . Clearly  $\mathfrak{C}$  is compact. The sum over s in the second summand of (2.8) is in fact finite, since for  $|s| \ge r+1$ ,  $\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda_s(k)) = 0$  for all  $k \in B$ , because  $\lambda_s(k) \notin \operatorname{supp}(\Phi_{s,k})$ . Moreover, if  $|s| \ge r+1$ , the interval  $(\lambda_s(k) - \epsilon, \lambda_s(k) + \epsilon)$  has empty intersection with  $\operatorname{supp}(\Phi_{s,k})$  and so in that case  $\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda) = 0$  for all  $\lambda \in (\lambda_s(k) - \epsilon, \lambda_s(k) + \epsilon)$ . Hence

$$\begin{split} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_{\lambda_{s}(k)-\epsilon}^{\lambda_{s}(k)+\epsilon} \left| \frac{\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda) - \Phi_{s,k}(\lambda_{s}(k)))}{\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda} \right| \, d\lambda \, dk \\ &= \left| \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}; \ |s| \leq r} \int_{\lambda_{s}(k)-\epsilon}^{\lambda_{s}(k)+\epsilon} \left| \frac{\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda) - \Phi_{s,k}(\lambda_{s}(k)))}{\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda} \right| \, d\lambda \, dk \\ &\stackrel{(\star)}{\leq} \left| \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_{\mathfrak{C}} \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}; \ |s| \leq r} \left| \frac{\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda) - \Phi_{s,k}(\lambda_{s}(k)))}{\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda} \right| \, dk \, d\lambda. \end{split}$$

The interchange of integrals marked with  $(\star)$  will be justified at the end by Fubini's theorem. Next we use lemma 2.4 and the estimate (2.6) in its proof.  $|\lambda_s(k) - \lambda|$  cancels out in the numerator and the denominator:

$$\begin{split} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}_{\lambda_{s}}(k) - \epsilon}^{\lambda_{s}(k) + \epsilon} \left| \frac{\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda) - \Phi_{s,k}(\lambda_{s}(k))}{\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda} \right| \, d\lambda \, dk \\ & \leq \quad \frac{C(\operatorname{supp}(f), K_{2})}{|B|} \int_{\mathfrak{C}} \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}; \ |s| \leq r} \left( \sup_{\lambda \in \mathfrak{C}} \|f(\lambda, \cdot)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \operatorname{Lip}(\varphi)_{\mathfrak{C}} \right) d\lambda \, dk \end{split}$$

$$+ \sup_{\lambda \in \mathfrak{C}} \|\varphi(\lambda, \cdot)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)} \operatorname{Lip}(f)_{\mathfrak{C}} \bigg) \ dk \, d\lambda.$$

Counting the summands and carrying out the integrals we obtain:

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}_{\lambda_{s}(k) - \epsilon}} \int_{\lambda_{s}(k) - \epsilon}^{\lambda_{s}(k) - \Phi_{s,k}(\lambda_{s}(k))} \left| d\lambda dk \right| \\
\leq (2r+1)C(\operatorname{supp}(f), K_{2})|B||\mathfrak{C}| \frac{1}{|B|} \left( \sup_{\lambda \in \mathfrak{C}} \|f(\lambda, \cdot)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \operatorname{Lip}(\varphi)_{\mathfrak{C}} \right) \\
+ \sup_{\lambda \in \mathfrak{C}} \|\varphi(\lambda, \cdot)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \operatorname{Lip}(f)_{\mathfrak{C}} \right) \qquad (2.10)$$

$$\leq (2r+1)C(\operatorname{supp}(f), K_{2})|\mathfrak{C}|\sqrt{|K_{2}|} (\sup_{\lambda \in \mathfrak{C}} \|f(\lambda, \cdot)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \left\| \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda} \varphi \right\|_{\infty} \\
+ \|\varphi\|_{\infty} \operatorname{Lip}(f)_{\mathfrak{C}}) < \infty.$$

Thus, (\*) is justified. In the last step we estimated the  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ -norm of  $\varphi$  by  $\sqrt{|K_2|} \|\varphi\|_{\infty}$  and used that the Lipschitz constant can be estimated by  $\sqrt{|K_2|} \|\frac{\partial}{\partial\lambda}\varphi\|_{\infty}$ .

It remains to estimate the  $\int_B \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} i\pi \Phi_{s,k}(\lambda_s(k)) dk$  part of  $u^{\pm}$ . First we note that due to the compact support of  $\varphi$ , for r as defined above we have that for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $s \in \mathcal{J}$ , |s| > r and  $k \in B$ :  $\varphi(\lambda_s(k), x) = 0$ . Furthermore there exists an a > 0 such that for all  $\lambda$ 

$$\mathrm{supp}(\varphi(\lambda,\cdot)) \subseteq \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{Z}^d, |n| \leq a} \Omega + n.$$

Finally we note that since  $\lambda_s(B)$  is compact and  $\lambda \mapsto \|f(\lambda, \cdot)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)}$  is locally Lipschitz we have that

$$\sup_{k\in B} \left\| f(\lambda_s(k), \cdot) \right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)} < \infty.$$
(2.11)

Now we can start the last estimation. First we use the triangle inequality, the definition of  $\Phi_{s,k}$  (see definition 2.3) and lemma 2.2:

$$\begin{split} I_{s,k} &:= \left| \pm \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_B \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} i\pi \Phi_{s,k}(\lambda_s(k)) \ dk \right| \\ &\leq \left| \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_B \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}; \ |s| \leq r} \pi \left| \Phi_{s,k}(\lambda_s(k)) \right| \ dk \\ &= \left| \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_B \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}; \ |s| \leq r} \pi \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \varphi(\lambda_s(k), x) \psi_s(x, k) dx \right| \end{split}$$

$$\times |\langle Uf(\lambda_s(k), \cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle| dk.$$

Note that  $\varphi(\lambda_s(k)) = 0$  for all  $k \in B$  if  $|s| \ge r + 1$ . Then we split the integral over  $\mathbb{R}^d$  into integrals over translates of  $\Omega$ , use the triangle inequality, the k-quasiperiodicity of  $\psi_s(\cdot, k)$  and the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality on the inner product with Uf:

$$I_{s,k} \leq \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \pi \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}; \ |s| \leq r} \left( \sum_{|n| \leq a} \int_{\Omega} |\varphi(\lambda_{s}(k), x+n)| |\psi_{s}(x,k)| \ dx \right) \\ \times \|Uf(\lambda_{s}(k), \cdot, k)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \ dk.$$

$$(2.12)$$

We estimate  $|\varphi(\lambda_s(k), x + n)|$  by  $\|\varphi\|_{\infty}$ , use the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality on the integral over  $\Omega$  and that  $\|\psi_s(\cdot, k)\|_{L^2(\Omega)} = 1$  to obtain

$$I_{s,k} \le \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \pi \left\|\varphi\right\|_{\infty} \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}; \ |s| \le r} \sum_{|n| \le a} \sqrt{|\Omega|} \left\|Uf(\lambda_{s}(k), \cdot, k)\right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} dk.$$
(2.13)

Counting the summands in the sum over n and using the estimate 5.3 from the appendix yields

$$I_{s,k} \leq \frac{C(\operatorname{supp}(f))}{|B|} \pi \sqrt{|\Omega|} (2a+1)^d \|\varphi\|_{\infty} \int_B \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}; \ |s| \leq r} \|f(\lambda_s(k), \cdot)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)} dk$$
  
$$\leq C(\operatorname{supp}(f)) \pi \sqrt{|\Omega|} (2a+1)^d \|\varphi\|_{\infty} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}; \ |s| \leq r} \sup_{k \in B} \|f(\lambda_s(k), \cdot)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)}$$
  
$$< \infty.$$

In the last step we estimated  $||f(\lambda_s(k), \cdot)||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)}$  by its supremum for  $k \in B$  and integrated out the integral over B. From (2.11) follows now that the result is  $< \infty$ .

Collecting the results of the previous estimations we arrive at

$$|u^{\pm}[\varphi]| \leq C_1 \|\varphi\|_{\infty} + C_2 \left\|\frac{\partial}{\partial\lambda}\varphi\right\|_{\infty},$$

where the constants can be chosen as follows

$$C_{1} = \frac{1}{\epsilon} \sqrt{|K_{2}|} \int_{K_{1}} \|f(\lambda, \cdot)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} d\lambda$$
  
+(2r+1)C(supp(f), K\_{2})|\mathfrak{C}|\sqrt{|K\_{2}|} \operatorname{Lip}(f)\_{\mathfrak{C}}  
+C(supp(f)) $\pi \sqrt{|\Omega|} (2a+1)^{d} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}; \ |s| \leq r} \sup_{k \in B} \|f(\lambda_{s}(k), \cdot)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})}$ 

$$C_2 = (2r+1)C(\operatorname{supp}(f), K_2)|\mathfrak{C}|\sqrt{|K_2|} \sup_{\lambda \in \mathfrak{C}} ||f(\lambda, \cdot)||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)},$$

where a, r and  $\mathfrak{C}$  are as defined above in this proof.

Changing the proof of the previous theorem by using Hölder's inequality in the place (2.9), continuing the estimate (2.10) by estimating  $\sup_{\lambda \in \mathfrak{C}} \|\varphi(\lambda, \cdot)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)}$  by  $\sup_{\lambda \in \mathbb{R}} \|\varphi(\lambda, \cdot)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)}$  and continuing the estimate (2.12) with

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \pi \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}; \ |s| \le r} \left( \sum_{|n| \le a} \int_{\Omega} |\varphi(\lambda_{s}(k), x+n)| |\psi_{s}(x,k)| \ dx \right)$$
$$\times \|Uf(\lambda_{s}(k), \cdot, k)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \ dk$$
$$\leq (2a+1)^{d/2} \sqrt{|B|} \pi \left( \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}; \ |s| \le r} \sup_{k \in B} \|Uf(\lambda_{s}(k), \cdot, k)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{q} \right)^{1/q_{2}}$$
$$\times \left( \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}; \ |s| \le r} \sup_{k \in B} \|\varphi(\lambda_{s}(k), \cdot)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})}^{q} \right)^{1/q_{1}}$$

we can state an alternative version of the previous theorem.

**Corollary 2.7.** Let  $p_1, p_2, q_1, q_2 \in [1, \infty]$  with  $\frac{1}{p_1} + \frac{1}{p_2} = 1$ ,  $\frac{1}{q_1} + \frac{1}{q_2} = 1$ . For all compact  $K = K_1 \times K_2 \subseteq \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^d$  there exist  $C_1, C_2, C_3, C_4 \ge 0$  depending only on K and f such that for all  $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$  with support in K

$$|u^{\pm}[\varphi]| \leq C_1 \left\| \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda} \varphi \right\|_{\infty} + C_2 \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}} \|\varphi(\lambda, \cdot) d\lambda\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)}^{p_1} \right)^{1/p_1} + C_3 \sup_{\lambda \in \mathbb{R}} \|\varphi(\lambda, \cdot)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)} + C_4 \left( \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \sup_{k \in B} \|\varphi(\lambda_s(k), \cdot)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)}^{q_1} \right)^{1/q_1},$$

where one can choose as constants

$$C_{1} = (2r+1)|\mathfrak{C}|C(supp(f), K_{2}) \sup_{\lambda \in \mathfrak{C}} ||f(\lambda, \cdot)||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})}$$
$$C_{2} = \frac{1}{\epsilon} \left( \int_{K_{1}} ||f(\lambda, \cdot)||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})}^{p_{2}} d\lambda \right)^{1/p_{2}}$$
$$C_{3} = (2r+1)|\mathfrak{C}|C(supp(f), K_{2}) \operatorname{Lip}(f)_{\mathfrak{C}}$$

$$C_4 = \sqrt{|B|} \pi (2a+1)^{d/2} \left( \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}; \ |s| \le r} \sup_{k \in B} \|Uf(\lambda_s(k), \cdot, k)\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^{q_2} \right)^{1/q_2}$$

with r,  $\mathfrak{C}$  defined as in the proof of theorem 2.6.

# **2.3** The convergence of distributional solutions $u_{\delta}$ to $u^{\pm}$ as $\delta \rightarrow 0^{\pm}$ .

In this section we show the convergence of the distributional solutions  $u_{\delta} \to u^{\pm}$  as  $\delta \to 0^{\pm}$ . The main tools will be Fubini's theorem and the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem. Note that the Bloch waves  $\psi_s(\cdot, k)$  depend on k in a measurable way by one of the hypotheses made in section 1.4.

**Theorem 2.8.** For  $\delta \neq 0$ ,  $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$ ,  $supp(\varphi) \subseteq K_1 \times K_2 \subseteq \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^d$ , let

$$u_{\delta}[\varphi] = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left( \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_B \frac{\langle (Uf)(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^M)}}{\lambda_s(k) - (\lambda + i\delta)} \psi_s(x, k) \, dk \right) \, \varphi(\lambda, x) \, dx \, d\lambda.$$

*Recall that*  $u_{\delta}$  *solves* 

$$(P_{\delta}) \qquad u[(\mathcal{L} - (\lambda + i\delta))\varphi] = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(\lambda, x)\varphi(\lambda, x) \, dx \, d\lambda.$$

*Then for*  $u^{\pm}$  *from definition 2.5 we have* 

$$u_{\delta}[\varphi] \xrightarrow{\delta \to 0^{\pm}} u^{\pm}[\varphi]$$

and  $u^{\pm}$  solves  $(P_0)$ .

Before we come to the proof of theorem 2.8, we show three lemmas.

For better readability we omit the arguments of Uf,  $\psi_s$ , f and  $\varphi$  and subscripts that indicate inner products in the proofs. Note that  $\langle Uf, \psi_s \rangle$  always means  $\langle Uf(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^M)}$ and thus depends on  $\lambda$  and k throughout the rest of this chapter. **Lemma 2.9.** Let  $\lambda$  be fixed and  $\rho : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$  be a continuous function such that there exists  $a \ c > 0$  with  $|\rho(\lambda_s(k))| \le c$  for all  $s \in \mathcal{J}$  and  $k \in B$  and let  $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$  with support contained in some compact set  $K_1 \times K_2$ . Then

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_B \rho(\lambda_s(k)) \varphi(\lambda, x) \psi_s(x, k) \langle Uf(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^M)} \, dk \, dx$$
$$= \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_B \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \rho(\lambda_s(k)) \varphi(\lambda, x) \psi_s(x, k) \langle Uf(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^M)} \, dx \, dk.$$

*Proof.* Because of the boundedness of  $\rho(\lambda_s(k))$  and the isometry property of the Floquet-Bloch transform U, the series

$$\sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_{B} \rho(\lambda_{s}(k)) \varphi(\lambda, \cdot) \psi_{s}(\cdot, k) \langle Uf, \psi_{s} \rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega)} dk$$

converges in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Hence by the continuity of the inner product in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  we have

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_B \rho(\lambda_s(k)) \varphi(\lambda, x) \psi_s(x, k) \langle Uf, \psi_s \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)} \, dk \, dx \\ &= \left\langle \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_B \rho(\lambda_s(k)) \psi_s(\cdot, k) \langle Uf, \psi_s \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)} \, dk, \overline{\varphi(\lambda, \cdot)} \right\rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)} \\ &= \left. \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \left\langle \int_B \rho(\lambda_s(k)) \psi_s(\cdot, k) \langle Uf, \psi_s \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)} \, dk, \overline{\varphi(\lambda, \cdot)} \right\rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)} \\ &= \left. \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_B \rho(\lambda_s(k)) \psi_s(x, k) \langle Uf, \psi_s \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)} \varphi(\lambda, x) \, dk \, dx. \end{split}$$

It remains to swap  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^d}$  and  $\int_B$  for *s* fixed. Let  $a \in \mathbb{N}$  be as in proof of theorem 2.6. Then we begin to split up the integral over  $\mathbb{R}^d$  into integrals over translates of  $\Omega$ , estimate  $|\varphi|$  by its supremum, use that  $|\rho(\lambda_s(k))| \leq c$  and count the summands of the sum over *n*:

$$\int_{B} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |\rho(\lambda_{s}(k))\varphi\psi_{s}\langle Uf,\psi_{s}\rangle| \ dk \ dx$$
  
= 
$$\int_{B} \sum_{|n|\leq a} \int_{\Omega+n} |\rho(\lambda_{s}(k))||\varphi||\psi_{s}||\langle Uf,\psi_{s}\rangle| \ dk \ dx$$
  
$$\leq (2a+1)^{d} \|\varphi\|_{\infty} c \int_{B} |\langle Uf,\psi_{s}\rangle| \int_{\Omega} 1 \cdot |\psi_{s}| \ dk \ dx.$$

Next we use Cauchy-Schwarz inequality repeatedly to obtain:

$$\int_{B} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |\rho(\lambda_{s}(k))\varphi\psi_{s}\langle Uf,\psi_{s}\rangle| \ dk \ dx$$

$$\leq (2a+1)^{d} \|\varphi\|_{\infty} c \int_{B} |\langle Uf,\psi_{s}\rangle|\sqrt{|\Omega|} \underbrace{\|\psi_{s}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}}_{=1} \ dk$$

$$\leq (2a+1)^{d} \|\varphi\|_{\infty} c \int_{B} \|Uf\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \sqrt{|\Omega|} \ dk$$

$$\leq (2a+1)^{d} \|\varphi\|_{\infty} c \|Uf\|_{L^{2}(\Omega\times B)} \sqrt{|B|} \sqrt{|\Omega|}$$

$$= (2a+1)^{d} \|\varphi\|_{\infty} c \|f\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \sqrt{|B|} \sqrt{|\Omega|} < \infty.$$

The lemma follows now from Fubini's theorem.

**Lemma 2.10.** Let  $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$  with support contained in some compact set  $K_1 \times K_2$  and  $\rho : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$  be a continuous function such that there exists a c > 0 with  $|\rho(\lambda_s(k), \lambda)| \leq c$  for all  $s \in \mathcal{J}$ ,  $k \in B$  and  $\lambda \in K_1$ . Then

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \rho(\lambda_{s}(k), \lambda) \varphi(\lambda, x) \psi_{s}(x, k) \langle Uf(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_{s}(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^{M})} \, dx \right| \, dk \, d\lambda < \infty,$$

and so by Fubini's theorem one can change the order of  $\int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{B} \sum_{s} arbitrarily$  while keeping the integral over  $\mathbb{R}^{d}$  in the innermost position.

*Proof.* First we use lemma 2.2,  $|\rho(\lambda_s(k), \lambda)| \leq c$  and apply Cauchy-Schwarz inequality on the sum over s:

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \rho(\lambda_{s}(k), \lambda) \varphi \psi_{s} \langle Uf, \psi_{s} \rangle \ dx \right| \ dk \ d\lambda \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \left| \rho(\lambda_{s}(k), \lambda) \right| \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \varphi \psi_{s} \langle Uf, \psi_{s} \rangle \ dx \right| \ dk \ d\lambda \\ &= \sqrt{|B|} \int_{K_{1}} \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \left| \rho(\lambda_{s}(k), \lambda) \right| \left| \overline{\langle U\overline{\varphi}, \psi_{s} \rangle} \right| \left| \langle Uf, \psi_{s} \rangle \right| \ dk \ d\lambda \\ &\leq \sqrt{|B|} c \int_{K_{1}} \int_{B} \left( \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \left| \overline{\langle U\overline{\varphi}, \psi_{s} \rangle} \right|^{2} \right)^{1/2} \left( \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \left| \langle Uf, \psi_{s} \rangle \right|^{2} \right)^{1/2} \ dk \ d\lambda. \end{split}$$

Then we use Parseval's identity and afterwards the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality on the integral over *B*:

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \rho(\lambda_{s}(k), \lambda) \varphi \psi_{s} \langle Uf, \psi_{s} \rangle \, dx \right| \, dk \, d\lambda \\ &\leq \sqrt{|B|} c \int_{K_{1}} \int_{B} \|U\overline{\varphi}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \, \|Uf\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \, dk \, d\lambda \\ &\leq \sqrt{|B|} c \int_{K_{1}} \left( \int_{B} \|U\overline{\varphi}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \, dk \right)^{1/2} \left( \int_{B} \|Uf\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \, dk \right)^{1/2} d\lambda \\ &\leq \sqrt{|B|} \sqrt{|K_{2}|} \, \|\varphi\|_{\infty} \, c \int_{K_{1}} \|f\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \, d\lambda < \infty. \end{split}$$

In the last step we used that U is an isometry and estimated the  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ -norm of  $\varphi$  by  $\sqrt{|K_2|} \|\varphi\|_{\infty}$ . Since  $\|f(\lambda, \cdot)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)}$  is locally Lipschitz in  $\lambda$ , the result is  $< \infty$ .  $\Box$ 

**Lemma 2.11.** Let  $\epsilon > \delta_0 > 0$ ,  $s \in \mathcal{J}$  and  $k \in B$ . Then for all  $0 < \delta < \delta_0$ 

$$\left| \int_{\lambda_s(k)-\epsilon}^{\lambda_s(k)+\epsilon} \frac{1}{\lambda_s(k)-\lambda-i\delta} \, d\lambda \right| \le \frac{\pi\epsilon}{\epsilon-\delta_0} + 2\pi.$$

Proof. We use the Cauchy integral formula

$$h(p) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\Gamma} \frac{h(z)}{z - p} dz$$

with h(z) = 1,  $p = \lambda_s(k) - i\delta$  and  $\Gamma$  being the path from  $\lambda_s(k) + \epsilon$  to  $\lambda_s(k) - \epsilon$  along the real line and then from  $\lambda_s(k) - \epsilon$  back to  $\lambda_s(k) + \epsilon$  in a half-circle in the lower complex half-plane with radius  $\epsilon$ . Since  $0 < \delta < \epsilon$ , this path encloses  $\lambda_s(k) - i\delta$ . So

$$\begin{vmatrix} \int_{\lambda_s(k)-\epsilon}^{\lambda_s(k)+\epsilon} \frac{1}{\lambda_s(k) - \lambda - i\delta} \, d\lambda \end{vmatrix} = \begin{vmatrix} -\int_{\pi}^{2\pi} \frac{i\epsilon e^{i\theta}}{\epsilon e^{i\theta} + i\delta} \, d\theta - 2\pi i \end{vmatrix}$$
$$\leq \int_{\pi}^{2\pi} \frac{\epsilon}{|\epsilon e^{i\theta} + i\delta|} \, d\theta + 2\pi$$
$$= \int_{\pi}^{2\pi} \frac{\epsilon}{\sqrt{\epsilon^2 + \delta^2 + 2\delta\epsilon \sin\theta}} \, d\theta + 2\pi$$
$$\leq \int_{\pi}^{2\pi} \frac{\epsilon}{\sqrt{\epsilon^2 + \delta^2 + 2\delta\epsilon(-1)}} \, d\theta + 2\pi$$
$$= \int_{\pi}^{2\pi} \frac{\epsilon}{|\epsilon - \delta|} \, d\theta + 2\pi$$

$$= \frac{\epsilon\pi}{\epsilon - \delta} + 2\pi$$
  
$$\leq \frac{\epsilon\pi}{\epsilon - \delta_0} + 2\pi.$$

Proof of theorem 2.8. Recall that for  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}, \delta \neq 0$  we have  $\lambda + i\delta \notin \sigma(\mathcal{L})$ . Since  $\sigma(\mathcal{L}) = \bigcup_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \lambda_s(B)$ , we conclude that for all  $s \in \mathcal{J}, k \in B$ :  $|\lambda_s(k) - \lambda - i\delta|^{-1} \leq |\delta|^{-1}$  holds. Let  $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$  with support contained in some compact  $K_1 \times K_2$ . For the continuous function  $\rho(r, s) = (r - s - i\delta)^{-1}$  we have that  $|\rho(\lambda_s(k), \lambda)| \leq |\delta|^{-1}$  for all  $\lambda \in K_1, s \in \mathcal{J}$  and  $k \in B$ . From lemma 2.9 and 2.10 follows that

$$\sqrt{|B|}u_{\delta}[\varphi] = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \sum_{s} \int_{B} \frac{\varphi \psi_{s} \langle Uf, \psi_{s} \rangle}{\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda - i\delta} \, dk \, dx \, d\lambda$$

$$= \int_{B} \sum_{s} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \frac{\varphi \psi_{s} \langle Uf, \psi_{s} \rangle}{\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda - i\delta} \, dx \, d\lambda \, dk.$$
(2.14)

We claim that for any fixed  $\varphi\in C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{C}^M)$ 

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0^{\pm}} u_{\delta}[\varphi] = u^{\pm}[\varphi]$$

holds. For this it is sufficient to show

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0^{\pm}} \int_{B} \sum_{s} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \frac{\varphi \psi_{s} \langle Uf, \psi_{s} \rangle}{\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda - i\delta} \, dx \, d\lambda \, dk$$
$$= \int_{B} \sum_{s} \lim_{\delta \to 0^{\pm}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \frac{\varphi \psi_{s} \langle Uf, \psi_{s} \rangle}{\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda - i\delta} \, dx \, d\lambda \, dk, \tag{2.15}$$

the claim follows then from lemma 2.4 and theorem 5.6. Let  $K_1 \times K_2 \subseteq \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^d$  be compact and contain the support of  $\varphi$ . There exists a  $l \in \mathbb{N}$  and an  $\zeta > 0$  such that for all  $k \in B$  and all  $s \in \mathcal{J}$ ,  $|s| \ge l + 1$  (recall property (4) in section 1.4)

$$\max\{|\lambda|: \lambda \in K_1\} + \zeta < |\lambda_s(k)|.$$
(2.16)

Thus we can split the sum over s in (2.15) in the following way

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0^{\pm}} \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \cdots$$

$$= \lim_{\delta \to 0^{\pm}} \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}, \ |s| \leq l} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \cdots + \lim_{\delta \to 0^{\pm}} \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}, \ |s| \geq l+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \cdots$$
$$= \underbrace{\sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}, \ |s| \leq l} \lim_{\delta \to 0^{\pm}} \int_{B} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \cdots + \lim_{\delta \to 0^{\pm}} \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}, \ |s| \geq l+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \cdots}_{=(B)}}_{=(B)}$$

and treat (A) and (B) separately.

ad (A): We want to show

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0^{\pm}} \int_{B} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \frac{\varphi \psi_{s} \langle Uf, \psi_{s} \rangle}{\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda - i\delta} = \int_{B} \lim_{\delta \to 0^{\pm}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \frac{\varphi \psi_{s} \langle Uf, \psi_{s} \rangle}{\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda - i\delta}.$$
 (2.17)

Take  $\Phi_{s,k}$  from definition 2.3 and define temporarily (we will overwrite the definition of  $g_{\delta}$  in the next step of the proof)

$$g_{\delta}(k) := \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda)}{\lambda_s(k) - \lambda - i\delta} \, d\lambda.$$
(2.18)

Then we can write

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0^{\pm}} \int_{B} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \frac{\varphi \psi_{s} \langle Uf, \psi_{s} \rangle}{\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda - i\delta} = \lim_{\delta \to 0^{\pm}} \int_{B} g_{\delta}(k) \ dk.$$

Consider the case  $\delta \to 0^+$ . The case  $\delta \to 0^-$  is proved the same way changing some signs. We want to use Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem. By Theorem 5.6  $g_{\delta}$  converges a.e. in k to the function

$$g(k) := \mathcal{P}\!\!\int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda)}{\lambda_s(k) - \lambda} \, d\lambda + i\pi \Phi_{s,k}(\lambda_s(k)).$$

Now we seek an integrable bound for  $|g_{\delta}|$ . Let  $\mathfrak{C}$  be as in the proof of theorem 2.6 and choose an  $\epsilon > 0$ . First note that in the latest definition of  $g_{\delta}$  (see (2.18))  $\mathbb{R}$  can be replaced by  $K_1$ . We insert a zero in the form  $\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda_s(k)) - \Phi_{s,k}(\lambda_s(k))$  in the numerator of the integrand and use the triangle inequality:

$$\begin{aligned} |g_{\delta}(k)| &= \left| \int_{K_{1}} \frac{\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda)}{\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda - i\delta} \, d\lambda \right| \\ &\leq \left| \int_{K_{1}} \frac{\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda_{s}(k))}{\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda - i\delta} \, d\lambda \right| + \left| \int_{K_{1}} \frac{\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda) - \Phi_{s,k}(\lambda_{s}(k))}{\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda - i\delta} \, d\lambda \right| \end{aligned}$$
Then we split the first integral into a part away from the point  $\lambda_s(k)$  and a part close to this point

$$\begin{aligned} |g_{\delta}(k)| &\leq |\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda_{s}(k))| \int_{K_{1} \setminus (\lambda_{s}(k) - \epsilon, \lambda_{s}(k) + \epsilon)} \frac{1}{\sqrt{(\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda)^{2} + \delta^{2}}} d\lambda \\ &+ |\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda_{s}(k))| \left| \int_{\lambda_{s}(k) - \epsilon}^{\lambda_{s}(k) + \epsilon} \frac{1}{\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda - i\delta} d\lambda \right| \\ &+ \int_{K_{1}} \frac{|\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda) - \Phi_{s,k}(\lambda_{s}(k))|}{\sqrt{(\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda)^{2} + \delta^{2}}} d\lambda. \end{aligned}$$

To estimate the first integral in this sum of three integrals, we use that the denominator is greater than  $\epsilon$  and carry out the integral  $d\lambda$ . For the second integral we use lemma 2.11 and to estimate the third integral we use the Lipschitz property of  $\Phi_{s,k}$  given in lemma 2.4. The constant  $C(\mathfrak{C})$  there is independent of k. By now we have with some  $\delta_0$  as in lemma 2.11:

$$\begin{aligned} |g_{\delta}(k)| &\leq |K_{1}|\frac{1}{\epsilon}|\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda_{s}(k))| + |\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda_{s}(k))| \left(\frac{\pi\epsilon}{\epsilon - \delta_{0}} + 2\pi\right) \\ &+ \int_{K_{1}} \frac{C(\mathfrak{C})|\lambda - \lambda_{s}(k)|}{|\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda|} d\lambda. \end{aligned}$$

We use that  $\Phi_{s,k}$  is locally bounded to obtain

$$|g_{\delta}(k)| \leq C(K_1, \mathfrak{C}, \epsilon),$$

where  $C(K_1, \mathfrak{C}, \epsilon)$  does not depend on k and  $\delta \leq \delta_0$ . By Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem we can pull the limit inside the integral and get (2.17).

ad (B): In this part we want to show

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0^{\pm}} \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}, \ |s| \ge l+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \frac{\varphi \psi_{s} \langle Uf, \psi_{s} \rangle}{\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda - i\delta} = \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}, \ |s| \ge l+1} \lim_{\delta \to 0^{\pm}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \frac{\varphi \psi_{s} \langle Uf, \psi_{s} \rangle}{\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda - i\delta}$$

Define (for the second equality see lemma 2.2)

$$g_{\delta}(s,k) := \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{\varphi \psi_s \langle Uf, \psi_s \rangle}{\lambda_s(k) - \lambda - i\delta} = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{\overline{\langle U\overline{\varphi}, \psi_s \rangle} \langle Uf, \psi_s \rangle}{\lambda_s(k) - \lambda - i\delta} d\lambda$$

 $g_{\delta}$  converges pointwise a.e. as  $\delta \rightarrow 0^+$  to the function

$$g(s,k) := \mathcal{P}\!\!\int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda)}{\lambda_s(k) - \lambda} \, d\lambda + i\pi \Phi_{s,k}(\lambda_s(k)).$$

Again we are looking for an integrable bound for  $|g_{\delta}|$  to apply the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem. We start the estimation with the triangle inequality and estimate the denominator by  $\zeta$  from (2.16)

$$\begin{aligned} |g_{\delta}(s,k)| &= \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{\overline{\langle U\overline{\varphi},\psi_s \rangle} \langle Uf,\psi_s \rangle}{\lambda_s(k) - \lambda - i\delta} \, d\lambda \right| \\ &\leq \int_{K_1} \frac{|\langle U\overline{\varphi},\psi_s \rangle|| \langle Uf,\psi_s \rangle|}{|\lambda_s(k) - \lambda - i\delta|} \, d\lambda \\ &\leq \frac{1}{\zeta} \int_{K_1} |\langle U\overline{\varphi},\psi_s \rangle|| \langle Uf,\psi_s \rangle| \, d\lambda. \end{aligned}$$

The last expression is integrable as a function of s and k with respect to the measure  $dk \otimes d\mathcal{H}^0(s)$  ( $d\mathcal{H}^0$  denoting the counting measure), which can be seen from the following calculation:

$$\begin{split} & \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \frac{1}{\zeta} \int_{K_{1}} |\langle U\overline{\varphi}, \psi_{s} \rangle| |\langle Uf, \psi_{s} \rangle| \ d\lambda \ dk \\ ^{\text{lemma 2.10}} & = \frac{1}{\zeta} \int_{K_{1}} \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} |\langle U\overline{\varphi}, \psi_{s} \rangle| |\langle Uf, \psi_{s} \rangle| \ dk \ d\lambda \\ & \leq \frac{1}{\zeta} \int_{K_{1}} \int_{B} \left( \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} |\langle U\overline{\varphi}, \psi_{s} \rangle|^{2} \right)^{1/2} \left( \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} |\langle Uf, \psi_{s} \rangle|^{2} \right)^{1/2} \ dk \ d\lambda \\ & = \frac{1}{\zeta} \int_{K_{1}} \int_{B} ||U\overline{\varphi}||_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \ ||Uf||_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \ dk \ d\lambda \\ & \leq \frac{1}{\zeta} \int_{K_{1}} ||U\overline{\varphi}||_{L^{2}(\Omega \times B)} \ ||Uf||_{L^{2}(\Omega \times B)} \ d\lambda \\ & = \frac{1}{\zeta} \int_{K_{1}} ||\varphi(\lambda, \cdot)||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \ ||f(\lambda, \cdot)||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \ d\lambda < \infty, \end{split}$$

since  $\|f(\lambda, \cdot)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)}$  and  $\|\varphi(\lambda, \cdot)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)}$  are bounded in  $\lambda$ . By Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem we get

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0^+} \int_B \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}; \ |s| \ge l+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{\varphi \psi_s \langle Uf, \psi_s \rangle}{\lambda_s(k) - \lambda - i\delta} = \int_B \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}; \ |s| \ge l+1} \lim_{\delta \to 0^+} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{\varphi \psi_s \langle Uf, \psi_s \rangle}{\lambda_s(k) - \lambda - i\delta}$$

Altogether we obtain

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_B \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \cdots = (A) + (B)$$

$$= \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}; \ |s| \le l} \lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \dots + \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}; \ |s| \ge l+1} \lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \dots$$
$$= \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \dots,$$

which is (2.15). The solution property of  $u^{\pm}$  follows easily from this convergence result, since  $\mathcal{L}\varphi$  is also a test function like  $\varphi$  by hypothesis (1) made in section 1.4 and so

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(\lambda, x) \varphi(\lambda, x) \, dx \, d\lambda = u_{\delta}[(\mathcal{L} - \lambda)\varphi] - i\delta u_{\delta}[\varphi] \to u^{\pm}[(\mathcal{L} - \lambda)\varphi]$$

$$D^{\pm}.$$

as  $\delta \to 0^{\pm}$ .

**Remark 2.12.** Using the lemmas 2.9 and 2.10 we interchange step by step the order of the integrations in

$$u_{\delta}[\varphi] = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left( \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_B \frac{\langle (Uf)(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)}}{\lambda_s(k) - (\lambda + i\delta)} \psi_s(x, k) \, dk \right) \, \varphi(\lambda, x) \, dx \, d\lambda,$$

(see (2.14)) such that we can pull inside the limit  $\delta \to 0^{\pm}$ . Trying to take a short cut using Fubini's theorem directly on all three integrations and the summation fails. The problem is to show

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_B \left| \frac{\langle (Uf)(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)}}{\lambda_s(k) - (\lambda + i\delta)} \psi_s(x, k) \varphi(\lambda, x) \right| \, dk \, dx \, d\lambda < \infty$$

without further additional assumptions.

Making further assumptions on the growth rate of  $|\lambda_s|$  as  $|s| \to \infty$  makes this short cut possible. Then we can proceed as follows. Since the support of  $\varphi$  is contained in  $K_1 \times K_2$  and we can find an  $a \in \mathbb{N}$  such that

$$K_2 \subset \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{Z}^d; \ |n| \le a} \Omega + n.$$

We begin with

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_B \left| \frac{\langle (Uf)(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)}}{\lambda_s(k) - (\lambda + i\delta)} \psi_s(x, k) \varphi(\lambda, x) \right| \, dk \, dx \, d\lambda \\ &= \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}^d; \ |n| \le a} \int_{\Omega+n} \int_{K_1} \sum_s \int_B \left| \frac{\langle (Uf)(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)}}{\lambda_s(k) - (\lambda + i\delta)} \psi_s(x, k) \varphi(\lambda, x) \right| \, dk \, dx \, d\lambda \end{split}$$

$$\leq \|\varphi\|_{\infty} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}^d; \ |n| \leq a} \int_{\Omega} \int_{K_1} \sum_{s} \int_{B} \left| \frac{\langle (Uf)(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)}}{\lambda_s(k) - (\lambda + i\delta)} \psi_s(x, k) \right| \ dk \ dx \ d\lambda.$$

Here we used the k-quasiperiodicity of  $\psi_s(\cdot, k)$  and estimated  $|\varphi(\lambda, x)|$  by its supremum. Next we can get rid of the integral over  $\Omega$  and count the summands in the sum over n. Interchanging the order of the summation over s and the integration over B is justified by the final outcome of the estimation. Thus an upper bound on the last expression is given by

$$(2a+1)^d \sqrt{|\Omega|} \|\varphi\|_{\infty} \int_{K_1} \int_B \sum_s \frac{|\langle (Uf)(\lambda,\cdot,k), \psi_s(\cdot,k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)}|}{|\lambda_s(k) - (\lambda + i\delta)|} \, dk \, d\lambda.$$

Now we use Cauchy-Schwarz inequality on the sum over s.

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_B \left| \frac{\langle (Uf)(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)}}{\lambda_s(k) - (\lambda + i\delta)} \psi_s(x, k) \varphi(\lambda, x) \right| \, dk \, dx \, d\lambda \\ &\leq (2a+1)^d \sqrt{|\Omega|} \, \|\varphi\|_{\infty} \int_{K_1} \int_B \sqrt{\sum_s |\langle (Uf)(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle|^2} \\ &\quad \times \sqrt{\sum_s \frac{1}{|\lambda_s(k) - (\lambda + i\delta)|^2}} \, dk \, d\lambda \\ &= (2a+1)^d \sqrt{|\Omega|} \, \|\varphi\|_{\infty} \int_{K_1} \int_B \|Uf(\lambda, \cdot, k)\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \sqrt{\sum_s \frac{1}{|\lambda_s(k) - (\lambda + i\delta)|^2}} \, dk \, d\lambda \end{split}$$

where we used Parseval's identity. Cauchy-Schwarz inequality applied to the integral over B and the isometry property of U yield:

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_B \left| \frac{\langle (Uf)(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)}}{\lambda_s(k) - (\lambda + i\delta)} \psi_s(x, k) \varphi(\lambda, x) \right| \, dk \, dx \, d\lambda \\ &\leq \left( 2a + 1 \right)^d \sqrt{|\Omega|} \, \|\varphi\|_{\infty} \int_{K_1} \sqrt{\int_B \|Uf(\lambda, \cdot, k)\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2} \, dk \\ & \quad \times \sqrt{\int_B \sum_s \frac{1}{|\lambda_s(k) - (\lambda + i\delta)|^2} \, dk} \, d\lambda \\ &= \left( 2a + 1 \right)^d \sqrt{|\Omega|} \, \|\varphi\|_{\infty} \int_{K_1} \|f(\lambda, \cdot)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)} \sqrt{\int_B \sum_s \frac{1}{|\lambda_s(k) - (\lambda + i\delta)|^2} \, dk} \, d\lambda. \end{split}$$

Now we see that with a sufficient growth rate of  $|\lambda_s|$  as  $|s| \to \infty$  uniformly in k the series over s converges and one can carry out the integral over B. For partial differential operators, such sufficient growth conditions become hard to satisfy for high space dimensions. For example,

if  $\mathcal{L} = -\Delta$  on  $[0, 1]^d$  then  $\lambda_s \sim s^{2/d}$  (see [32], where the method is explained for d = 2 and d = 3). We see that in this case the above argument would only work if  $d \leq 3$ .

**Remark 2.13.** If f is independent of  $\lambda$ , we do not need the compact support of f. The proof of lemma 2.4 is even easier, noting that the support of  $\varphi$  is still compact. In the proof of theorem 2.6 we needed the compact support of f only to get rid of the Floquet-Bloch transform U in the expression  $\|Uf(\lambda_s(k), \cdot, k)\|_{L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^M)}$  in the right hand side of the inequality (2.13). If fis independent of  $\lambda$  we can use Cauchy-Schwarz inequality on the integral over B to estimate

$$\int_{B} \left\| Uf(\cdot,k) \right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{C}^{M})} dk \leq \sqrt{|B|} \left\| f \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{M})}$$

and do not need the compact support. In the proof of theorem 2.8 we did not need the compact support of f directly, but only that the function  $\Phi_{s,k}$  was Lipschitz continuous. But this follows form lemma 2.4, which remains true if  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$  without compact support as mentioned earlier.

**Remark 2.14.** If f is Lipschitz continuous but not constant in  $\lambda$ , then the compact support of f was a sufficient condition for the right hand side of (2.13) to be  $< \infty$ . In fact we could assume for f the weaker condition

$$\int_{B} \|Uf(\lambda_{s}(k),\cdot,k)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{C}^{M})} \, dk < \infty$$

for all  $s \in \mathcal{J}$  instead of assuming that  $supp(f(\lambda, \cdot)) \subset \mathcal{K}$  for some compact  $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  for all  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ .

# **Chapter 3**

# Limiting absorption principle for regular frequencies $\lambda$

In classical physics, a physical (field) quantity Q is modeled as a function of space, time and possibly other variables (for example frequency, temperature,...), i.e. Q = Q(x, t, ...). Examples for physical quantities are the electric field, magnetic field, energy, momentum, a scalar or vector potential, the wave function. In quantum theory of fields a new perception of physical quantities came up. In this theory physical quantities are modeled by field operators, i.e. Q = Q(x, t, ...) is an operator in a Hilbert space. Moreover, it was realized, that the field operators at a fixed point x have no meaning in a proper sense. This is so, since it is impossible to measure Q at a fixed point x. Instead, on can only measure average values

$$\int Q(x)\gamma(x) \ dx$$

with  $\gamma$  being a function of a certain class (see discussion of K.O. Friedrichs in [33]). In view of this interpretation we can give the results of the previous chapter a corresponding physical meaning.

In the last chapter we have established a distributional version of the limit absorption principle for Helmholtz-like equations on the whole  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . Because  $u^{\pm}$ , which models a physical quantity, was supposed to be a distributional solution of the Helmholtz equation

$$(\mathcal{L} - \lambda)u = f$$

in the sense of definition 2.1, we were able to integrate with respect to  $\lambda$  and control the singularity by means of Cauchy principal value integrals. Doing this we had no restrictions

on the range of frequencies and only weak requirements on the right hand side f, but in exchange the distributional solution provides only coarse information of the behavior of the examined system which can be extracted by applying  $u^{\pm}$  on test functions  $\varphi = \varphi(x, \lambda)$ . This corresponds to the idea of the measurement of an average value of  $u^{\pm}$ , where the support of the test function models the area in space and in the frequency variable where the average is taken.

One can also extract qualitative information concerning the behavior of  $u^{\pm}$  in space and with respect to the frequency variable by employing families of test functions and comparing the response of  $u^{\pm}$ . For example, consider a family of test functions  $\varphi_a(\lambda, x) = \varphi(\lambda + a, x)$  where the support of  $\varphi$  is concentrated around a certain  $(\lambda_0, x_0)$ . Then the comparison of the values  $u^{\pm}[\varphi_a]$  for different *a* indicates the behavior of  $u^{\pm}$  around a point  $x_0$  as the frequency varies with *a*. If one finds that  $u^{\pm}[\varphi_a]$  has a great resonance around a certain  $a_0$ , this would indicate that the frequency  $\lambda_0 + a_0$  - or rather a frequency somewhere nearby - is a frequency with special properties for the examined system. Similarly, the comparison of the values  $u^{\pm}[\varphi_b]$ for a family  $\varphi_b(\lambda, x) = \varphi(\lambda, x + b)$  of test functions where the support of  $\varphi$  is concentrated around some  $(\lambda_0, x_0)$  gives a rough impression of the spatial behavior of the solution  $u^{\pm}$  for a fixed frequency interval with nonempty interior.

At this stage it is interesting from a mathematical point of view to ask for conditions such that the distribution  $u^{\pm}$  can be represented by a function. A representation of physical quantities as functions is also favorable from a physical viewpoint, since it would coincide more with the common classical perception of these quantities mentioned at the beginning to have at any point a well defined value as a tuple of real or complex numbers.

For example, in classical physics the values of the magnetic field generated by a radiation source is supposed to exist as a triple of complex numbers in every point in space and at any time for a fixed frequency. However, the requirement for a function to have well defined values in every point is too restrictive for mathematical treatment, so this chapter we will find a representation of the distribution  $u^{\pm}$  from the previous chapter as a function that is locally  $L^p$  with respect to the frequency variable  $\lambda$  and in a weighted  $L^2$  space with respect to the spatial variable x.

To accomplish this task, it turns out that we have to restrict the range of frequencies  $\lambda$  to *regular* frequencies. Physically, these are frequencies for which all corresponding Bloch modes with band functions intersecting  $\lambda$  have non-vanishing group velocities. In studying radiation phenomena, it is natural to consider such frequencies, since Bloch modes with zero

group velocity do not propagate in space.

As we will only - apart of section 3.2 - rely on the Lipschitz property of the band functions, we will first recall a suitable notion of regular frequencies. This requirement relates only to a certain condition on the derivatives of the band functions at the frequencies in question. In particular, it does not affect intersections of the band functions. This means that multiple eigenvalues  $\lambda_s(k)$  of  $\mathcal{L}_k$  cause no problems as long as the regularity condition is fulfilled for each of the intersecting band functions under consideration.

In one space dimension it is known that almost all frequencies  $\lambda$  are regular, since the band functions can be chosen analytically (see [34]). In higher dimensions, a sufficient condition that almost all frequencies are regular is that the band functions can be build up as restrictions from sufficiently smooth functions defined on overlapping domains.

To find a representing function for  $u^{\pm}$ , we will investigate the restriction of the inverse Floquet-Bloch transform to level sets of the band functions at regular frequencies. The restricted inverse Floquet-Bloch transform takes  $L^2$ -functions on the product of the periodicity cell and the level set to weighted  $L^2$ -functions on the whole space.

After that we study the properties of the level set integral

$$h_s(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_{\{k \in B: \lambda_s(k) = \tau\}} \frac{\langle Uf, \psi_s \rangle \psi_s(x, k)}{|\nabla \lambda_s|} \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k) \quad (x \in \mathbb{R}^d).$$

which is nothing else than the inverse Floquet-Bloch transform restricted to the level set  $\{k \in B : \lambda_s(k) = \tau\}^1$  applied to the integrand. It follows that  $h_s$  lies in a weighted  $L^2$ -space on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  in the variable x. Such integrals arise, when the Corarea formula is applied on the integral over B in the Floquet-Bloch representation of the resolvent

$$(\mathcal{L}-\lambda)^{-1}f = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_B \frac{\langle Uf(\lambda,\cdot,k), \psi_s(\cdot,k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega,\mathbb{C}^M)} \psi_s(x,k)}{\lambda_s(k) - \lambda} \, dk.$$

The limiting absorption principle for  $\mathcal{L}$  in the space  $L^p(I_0, L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M; w(x)dx); d\lambda)$ , where  $I_0$  is an interval of regular frequencies,  $p \in (1, \infty)$  and w a suitable weight function, is shown by the following steps. First, the integral over B in the representation of the absorptive resolvent

$$(\mathcal{L} - \lambda - i\delta)^{-1}f = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_B \frac{\langle Uf(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^M)} \psi_s(x, k)}{\lambda_s(k) - \lambda - i\delta} \, dk$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>This restriction is understood in the same way as the restriction of the Fourier transform to submanifolds in [35].

is split into a two parts: one, where the integration over k avoids singularities in the denominator for  $\lambda \in I_0$  and a part where we possibly have  $\lambda_s(k) = \lambda \in I_0$ . The first part causes no problems when  $\delta \to 0^{\pm}$ . The second part is rewritten by the Coarea formula. For this step it is necessary that we restrict to regular frequencies. Finally we will see that the second part converges in  $L^p(I_0, L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M; w(x)dx); d\lambda)$  as  $\delta \to 0^{\pm}$  to a sum of terms of the form

$$-\pi H h_s(\lambda, x) \pm i\pi T h_s(\lambda, x),$$

where H is a variant of the Hilbert transform and T is a sort of point evaluation operator. This representation has a similar structure as the distributional solution  $u^{\pm}$ , which consists of a part involving a Cauchy principal value integral and a point evaluation part.

**Convention:** Vectors, gradients and coordinate tuples are always to be regarded as columns, though mostly written as rows to save space. So, if M is a matrix, and  $(k_1, \ldots, k_d)$  a vector, then  $M(k_1, \ldots, k_d)$  means

$$M\begin{pmatrix}k_1\\\vdots\\k_d\end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix}m_{11}&\ldots&m_{1d}\\\vdots&\ddots&\vdots\\m_{d1}&\ldots&m_{dd}\end{pmatrix}\begin{pmatrix}k_1\\\vdots\\k_d\end{pmatrix}.$$

Consequently, the transpose  $(k_1, \ldots, k_d)^t$  is a row.

Furthermore we will often skip the target space  $\mathbb{C}^M$  in the subscripts of norms and inner products.

### **3.1** The notion of regular $\lambda$ .

Usually a value  $\lambda$  of a function h is called a regular value if for any element k in the domain of h with the property  $h(k) = \lambda$  the derivative Dh(k) is not zero. Since we will only rely on the Lipschitz continuity of the band functions we recall a notion of derivative that is suited for Lipschitz functions. By Rademacher's theorem Lipschitz functions possess classical derivatives almost everywhere, but we will need a notion of derivative, that is defined everywhere on B since we will deal with level sets having d-dimensional measure zero. Based on that notion we will introduce regular frequencies, i.e. regular values of the band functions  $\lambda_s$ . For derivatives for Lipschitz functions, it will be convenient to use the concept of the generalized Jacobian (generalized gradient) from [36]. **Definition 3.1** (Generalized Jacobian). *The* generalized Jacobian of a function  $f : \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}^n$  at a point  $x \in \mathbb{R}^m$ , denoted by  $\partial f(x)$ , is the convex hull of all matrices m of the form

$$m = \lim_{i \to \infty} Df(x_i),$$

where  $x_i$  converges to x and f is differentiable at  $x_i$  for all i.  $\partial f(x)$  is said to be of maximal rank if every  $m \in \partial f(x)$  is of maximal rank. Partial generalized Jacobians

$$\partial_y f(x,y)$$

are defined in the same way.

We will also need the upper semicontinuity of the generalized gradient (see [37]).

**Theorem 3.2** (Upper<sup>2</sup> semicontinuity). If  $v_i$  and  $x_i$  are sequences tending to v and x respectively, and if  $v_i$  belongs to  $\partial f(x_i)$  for each i, then v belongs to  $\partial f(x)$ .

For Lipschitz functions an inverse mapping theorem holds, which was proved in [36].

**Theorem 3.3** (Inverse mapping theorem for Lipschitz functions). Let  $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$  be Lipschitz in a neighborhood of  $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and let  $\partial f(x_0)$  be of maximal rank. Then there exist neighborhoods U and V of  $x_0$  and  $f(x_0)$  respectively, and a Lipschitz function  $g : V \to \mathbb{R}^n$ , such that

> (a) g(f(u)) = u for every  $u \in U$ (b) f(g(v)) = v for every  $v \in V$ .

From this theorem it is easy - at least in the case of generalized *gradients*, i.e. if f is taking its values in  $\mathbb{R}$  - to show an implicit function theorem for Lipschitz functions:

**Theorem 3.4** (Implicit function theorem for Lipschitz functions). Let  $f : \mathbb{R}^m \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ be Lipschitz in a neighborhood of  $(x_0, y_0)$ ,  $f(x_0, y_0) = 0$  and let  $\partial_y f(x_0, y_0)$  be of maximal rank. Then there exist neighborhoods  $U \subseteq \mathbb{R}^m$  and  $V \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  of  $x_0$  and  $y_0$  respectively, and a Lipschitz function  $g : U \to V$  such that

$$f(x,y) = 0 \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad y = g(x), \qquad ((x,y) \in U \times V).$$

<sup>2</sup>Informally this theorem states " $\lim_{i\to\infty} \partial f(x_i) \subseteq \partial f(x)$  if  $x_i \to x, i \to \infty$ ".

We will use the implicit function theorem for Lipschitz functions to describe level sets of the band functions at regular frequencies by finitely many Lipschitz parametrizations. Now we introduce the notions of regular points and values.

**Definition 3.5** (Regular point).  $k \in B$  is called a regular point of  $\lambda_s$  if  $0 \notin \partial \lambda_s(k)$ . A point that is not regular is called singular.

**Definition 3.6** (Regular value).  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$  is called a regular value of  $\lambda_s$  if  $\lambda_s^{-1}(\{\lambda\}) = \emptyset$  or  $\lambda_s^{-1}(\{\lambda\})$  consists only of regular points of  $\lambda_s$ . The set of regular values of  $\lambda_s$  is denoted by  $\mathcal{R}_s$ . We also define  $\mathcal{R}$ , the set of regular values, by

$$\mathcal{R} = \{\lambda \in \mathbb{R} : \lambda \text{ is a regular value of } \lambda_s \text{ for all } s\}.$$

A value that is not regular is called singular.

# **3.2** A criterion on the band functions, such that almost all $\lambda$ are regular

Assumptions: In addition to the assumptions on the band functions we have made in chapter 1, suppose for this section that for each  $s \in \mathcal{J} \subseteq \mathbb{Z}$  there exists a subset  $X_s$  of B of dimension  $\leq (d-1)$  and sets  $B_{s,1}, \ldots, B_{s,N}$  (N = N(s)) which are relatively open in B such that

$$B \setminus X_s = B_{s,1} \cup \ldots \cup B_{s,N}$$

and such that  $\lambda_s$  is analytic on  $B \setminus X_s$ .<sup>3</sup> Furthermore assume that there exist  $C^{d+N-1}$ continuations of every  $\lambda_s|_{B_{s,j}}$  to some open (in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ ) sets  $A_{s,j}$  containing  $B_{s,j}$ . These extensions will be denoted by abuse of notation by  $\lambda_s|_{A_{s,j}}$ . Note that such extensions do not exist by the analyticity of the band functions on  $B_{s,j}$  and the global Lipschitz property only. For example, the function defined by  $h(x) = x^2 \sin \frac{1}{x}$  for x > 0 and h(x) = 0 for  $x \le 0$  is analytic on  $(-\infty, 0)$  and  $(0, \infty)$ , Lipschitz continuous everywhere, but there is no  $C^1$ -extension of h from  $(0, \infty)$  to x < 0.

In our situation we have the following

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The existence of such  $B_{s,j}$  and  $X_s$  (satisfying further conditions) was shown by C.H. Wilcox for Schrödinger operators with periodic coefficients in [38].

#### **Proposition 3.7.**

- (a)  $\partial \lambda_s(k) = \{\nabla \lambda_s(k)\} \text{ if } k \in B \setminus X_s$
- (b)  $\partial \lambda_s(k) = conv\{\nabla \lambda_s|_{A_{s,j_1}}(k), \dots, \nabla \lambda_s|_{A_{s,j_r}}(k)\}$  if  $k \in \partial B_{s,j_1} \cap \dots \cap \partial B_{s,j_r}$  and  $k \notin \partial B_{s,p}$  for all other p.

**Lemma 3.8.** Let  $r \ge 1$  be fixed and let  $h_i : \mathbb{R}^d \supseteq A_i \to \mathbb{R}$ ,  $i \in \{1, \ldots, r\}$ , be  $C^{d+r-1}$ -functions on open sets  $A_i$ . For any  $J = \{j_1, \ldots, j_{|J|}\} \subseteq \{1, \ldots, r\}$  such that  $\bigcap_{j \in J} A_j \neq \emptyset$  define the function

$$g_J: \left(\bigcap_{j\in J} A_j\right) \times \mathbb{R}^{|J|-1} \to \mathbb{R}$$

by

$$g_J(k,\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_{|J|-1}) := \sum_{\nu=1}^{|J|-1} \alpha_\nu h_{j_\nu}(k) + \left(1 - \sum_{\nu=1}^{|J|-1} \alpha_\nu\right) h_{j_{|J|}}(k).$$

In particular,  $g_J$  is a  $C^{d+|J|-1}$ -function. Consider the set

$$\mathfrak{A}_{J} = \left\{ \lambda \in \mathbb{R} : \exists k_{0} \in \mathbb{R}^{d} \text{ such that } h_{j}(k_{0}) = \lambda \text{ for } j \in J \\ and \ 0 \in conv\{\nabla h_{j}(k_{0}) : j \in J\} \right\}$$

and the set

$$\mathfrak{B}_{J} = \left\{ \lambda \in \mathbb{R} : \exists k_{0} \in \mathbb{R}^{d} \exists \alpha_{1}, \dots, \alpha_{|J|-1} \in [0, 1] \text{ such that } 1 - \sum_{j=1}^{|J|-1} \alpha_{j} \in [0, 1] \\ g_{J}(k_{0}, \alpha_{1}, \dots, \alpha_{|J|-1}) = \lambda \text{ and } \nabla g_{J}(k_{0}, \alpha_{1}, \dots, \alpha_{|J|-1}) = 0 \right\}$$

Then  $\mathfrak{A}_J \subseteq \mathfrak{B}_J$  and  $\mathcal{L}^1(\mathfrak{B}_J) = 0$ , where  $\mathcal{L}^1$  denotes the 1-dim Lebesgue measure.

*Proof.* Let  $J = \{j_1, \ldots, j_{|J|}\} \subseteq \{1, \ldots, r\}$  and  $\lambda \in \mathfrak{A}_J$ . So there exist  $k_0 \in \mathbb{R}^d$  and  $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_{|J|-1} \in [0, 1]$  such that  $1 - \sum_{\nu=1}^{|J|-1} \alpha_\nu \in [0, 1], h_j(k_0) = \lambda$  for all  $j \in J$  and  $0 = \sum_{\nu=1}^{|J|-1} \alpha_\nu \nabla h_{j_\nu}(k_0) + \left(1 - \sum_{\nu=1}^{|J|-1} \alpha_\nu\right) \nabla h_{j_{|J|}}(k_0)$ . For this  $k_0$  and  $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_{|J|-1}$  we have clearly

$$g_J(k_0, \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_{|J|-1}) = \sum_{\nu=1}^{|J|-1} \alpha_{\nu} h_{j_{\nu}}(k_0) + \left(1 - \sum_{\nu=1}^{|J|-1} \alpha_{\nu}\right) h_{j_{|J|}}(k_0)$$

$$= \sum_{\nu=1}^{|J|-1} \alpha_{\nu} \lambda + \left(1 - \sum_{\nu=1}^{|J|-1} \alpha_{\nu}\right) \lambda$$
$$= \lambda$$

and

$$\nabla g_J(k_0, \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_{|J|-1}) = \left(\sum_{\nu=1}^{|J|-1} \alpha_\nu \nabla h_{j_\nu}(k_0) + \left(1 - \sum_{\nu=1}^{|J|-1} \alpha_\nu\right) \nabla h_{j_{|J|}}(k_0), \\ h_{j_1}(k_0) - h_{j_{|J|}}(k_0), \dots, h_{j_{|J|-1}}(k_0) - h_{j_{|J|}}(k_0)\right) \\ = (0, 0, \dots, 0)$$

so we conclude  $\lambda \in \mathfrak{B}_J$ . Since  $\mathfrak{B}_J$  is a subset of the singular values of the  $C^{d+|J|-1}$ -function  $g_J$  we can use theorem 3.4.3 from [39] (Sard's theorem) to obtain

$$\mathcal{H}^{0+(d+|J|-1-0)/(d+|J|-1)}(\mathfrak{B}_J) = \mathcal{L}^1(\mathfrak{B}_J) = 0,$$

where  $\mathcal{H}^n$  denotes the *n*-dimensional Hausdorff measure.

**Lemma 3.9.** For band functions satisfying the assumptions from the beginning of this section, the set of singular values is a closed set of Lebesgue measure zero.

*Proof.* Let  $(\lambda^{(j)})_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$  be a sequence of singular values of  $\lambda_s$  and  $\lambda^{(j)} \xrightarrow{j \to \infty} \lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ . We want to show that the limit  $\lambda$  is a singular value of  $\lambda_s$ . Since  $\lambda^{(j)}$  is singular there exists a  $k^{(j)} \in B$  with  $\lambda_s(k^{(j)}) = \lambda^{(j)}$  and  $0 \in \partial \lambda_s(k^{(j)})$ . We can assume  $\lim_{j \to \infty} k^{(j)} = k \in B$  (note that B is compact). Since  $\lambda_s$  is continuous we have  $\lambda_s(k) = \lambda$ .

**Case 1:**  $k \in B_{s,i}$  for some  $i \in \{1, ..., N\}$ . Then we may assume  $k^{(j)} \in B_{s,i}$  and so  $\partial \lambda_s(k^{(j)}) = \nabla \lambda_s(k^{(j)}) = 0$ . Since  $\nabla \lambda_s$  is continuous on  $B_{s,i}$  we have  $0 = \lim_{j \to \infty} \nabla \lambda_s(k^{(j)}) = \nabla \lambda_s(k) \in \partial \lambda_s(k)$ , and so  $\lambda$  is a singular value of  $\lambda_s$ .

**Case 2:**  $k \in \partial B_{s,i_1} \cap \ldots \cap \partial B_{s,i_r}$  for some  $i_1, \ldots, i_r \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$ . Without loss of generality we may assume r = 2. If there exists a subsequence of  $k^{(j)}$  that lies as a whole in one of the  $B_{s,i}, i \in \{i_1, \ldots, i_r\}$  then the proof goes like in case 1 using the continuously differentiable extension of  $\lambda_s$  on  $A_{s,i}$ . Otherwise there exists a subsequence  $k^{(j)} \in \partial B_{s,i_1} \cap \partial B_{s,i_2}$ converging to k. We denote this subsequence again by  $k^{(j)}$ . Since  $k^{(j)}$  is singular there exist  $\alpha_1^{(j)}, \alpha_2^{(j)} \ge 0$ ,  $\alpha_1^{(j)} + \alpha_2^{(j)} = 1$  such that  $0 = \alpha_1^{(j)} \nabla \lambda_s |_{A_{s,i_1}} (k^{(j)}) + \alpha_2^{(j)} \nabla \lambda_s |_{A_{s,i_2}} (k^{(j)})$ . Once again we pass to a subsequence such that  $(\alpha_1^{(j)}, \alpha_2^{(j)})$  converges to some  $(\alpha_1, \alpha_2)$  with  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2 \geq 0, \ \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 = 1$ . Then for the final subsequence we obtain due to continuity  $0 = \alpha_1^{(j)} \nabla \lambda_s |_{A_{s,i_1}}(k^{(j)}) + \alpha_2^{(j)} \nabla \lambda_s |_{A_{s,i_2}}(k^{(j)}) \xrightarrow{j \to \infty} \alpha_1 \nabla \lambda_s |_{A_{s,i_1}}(k) + \alpha_2 \nabla \lambda_s |_{A_{s,i_2}}(k)$  which means  $0 \in \partial \lambda_s(k)$ . So k is singular and  $\lambda_s(k) = \lambda$  is a singular value of  $\lambda_s$ .

This means that the set of singular values of  $\lambda_s$  is closed. We apply lemma 3.8 to the collection of functions  $\lambda_s|_{A_1}, \ldots, \lambda_s|_{A_N}$ . So the set of singular values of a band function  $\lambda_s$  has Lebesgue measure zero (note proposition 3.7). Now the set of all singular values is the countable union of the sets of singular values of all band functions. So it has Lebesgue measure zero. It is closed, since for every frequency  $\lambda$  there are only finitely many band functions whose ranges contain  $\lambda$ .

**Remark 3.10.** The openness result for the set of regular values is true in general and does not need the special extension property of the band functions. This can be seen as follows. For a sequence  $\lambda^{(j)} \in \mathbb{R}$  of singular values converging to some  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$  we find a sequence of singular  $k^{(j)} \in B$ , without loss of generality converging to some  $k \in B$  with  $\lambda_s(k^{(j)}) = \lambda^{(j)}$ . By upper semicontinuity of the generalized gradient, we obtain  $0 \in \partial \lambda_s(k)$ . Since  $\lambda_s(k) = \lambda$ by continuity of  $\lambda_s$ ,  $\lambda$  is singular.

# 3.3 A theorem on the inverse Floquet-Bloch transform restricted to level sets at regular $\lambda$

Level sets of Lipschitz functions can be very irregular. In general one cannot even expect a level set of a  $C^1$ -function to be rectifiable (see [40]). In this section we investigate *regular level sets* of Lipschitz functions, i.e. level sets of regular values. It turns out, that regular level sets can be locally described as graphs of Lipschitz functions. This property will enable us to define properly a restriction of the Floquet-Bloch transform to regular level sets.

The next lemma shows that the generalized gradients  $\partial \lambda_s(k)$  are bounded away from zero, when k runs through all  $k \in B$  with the property that  $\lambda_s(k) \in I$ , and I is an interval compactly embedded in the set of regular values of  $\lambda_s$ . The lemma will be needed to verify the hypothesis for the application of the Coarea formula.

**Lemma 3.11.** Consider the band function  $\lambda_s$  and define the level set of  $\lambda_s$  at  $\lambda$  by

$$B^s_{\lambda} = \{k \in B : \lambda_s(k) = \lambda\}$$

Let  $\Lambda \subset \subset \mathcal{R}_s$ . Then

$$\inf\left\{\min_{m\in\partial\lambda_s(k)}|m|:k\in\bigcup_{\lambda\in\overline{\Lambda}}B^s_\lambda\right\}>0\qquad(*)$$

*Proof.* First notice that for any  $k \in B$ ,  $\min_{m \in \partial \lambda_s(k)} |m|$  exists, since  $\partial \lambda_s(k)$  is a nonempty compact convex subset in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  (see [36]). Now suppose that the infimum in (\*) is 0. Then there exists a sequence  $k^{(j)} \in \bigcup_{\lambda \in \overline{\Lambda}} B^s_{\lambda}$  such that  $k^{(j)} \in B^s_{\lambda^{(j)}}$  for some regular  $\lambda^{(j)} \in \overline{\Lambda}$  and  $0 < \min_{m \in \partial \lambda_s(k^{(j)})} |m| \xrightarrow{j \to \infty} 0$ . Because  $\bigcup_{\lambda \in \overline{\Lambda}} B^s_{\lambda}$  is compact we may assume  $k^{(j)} \xrightarrow{j \to \infty} \kappa \in \bigcup_{\lambda \in \overline{\Lambda}} B^s_{\lambda}$ . Hence,  $\kappa$  is a regular point.

For each j the minimum  $\min_{m \in \partial \lambda_s(k^{(j)})} |m|$  is attained in some  $m_j \in \partial \lambda_s(k^{(j)})$ . Since  $m_j \to 0$  and  $k^{(j)} \to \kappa$  we obtain  $0 \in \partial \lambda_s(\kappa)$  by upper semicontinuity of the generalized gradient (see theorem 3.2) in contradiction to the regularity of  $\kappa$ .

**Lemma 3.12.** Let  $\lambda_s : B \to \mathbb{R}$  be Lipschitz,  $\lambda$  a regular value of  $\lambda_s$  and  $k \in B^s_{\lambda}$ . If  $m_d \geq c > 0$  for some fixed c for all  $(m_1, \ldots, m_d) \in \partial \lambda_s(k)$ , then  $0 \notin \partial_{k_d} \lambda_s(k)$ . Here,  $\partial_{k_d} \lambda_s(k)$  is the partial generalized gradient with respect to the d-th component, i.e.

$$\partial_{k_d} \lambda_s(k) = \operatorname{conv} \left\{ \lim_{x_j \to k} \frac{\partial \lambda_s}{\partial k_d}(x_j) \right\}.$$

For this convex hull all sequences  $(x_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$  are taken into account that converge to k and  $\frac{\partial \lambda_s}{\partial k_d}(x_j)$  exists for all  $j \in \mathbb{N}$  (according to definition 3.1).

*Proof.* Since in the definition of the generalized gradient of a real valued function one can as well constrain the sequences  $(x_j)_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$  to lie in the complement of a fixed set with measure 0 (see [37]), we constrain the sequences  $(x_j)_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$  to the subset of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  where all partial derivatives of  $\lambda_s$  exist, i.e. to the set of all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$  such that the full gradient  $\nabla \lambda_s(x)$  exists. Suppose w.l.o.g. d = 2 and hence that for all  $m = (m_1, m_2) \in \partial \lambda_s(k), m_2 \ge c > 0$  holds. Assume  $0 \in \partial_{k_2}\lambda_s(k) = [a_2, b_2] \subset \mathbb{R}$ . Since  $a_2$  and  $b_2$  are extremal points there exist sequences  $x_j, y_j \to k$  such that

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial k_2}\lambda_s(x_j) \to a_2, \ \frac{\partial}{\partial k_2}\lambda_s(y_j) \to b_2, \ j \to \infty$$

and  $0 = \alpha a_2 + \beta b_2$  for some  $\alpha, \beta \in [0, 1]$ ,  $\alpha + \beta = 1$ . For those sequences we find subsequences, denoted again by  $x_i, y_i$  to avoid double indices, and  $a_1, b_1 \in \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial k_1} \lambda_s(x_j) \to a_1, \ \frac{\partial}{\partial k_1} \lambda_s(y_j) \to b_1, \ j \to \infty.$$

Note here that  $\frac{\partial}{\partial k_1} \lambda_s$  is bounded by the Lipschitz constant of  $\lambda_s$ . Then for the subsequences we have

$$\nabla \lambda_s(x_j) \to (a_1, a_2), \ \nabla \lambda_s(y_j) \to (b_1, b_2), \ j \to \infty.$$

So by definition 3.1,

$$\partial \lambda_s(k) \ni \alpha(a_1, a_2) + \beta(b_1, b_2) = (\alpha a_1 + \beta b_1, 0),$$

a contradiction since the 2nd component of every element in  $\partial \lambda_s(k)$  is > 0. The proof for an arbitrary  $d \ge 1$  is clear now.

**Remark 3.13.** Since the band functions are periodic with respect to B we can identify B with the torus  $\mathbb{R}^d/2\pi\mathbb{Z}^d$  and also regard the level sets  $B^s_{\tau}$  as subsets of the torus. For a matrix  $M \in \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$  we also may interpret MB as the torus  $M\mathbb{R}^d/2\pi M\mathbb{Z}^d$  We do this in order to avoid the distinction of the two cases whether k lies in the interior of B or  $k \in \partial B$ .

**Definition 3.14.** Let  $\mathfrak{M}$  be the class of all subsets  $\mathcal{M}$  of B that have Hausdorff dimension  $\mathcal{H}_{dim}(\mathcal{M}) = d - 1$  and such that there exist finitely many invertible matrices  $D_i \in \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$  together with Lipschitz parametrizations  $\phi_1, \ldots, \phi_r, \phi_i : U'_i \to U''_i$ , where  $U'_i \subset \mathbb{R}^{d-1}$ ,  $U''_i \subset \mathbb{R}$  and  $D_i(U'_i \times U''_i)$  is open in the torus  $D_iB$ , with

$$\mathcal{M} \subseteq \bigcup_i D_i (U'_i \times U''_i)$$

and such that for all  $i \in \{1, \ldots, r\}$ 

$$k_d = \phi_i(k_1 \dots, k_{d-1}) \Leftrightarrow D_i(k_1, \dots, k_d) \in \mathcal{M} \cap D_i(U'_i \times U''_i)$$

holds.

The matrix  $D_i$  describes a suitable local change of coordinates. In these new coordinates, the piece of  $\mathcal{M}$  lying in  $D_i(U'_i \times U''_i)$  is the graph of a Lipschitz function.

**Proposition 3.15.** Let  $B_{\lambda}^{s}$  be a level set of a Lipschitz function  $\lambda_{s}$  at a regular value  $\lambda \in \mathcal{R}_{s}$ . Then  $B_{\lambda}^{s} \in \mathfrak{M}$  and there exist invertible matrices  $\widetilde{D}_{i}$  with integer entries such that the matrices  $D_{i}$  from definition 3.14 can be chosen as  $D_{i} = \left(\widetilde{D}_{i}^{t}\right)^{-1}$ ,  $\widetilde{D}_{i}^{t}$  denoting the transpose of  $\widetilde{D}_{i}$ .

*Proof.* First we give some preparatory arguments, which will help us to construct the parametrizations via an implicit function theorem for a suitable function defined later in Step 3.

Step 1. Let  $k \in B_{\lambda}^{s}$ . Consider the generalized gradient  $\partial \lambda_{s}(k)$ . Since  $\lambda$  is regular,  $0 \notin \partial \lambda_{s}(k)$ . So, since  $\partial \lambda_{s}(k)$  is compact and convex, there exists a (d-1)-dimensional affine hyperplane H separating 0 and  $\partial \lambda_{s}(k)$ . After projecting 0 and  $\partial \lambda_{s}(k)$  orthogonally onto H we find a (d-1)-dimensional closed ball C in H around the orthogonal projection of 0 on H containing the projection of  $\partial \lambda_{s}(k)$ . Then we see that  $\partial \lambda_{s}(k)$  is contained in the double cone  $\mathcal{C} = \mathbb{R} \cdot \text{conv}\{0, C\}$  where the convex hull is taken in  $\mathbb{R}^{d}$ . Let  $H' = \langle h_{1}, \ldots, h_{d-1} \rangle$  be the parallel hyperplane to H through 0. Since the lattice directions of the lattice  $\mathbb{Z}^{d}$  are dense in the (d-1)-dim sphere  $S^{d-1}$ , we can perturb the  $h_{i}$  to  $\tilde{h}_{i} \in \mathbb{Z}^{d}$  such that for the hyperplane  $\tilde{H}$  spanned by  $\tilde{h}_{i}$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, d-1$ ,  $\langle \tilde{h}_{1}, \ldots, \tilde{h}_{d-1} \rangle \cap \mathcal{C} = 0$  still holds and  $\{\tilde{h}_{1}, \ldots, \tilde{h}_{d-1}\}$  is linearly independent. Now we can choose a  $\tilde{h}_{d} \in (\mathbb{R}_{>0} \cdot \text{conv}\{\{0\} \cup C\}) \cap \mathbb{Z}^{d}$  such that  $\{\tilde{h}_{1}, \ldots, \tilde{h}_{d}\}$  is a basis of  $\mathbb{R}^{d}$ . Let  $\tilde{D}$  be the matrix whose columns are the  $\tilde{h}_{i}$ . Then, if  $x = \mu_{1}e_{1} + \ldots + \mu_{d}e_{d} = \tilde{m}_{1}\tilde{h}_{1} + \ldots + \tilde{m}_{d}\tilde{h}_{d}$ , where  $\{e_{1}, \ldots, e_{d}\}$  is the standard basis of  $\mathbb{R}^{d}$ , we have the following relation between the coordinate tuples in the two bases

$$(\mu_1,\ldots,\mu_d)=\widetilde{D}(\widetilde{m}_1,\ldots,\widetilde{m}_d).$$

Furthermore, from the construction of the basis  $\{\tilde{h}_1, \ldots, \tilde{h}_d\}$ , it follows that  $\tilde{m}_d \ge c > 0$  for some c if  $(\tilde{m}_1, \ldots, \tilde{m}_d) = \tilde{D}^{-1}(\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_d)$  and  $(\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_d) \in \partial \lambda_s(k)$ . Define

$$D := \left( \widetilde{D}^t \right)^{-1}$$

**Step 2.** Observe that  $k \in B_{\lambda}^{s} \Leftrightarrow \lambda_{s}(k) = \lambda \Leftrightarrow \lambda_{s}(DD^{-1}k) = \lambda \Leftrightarrow \widetilde{\lambda}_{s}(D^{-1}k) = \lambda$  where  $\widetilde{\lambda}_{s} := \lambda_{s} \circ D$ . From the definition of the generalized gradient it follows that

$$\partial \lambda_s(D^{-1}k) = D^t \partial \lambda_s(k).$$

Let  $m = (m_1, \ldots, m_d) \in \partial \lambda_s(D^{-1}k)$ . Then  $m = D^t \mu = \tilde{D}^{-1}\mu$  for some  $\mu \in \partial \lambda_s(k)$ . From step 1. follows that there exists a c such that for all  $m = (m_1, \ldots, m_d) \in \partial \lambda_s(D^{-1}k)$  the d-th component satisfies  $m_d \ge c > 0$ . So by lemma 3.12,  $0 \notin \partial_{k_d} \lambda_s(D^{-1}k)$ .

Step 3. Since  $\lambda \in \mathcal{R}_s$  and  $\mathcal{R}_s$  is open, there exists an interval  $I \subset \mathcal{R}_s$  with  $\lambda \in I$  and  $\overline{I} \subset \mathcal{R}_s$ . Let  $(\tau_0, k_0) = (\tau_0, k_{0,1}, \dots, k_{0,d}) \in \overline{I} \times \lambda_s^{-1}(\overline{I})$  be fixed. Define  $\widetilde{F}(\tau, k) := \widetilde{\lambda}_s(k) - \tau$  on  $\mathbb{R} \times D^{-1}B$ . Then

$$\widetilde{F}(\tau,k) = 0 \Leftrightarrow \widetilde{\lambda}_s(k) = \tau \Leftrightarrow \lambda_s(Dk) = \tau \Leftrightarrow k \in D^{-1}B^s_\tau.$$

Thus  $\widetilde{F}(\tau_0, D^{-1}k_0) = 0$ . Since  $\tau_0$  is regular, we have  $0 \notin D^t \partial \lambda_s(k_0) = \partial \widetilde{\lambda}_s(D^{-1}k_0)$  and, by step 2 and lemma 3.12, for the generalized partial gradient of  $\widetilde{\lambda}_s$  with respect to the *d*th component  $0 \notin \partial_{k_d} \widetilde{\lambda}_s(D^{-1}k_0) = \partial_{k_d} \widetilde{F}(\tau_0, D^{-1}k_0)$  holds. Let  $\Pi_{1,\dots,d-1} : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^{d-1}$ ,  $\Pi_{1,\dots,d-1}(k_1,\dots,k_{d-1},k_d) = (k_1,\dots,k_{d-1})$  the projection on the first d-1 components. By the implicit function theorem for Lipschitz functions 3.4 there exist neighborhoods  $U \times U' \subset \mathbb{R} \times \Pi_{1,\dots,d-1}(D^{-1}B)$  and  $U'' \subset \mathbb{R}$  of  $(\tau_0, (D^{-1}k_0)_1,\dots,(D^{-1}k_0)_{d-1})$  and  $(D^{-1}k_0)_d$ respectively, where  $(D^{-1}k_0)_i$  is the *i*-th component of the vector  $D^{-1}k_0$ ,  $U' \times U''$  open in  $D^{-1}B$ , and a Lipschitz function  $\phi_{(\tau_0,k_0)} : U \times U' \to U''$  such that

$$\widetilde{F}(\tau, k) = 0 \quad (\tau, k_1, \dots, k_d) \in (U \times U') \times U''$$
$$\Leftrightarrow k_d = \phi_{(\tau_0, k_0)}(\tau, k_1, \dots, k_{d-1}) \quad (\tau, k_1, \dots, k_{d-1}) \in U \times U'$$

Furthermore, for all  $(\tau, k_1, \ldots, k_{d-1}) \in U \times U'$  we have

$$D(k_1, \ldots, k_{d-1}, \phi_{(\tau_0, k_0)}(\tau, k_1, \ldots, k_{d-1})) \in B^s_{\tau}$$

Since  $\overline{I} \times \lambda_s^{-1}(\overline{I})$  is compact, only finitely many invertible matrices  $D_i$  together with Lipschitz parametrizations  $\phi_1, \ldots, \phi_r$ , with  $\phi_i : U_i \times U'_i \to U''_i$  where  $U_i \times U'_i \subset \mathbb{R} \times D_i^{-1}B$  is a neighborhood of  $(\tau_i, (D^{-1}k_i)_1, \ldots, (D^{-1}k_i)_{d-1}), U''_i \subset \mathbb{R}$  a neighborhood of  $(D^{-1}k_i)_d$  for some  $(\tau_i, k_i) \in \overline{I} \times \lambda_s^{-1}(\overline{I})$  such that  $U'_i \times U''_i$  is open in  $D_i^{-1}B$  are needed to have

$$\overline{I} \times \lambda_s^{-1}(\overline{I}) \subseteq \bigcup_{i=1}^r U_i \times D_i(U'_i \times U''_i).$$

Now  $B_{\lambda}^{s} \subseteq \bigcup_{i} D_{i}(U_{i}' \times U_{i}'')$  and for all  $i \in \{1, \ldots, r\}$ 

$$k_d = \phi_i(\lambda, k_1, \dots, k_{d-1}) \Leftrightarrow D_i(k_1, \dots, k_d) \in B^s_\lambda \cap D_i(U'_i \times U''_i).$$

In the following text we will skip the  $\lambda$ -argument in the parametrization  $\phi_i$ .

**Definition 3.16.** Let  $\mathcal{M}$  be a regular level set of  $\lambda_s$ . Define

$$U_{\mathcal{M}}^{-1}h = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_{\mathcal{M}} h(\cdot, k) \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k) \tag{3.1}$$

for  $h \in (L^1(\Omega \times \mathcal{M}, \mathbb{C}^M); dx \otimes d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k))$ , where in the right hand side of the formula h is extended to  $\mathbb{R}^d$  by the k-quasiperiodicity condition  $h(x + n, k) = e^{ik \cdot n}h(x, k), n \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ .

**Remark 3.17.** Comparing (3.1) with the inverse Floquet-Bloch transform  $U^{-1}$  in section 5.1 in the appendix, we can interpret (3.1) as a sort of restriction of  $U^{-1}$  on  $\mathcal{M}$ . Analogously one can define  $U_{\mathcal{M}\cap\mathcal{U}}^{-1}$ , where  $\mathcal{U} \subseteq B$  is open.

**Remark 3.18.** Since  $\mathcal{M} \in \mathfrak{M}$  can be described by a finite number of Lipschitz graphs,  $\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(\mathcal{M}) < \infty$  holds (see [31], section 3.3.4). In particular,  $\mathcal{M}$  is  $\sigma$ -finite with respect to  $\mathcal{H}^{d-1}$  and by Fubini's theorem (3.1) exists for almost all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ . Furthermore, by the Lipschitz continuity of the parametrizations  $\phi_i$ , for an interval  $I \subset \mathbb{C} \mathcal{R}$  there exist a constant C, such that for all  $\tau \in I$ ,  $\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(B^s_{\tau}) \leq C$  holds.

**Theorem 3.19.** Let  $\mathcal{M} = B_{\lambda}^{s}$  be a regular level set of  $\lambda_{s}$  with Lipschitz parametrizations  $\phi_{i} : U_{i}' \to U_{i}''$  and matrices  $D_{i} = \left(\widetilde{D}_{i}^{t}\right)^{-1}$  chosen according to proposition 3.15. Let w be any strictly positive weight function w satisfying the following two conditions.

(i) There exists a function  $\widetilde{w}$  such that for all  $\widetilde{D}_i$ 

$$w(\widetilde{D}_i(x_1,\ldots,x_d)) \le \widetilde{w}(x_d)$$

(*ii*) For the function  $\widetilde{w}$  from (*i*)

$$\sum_{s\in\mathbb{Z}}\|\widetilde{w}\|_{L^{\infty}([0,1]+s)}<\infty$$

holds.

Then, for  $h \in L^2(\Omega \times \mathcal{M}, \mathbb{C}^M; dx \otimes d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k))$  we have  $U_{\mathcal{M}}^{-1}h \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M; w)$  and

$$\left\| U_{\mathcal{M}}^{-1}h \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{M};w)} \leq C \left\| h \right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega \times \mathcal{M},\mathbb{C}^{M};dx \otimes d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k))}$$
(3.2)

with C > 0 independent of h.

As an example for w take  $w(x_1, \ldots, x_d) = (1 + |x_1| + \ldots + |x_d|)^{-\alpha}$   $(\alpha > 1)$  with  $\widetilde{w}(x_d) = \left(1 + \frac{|x_d|}{\max_i \|\widetilde{D}_i^{-1}\|_1}\right)^{-\alpha}$ , where  $\|\cdot\|_1$  denotes a matrix-norm that is compatible with the  $|\cdot|_1$  vector norm (i.e.  $|Mx|_1 \le \|M\|_1 |x|_1$ ).

The constant C in (3.2) depends on the parametrizations  $\phi_i$  and  $\tilde{w}$ , but see remark 3.20.

*Proof.* The basic idea of the proof is similar to the corresponding proof for the Fourier transform, which can be found in [35]. Yet the details are more intricate, since we have to take

into account the relations of the periodicity lattice and the reciprocal lattice. The Lipschitz parametrizations are used to flatten  $\mathcal{M}$  locally. The weight function is used to separate a (d-1)-dimensional integral that can be estimated after using the flat (d-1)-dimensional Floquet-Bloch transform with its isometry quality.

For the proof let  $B_n := [-\pi, \pi]^n$ ,  $\Omega_n := [0, 1]^n$  denote the *n*-dimensional Brillouin zone and cell of periodicity. Consider one of the parametrizations and drop the index  $i: \phi: U' \to U''$ . The accompanying matrix is  $D = (\tilde{D}^t)^{-1}$  according to proposition 3.15 (recall  $\tilde{D} \in \mathbb{Z}^{d \times d}$ ). Then

$$D(k_1,\ldots,k_d) \in \mathcal{M} \cap D(U' \times U'') \Leftrightarrow k_d = \phi(k_1,\ldots,k_{d-1})$$

We will need the following function for the application of the Area formula. Define

$$\vartheta: U' \to \mathcal{M} \cap D(U' \times U'') (k_1, \dots, k_{d-1}) \mapsto D(k_1, \dots, k_{d-1}, \phi(k_1, \dots, k_{d-1})).$$

The Area formula from section 5.4 in the appendix yields

$$\int_{\mathcal{M}\cap D(U'\times U'')} h(x,k) \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k) = \int_{U'} h(x,\vartheta(z)) J\vartheta(z) \, dz.$$
(3.3)

 $J\vartheta$  is the Jacobian (in the sense of [31], section 3.2.2) of  $\vartheta$  and it is given by

$$J\vartheta(z) = \sqrt{1 + |\nabla\phi(z)|^2}$$

Since  $\phi$  is Lipschitz there exist a constant  $C(\phi) > 0$  such that for almost all  $(k_1, \ldots, k_{d-1}) \in U'$ 

$$1 \le J\vartheta(k_1, \dots, k_{d-1}) \le C(\phi). \tag{3.4}$$

Now we start the essential estimations. Let  $\tilde{x} = (x_1, \ldots, x_{d-1}), \tilde{k} = (k_1, \ldots, k_{d-1})$ . First we employ the definitions of the weighted  $L^2$ -norm and  $U_{\mathcal{M} \cap D(U' \times U'')}^{-1}$ :

$$\begin{split} \sqrt{|B|} \left\| U_{\mathcal{M} \cap D(U' \times U'')}^{-1} h \right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d;w)}^2 &= \sqrt{|B|} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} w(x) |U_{\mathcal{M} \cap D(U' \times U'')}^{-1} h(x)|^2 \, dx \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} w(x) \left| \int_{\mathcal{M} \cap D(U' \times U'')} h(x,k) \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k) \right|^2 \, dx. \end{split}$$

Then we insert the Area-formula result (3.3) and perform a change of variables  $x \to D \widetilde{x}$  in the integral over  $\mathbb{R}^d$ :

$$\sqrt{|B|} \left\| U_{\mathcal{M} \cap D(U' \times U'')}^{-1} h \right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d;w)}^2 = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} w(x) \left| \int_{U'} h(x,\vartheta(\widetilde{k})) J\vartheta(\widetilde{k}) \, d\widetilde{k} \right|^2 \, dx$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} w(\widetilde{D}x) \left| \int_{U'} h(\widetilde{D}x, \vartheta(\widetilde{k})) J\vartheta(\widetilde{k}) \ d\widetilde{k} \right|^2 |\det \widetilde{D}| \ dx$$

We use the property (i) of the weight function w and define an auxiliary function  $\tilde{h}(x_d)$ :

$$\sqrt{|B|} \left\| U_{\mathcal{M} \cap D(U' \times U'')}^{-1} h \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d};w)}^{2} \\
\leq \left| \det \widetilde{D} \right| \int_{\mathbb{R}} \widetilde{w}(x_{d}) \underbrace{\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d-1}} \left| \int_{U'} h(\widetilde{D}(\widetilde{x}, x_{d}), \vartheta(\widetilde{k})) J \vartheta(\widetilde{k}) \, d\widetilde{k} \right|^{2} \, d\widetilde{x}}_{=:\widetilde{h}(x_{d})} \\
= \left| \det \widetilde{D} \right| \int_{\mathbb{R}} \widetilde{w}(x_{d}) \widetilde{h}(x_{d}) \, dx_{d}.$$
(3.5)

The next step is to split up the integral over  $\mathbb{R}$  into integrals over translates of  $\Omega_1$  and use Hölder's inequality:

$$\sqrt{|B|} \left\| U_{\mathcal{M} \cap D(U' \times U'')}^{-1} h \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d};w)}^{2} \leq |\det \widetilde{D}| \sum_{s \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{\Omega_{1}} \widetilde{w}(x_{d}+s) \widetilde{h}(x_{d}+s) \, dx_{d} \qquad (3.6)$$

$$\leq |\det \widetilde{D}| \sum_{s \in \mathbb{Z}} \|\widetilde{w}\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega_{1}+s)} \left\| \widetilde{h}(\cdot+s) \right\|_{L^{1}(\Omega_{1})}.$$

We will now estimate  $\tilde{h}(x_d + s)$  before continuing the estimation. Define

$$\widehat{h}_{s,x_d}(\widetilde{x},\widetilde{k}) := \chi_{U'}(\widetilde{k})h(\widetilde{D}(\widetilde{x},x_d+s),\vartheta(\widetilde{k}))J\vartheta(\widetilde{k}).$$

Then we make the following calculation, where we split up the integral over  $\mathbb{R}^{d-1}$  into integrals over translates of  $B_{d-1} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{d-1}$ :

$$\widetilde{h}(x_{d}+s) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d-1}} \left| \int_{U'} h(\widetilde{D}(\widetilde{x}, x_{d}+s), \vartheta(\widetilde{k})) J\vartheta(\widetilde{k}) d\widetilde{k} \right|^{2} d\widetilde{x}$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d-1}} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d-1}} \widehat{h}_{s, x_{d}}(\widetilde{x}, \widetilde{k}) d\widetilde{k} \right|^{2} d\widetilde{x}$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d-1}} \left| \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}} \int_{B_{d-1}} \widehat{h}_{s, x_{d}}(\widetilde{x}, \widetilde{k}+2\pi j) d\widetilde{k} \right|^{2} d\widetilde{x}$$

$$= |B_{d-1}| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d-1}} \left| \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B_{d-1}|}} \int_{B_{d-1}} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}} \widehat{h}_{s, x_{d}}(\widetilde{x}, \widetilde{k}+2\pi j) d\widetilde{k} \right|^{2} d\widetilde{x}.$$
(3.7)

Note here that the sum over j is finite due to the boundedness of U'. Define  $\hat{h}_{s,x_d}^j(\tilde{x},\tilde{k}) := \hat{h}_{s,x_d}(\tilde{x},\tilde{k}+2\pi j)$ . In order to interpret the integral over  $B_{d-1}$  as the (d-1)-dimensional inverse Floquet-Bloch transform of  $\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}^{d-1}}\hat{h}_{s,x_d}^j(\tilde{x},\tilde{k})$  we have to check, that  $\hat{h}_{s,x_d}^j$  is  $\tilde{k}$ -quasiperiodic. Let  $\tilde{n}\in\mathbb{Z}^{d-1}$  and  $n':=(\tilde{n},0)\in\mathbb{Z}^d$ .

$$\begin{split} &\widehat{h}_{s,x_d}^j(\widetilde{x}+\widetilde{n},\widetilde{k}) \\ &= \widehat{h}_{s,x_d}(\widetilde{x}+\widetilde{n},\widetilde{k}+2\pi j) \\ &= \chi_{U'}(\widetilde{k}+2\pi j)h(\widetilde{D}(\widetilde{x}+\widetilde{n},x_d+s),\vartheta(\widetilde{k}+2\pi j))J\vartheta(\widetilde{k}+2\pi j) \\ &= \chi_{U'}(\widetilde{k}+2\pi j)h(\widetilde{D}(\widetilde{x},x_d+s)+\widetilde{D}(\widetilde{n},0),\vartheta(\widetilde{k}+2\pi j))J\vartheta(\widetilde{k}+2\pi j). \end{split}$$

Since h(x, k) is k-quasiperiodic and  $\widetilde{D}$  has integer entries, we obtain

$$\begin{split} &\widehat{h}_{s,x_d}^{j}(\widetilde{x}+\widetilde{n},\widetilde{k}) \\ = & \exp\left(i\widetilde{D}(\widetilde{n},0)\cdot\vartheta(\widetilde{k}+2\pi j)\right)\chi_{U'}(\widetilde{k}+2\pi j) \\ & \times h(\widetilde{D}(\widetilde{x},x_d+s),\vartheta(\widetilde{k}+2\pi j))J\vartheta(\widetilde{k}+2\pi j) \\ = & \exp\left(i(\widetilde{n},0)^t\widetilde{D}^t\vartheta(\widetilde{k}+2\pi j)\right)\widehat{h}_{s,x_d}(\widetilde{x},\widetilde{k}+2\pi j) \\ = & \exp\left(i(\widetilde{n},0)^t\widetilde{D}^tD(\widetilde{k}+2\pi j,\phi(\widetilde{k}+2\pi j))\right)\widehat{h}_{s,x_d}(\widetilde{x},\widetilde{k}+2\pi j) \\ = & e^{i\widetilde{n}\cdot(\widetilde{k}+2\pi j)}\widehat{h}_{s,x_d}(\widetilde{x},\widetilde{k}+2\pi j) \\ = & e^{i\widetilde{n}\cdot\widetilde{k}}\widehat{h}_{s,x_d}^{j}(\widetilde{x},\widetilde{k}), \end{split}$$

where we have used that  $D = (\tilde{D}^t)^{-1}$ . So we can continue the calculation (3.7), remarking that the sum is in fact finite because of the boundedness of U'. Thus the number of summands is less than a constant C(U'). In the following calculation we make use of the isometry property of the (d-1)-dimensional Floquet-Bloch transform  $U_{B_{d-1}}$ :

$$\widetilde{h}(x_{d}+s) = |B_{d-1}| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d-1}} \left| \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B_{d-1}|}} \int_{B_{d-1}} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}} \widehat{h}_{s,x_{d}}^{j}(\widetilde{x},\widetilde{k}) d\widetilde{k} \right|^{2} d\widetilde{x}$$

$$= |B_{d-1}| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d-1}} \left| U_{B_{d-1}}^{-1} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}} \widehat{h}_{s,x_{d}}^{j}(\widetilde{x}) \right|^{2} d\widetilde{x}$$

$$= |B_{d-1}| \left\| U_{B_{d-1}}^{-1} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}} \widehat{h}_{s,x_{d}}^{j} \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d-1})}^{2}$$

$$= |B_{d-1}| \left\| U_{B_{d-1}} U_{B_{d-1}}^{-1} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}} \widehat{h}_{s,x_d}^j \right\|_{L^2(\Omega_{d-1} \times B_{d-1})}^2$$
$$= |B_{d-1}| \left\| \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}} \widehat{h}_{s,x_d}^j \right\|_{L^2(\Omega_{d-1} \times B_{d-1})}^2.$$

Next we use Cauchy-Schwarz inequality on the sum over j and insert the definition of  $\hat{h}_{s,x_d}^j$ and  $\hat{h}_{s,x_d}$ :

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{h}(x_d+s) \\ &= |B_{d-1}| \int_{\Omega_{d-1}} \int_{B_{d-1}} \left| \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}} \widehat{h}_{s,x_d}^j(\widetilde{x},\widetilde{k}) \right|^2 d\widetilde{k} d\widetilde{x} \\ &\leq |B_{d-1}| C(U') \int_{\Omega_{d-1}} \int_{B_{d-1}} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}} \left| \widehat{h}_{s,x_d}^j(\widetilde{x},\widetilde{k}) \right|^2 d\widetilde{k} d\widetilde{x} \\ &= |B_{d-1}| C(U') \int_{\Omega_{d-1}} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}} \int_{B_{d-1}+2\pi j} \left| \widehat{h}_{s,x_d}(\widetilde{x},\widetilde{k}) \right|^2 d\widetilde{k} d\widetilde{x} \\ &= |B_{d-1}| C(U') \int_{\Omega_{d-1}} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}} \int_{B_{d-1}+2\pi j} \chi_{U'}(\widetilde{k}) \left| h(\widetilde{D}(\widetilde{x},x_d+s),\vartheta(\widetilde{k})) J\vartheta(\widetilde{k}) \right|^2 d\widetilde{k} d\widetilde{x}. \end{split}$$

Then we use the quasiperiodicity of h and that the modulus of  $e^{it}$  is 1 for any real t:

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{h}(x_d+s) \\ &\leq |B_{d-1}|C(U') \int_{\Omega_{d-1}} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}} \int_{B_{d-1}+2\pi j} \chi_{U'}(\widetilde{k}) \left| h(\widetilde{D}(\widetilde{x},x_d+s),\vartheta(\widetilde{k})) J\vartheta(\widetilde{k}) \right|^2 \, d\widetilde{k} \, d\widetilde{x} \\ &= C(U')|B_{d-1}| \int_{\Omega_{d-1}} \int_{U'} \left| e^{i(0,\ldots,0,s)^t \widetilde{D}^t \vartheta(\widetilde{k})} h(\widetilde{D}(\widetilde{x},x_d),\vartheta(\widetilde{k})) J\vartheta(\widetilde{k}) \right|^2 \, d\widetilde{k} \, d\widetilde{x} \\ &= |B_{d-1}|C(U') \int_{\Omega_{d-1}} \int_{U'} \left| h(\widetilde{D}(\widetilde{x},x_d),\vartheta(\widetilde{k})) J\vartheta(\widetilde{k}) \right|^2 \, d\widetilde{k} \, d\widetilde{x}. \end{split}$$

The estimate (3.4) and the Area-formula result (3.3) imply:

$$\widetilde{h}(x_d + s) \leq |B_{d-1}|C(U', \phi) \int_{\Omega_{d-1}} \int_{U'} \left| h(\widetilde{D}(\widetilde{x}, x_d), \vartheta(\widetilde{k})) \right|^2 J\vartheta(\widetilde{k}) \, d\widetilde{k} \, d\widetilde{x}$$
$$= |B_{d-1}|C(U', \phi) \int_{\Omega_{d-1}} \int_{\mathcal{M} \cap D(U' \times U'')} \left| h(\widetilde{D}(\widetilde{x}, x_d), k) \right|^2 \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k) \, d\widetilde{x}.$$

Now we can continue the estimation (3.6) of the weighted norm of  $U_M^{-1}h$ .  $\tilde{h}(x_d + s)$  is estimated by an expression independent of s (see the above formula) which we can pull out of the sum over s. The remaining sum is by the assumption (*ii*) for the weight function w less than a constant  $C(\tilde{w})$ :

$$\begin{split} &\sqrt{|B|} \left\| U_{\mathcal{M}\cap D(U'\times U'')}^{-1} h \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d};w)}^{2} \\ &\leq \left| \det \widetilde{D} \right| \sum_{s\in\mathbb{Z}} \left\| \widetilde{w} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega_{1}+s)} \left\| \widetilde{h}(\cdot+s) \right\|_{L^{1}(\Omega_{1})} \\ &= \left| \det \widetilde{D} \right| \sum_{s\in\mathbb{Z}} \left\| \widetilde{w} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega_{1}+s)} \int_{\Omega_{1}} \widetilde{h}(x_{d}+s) \, dx_{d} \\ &\leq \left| B_{d-1} |C(U',\phi,\widetilde{w})| \det \widetilde{D} \right| \\ &\times \int_{\Omega_{1}} \int_{\Omega_{d-1}} \int_{\mathcal{M}\cap D(U'\times U'')} \left| h(\widetilde{D}(\widetilde{x},x_{d}),k) \right|^{2} \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k) \, d\widetilde{x} \, dx_{d} \\ &= \left| B_{d-1} |C(U',\phi,\widetilde{w})| \det \widetilde{D} \right| \int_{\Omega} \int_{\mathcal{M}\cap D(U'\times U'')} \left| h(\widetilde{D}x,k) \right|^{2} \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k) \, dx. \end{split}$$

Again we change the variables  $\widetilde{D}x \to x$  and afterwards split up the integration over  $\widetilde{D}\Omega$  into integrals over translates of  $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$ :

$$\begin{split} &\sqrt{|B|} \left\| U_{\mathcal{M}\cap D(U'\times U'')}^{-1} h \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d};w)}^{2} \\ &\leq |B_{d-1}|C(U',\phi,\widetilde{w}) \int_{\widetilde{D}\Omega} \int_{\mathcal{M}\cap D(U'\times U'')} |h(x,k)|^{2} d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k) dx \\ &\leq |B_{d-1}|C(U',\phi,\widetilde{w}) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \int_{\mathcal{M}\cap D(U'\times U'')} \chi_{\widetilde{D}\Omega}(x) |h(x,k)|^{2} d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k) dx \\ &\leq |B_{d-1}|C(U',\phi,\widetilde{w}) \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}^{d}} \int_{\Omega} \int_{\mathcal{M}\cap D(U'\times U'')} \chi_{\widetilde{D}\Omega}(x+j) |h(x+j,k)|^{2} d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k) dx \end{split}$$

Finally we make use of the quasiperiodicity of *h*:

$$\begin{split} &\sqrt{|B|} \left\| U_{\mathcal{M}\cap D(U'\times U'')}^{-1} h \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d};w)}^{2} \\ &\leq |B_{d-1}| C(U',\phi,\widetilde{w}) \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}^{d}} \int_{\Omega} \int_{\mathcal{M}\cap D(U'\times U'')} \chi_{\widetilde{D}\Omega}(x+j) \left| e^{ijk} h(x,k) \right|^{2} \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k) \, dx \\ &\leq |B_{d-1}| C(U',\phi,\widetilde{w},\widetilde{D}) \int_{\Omega} \int_{\mathcal{M}\cap D(U'\times U'')} |h(x,k)|^{2} \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k) \, dx \\ &= |B_{d-1}| C(U',\phi,\widetilde{w},\widetilde{D}) \left\| h \right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega\times\mathcal{M}\cap D(U'\times U'');dx\otimes d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k))}. \end{split}$$

Note that the sum over j is finite, because  $\widetilde{D}\Omega$  is bounded. Thus  $C(\widetilde{D})$  is a constant bounding the number of summands in this sum.

Now it remains to put the estimates on the pieces  $\mathcal{M} \cap D_i(U'_i \times U''_i)$  together to obtain (3.2). The constant C in (3.2) is to be chosen greater than the maximum of the constants  $C_i = C_i(U'_i, \phi_i, \widetilde{w}, \widetilde{D}_i)$  times a constant that depends on the total number of the parametrizations  $\phi_i$ .

**Remark 3.20.** From the proof of proposition 3.15 follows by compactness reasons that for any interval  $I \subset \mathbb{R}_s$  of regular values of  $\lambda_s$  one can use a finite set of  $\phi_i$ ,  $U'_i$ ,  $U''_i$ ,  $D_i$  and  $\widetilde{D}_i$  to describe all level sets  $B^s_{\tau}$  ( $\tau \in I$ ). Thus we obtain a corollary of theorem 3.19:

**Corollary 3.21.** Let  $I \subset \mathbb{R}_s$  be an interval of regular values of  $\lambda_s$ . Then for any weight function w with properties as in theorem 3.19 there exists a constant C = C(I) such that for all  $\tau \in I$  and  $h \in L^2(\Omega \times B^s_{\tau}, \mathbb{C}^M; dx \otimes d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k))$  we have  $U^{-1}_{B^s_{\tau}}h \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M; w(x)dx)$  and

$$\left\| U_{B^s_{\tau}}^{-1}h \right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{C}^M;w(x)dx)} \le C \left\| h \right\|_{L^2(\Omega \times B^s_{\tau},\mathbb{C}^M;dx \otimes d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k))}$$

A suitable constant C = C(I) can be computed from the properties of  $\widetilde{w}$  and the finite set of the  $\phi_i, U'_i, D_i, \widetilde{D}_i$  that is used to describe all the level sets  $B^s_{\tau}$  ( $\tau \in I$ ), and it is independent of  $\tau$  and h.

# 3.4 Representation of the distributional limiting absorption solution for regular $\lambda$ .

Recall that  $\mathcal{R}$  denotes the open set of regular values (see definition 3.6).

**Theorem 3.22.** Let  $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathcal{R} \times \mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$ ,  $\mathcal{L}$  and f as in section 1.4 and 2.1. Then for every  $\epsilon > 0$ , there exist locally integrable functions  $a_{\epsilon}, d^{\pm} : \mathcal{R} \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{C}^M$  such that for almost all  $\lambda \in \mathcal{R}$  we have  $a_{\epsilon}(\lambda, \cdot) \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$ ,  $d^{\pm}(\lambda, \cdot) \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M; w(x)dx)$  with a weight function as in theorem 3.19, and for the distributional limiting absorption solutions  $u^{\pm}$  of  $(\mathcal{L} - \lambda)u = f$  from chapter 2 definition 2.5 the following representation holds

$$u^{\pm}[\varphi] = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} a_{\epsilon}(\lambda, x) \varphi(\lambda, x) \, dx \, d\lambda + \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} d^{\pm}(\lambda, x) \varphi(\lambda, x) \, dx \, d\lambda,$$

where the limit  $\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \ldots$  exists and is equal to the principal value part of  $u^{\pm}[\varphi]$  (see definition 2.5). The functions  $a_{\epsilon}, d^{\pm}$  can be chosen as follows:

$$a_{\epsilon}(\lambda, x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_{B} \sum_{s} \chi_{\{k:|\lambda_{s}(k)-\lambda|>\epsilon\}}(k) \frac{\langle Uf(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_{s}(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^{M})}}{\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda} \psi_{s}(x, k) \, dk$$

$$d^{\pm}(\lambda, x) = \frac{(\pm i\pi)}{\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s} \int_{B^{s}_{\lambda}} \frac{\langle Uf(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_{s}(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^{M})} \psi_{s}(x, k)}{|\nabla \lambda_{s}(k)|} \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k).$$

Note that  $\nabla \lambda_s$  exists almost everywhere and is bounded away from 0 by a positive constant depending on the support of  $\varphi$  (see Lemma 3.11).

*Proof.* Each of the distributions  $u^{\pm}$  consists of two parts. The first part containing the Cauchy principal value integral can be manipulated as follows using

$$\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \varphi(\lambda, x) \psi_s(x, k) \, \langle Uf(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^M)} \, dx$$

from definition 2.3 and lemma 2.2 in chapter 2.

$$\begin{split} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \mathcal{P} \!\! \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda)}{\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda} \, d\lambda \, dk \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \int_{B} \chi_{\{k:|\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda| > \epsilon\}}(k) \\ & \times \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \varphi(\lambda, x) \psi_{s}(x, k) \, dx \, \frac{\langle Uf(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_{s}(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^{M})}}{\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda} \, d\lambda \, dk \\ &= \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left( \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \chi_{\{k:|\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda| > \epsilon\}}(k) \right. \\ & \quad \times \frac{\langle Uf(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_{s}(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^{M})} \psi_{s}(x, k)}{\lambda_{s}(k) - \lambda} \, dk \right) \varphi(\lambda, x) \, dx \, d\lambda. \end{split}$$

The point evaluation part is subjected to the Coarea formula 5.11, applied to the integral over B. Notice that  $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathcal{R} \times \mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$  and so the support of  $\varphi$  with respect to  $\lambda$  is contained in the set of regular values. Also the sum over s is actually finite because of the finite support of  $\varphi$ .

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_{B} \pm i\pi \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \Phi_{s,k}(\lambda_{s}(k)) \, dk \\ &= \frac{(\pm i\pi)}{\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{B_{\lambda}^{s}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \varphi(\lambda_{s}(k), x) \psi_{s}(x, k) \, dx \, \frac{\langle Uf(\lambda_{s}(k), \cdot, k), \psi_{s}(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^{M})}}{|\nabla \lambda_{s}(k)|} \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k) \, d\lambda \\ &= \frac{(\pm i\pi)}{\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{B_{\lambda}^{s}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \varphi(\lambda, x) \psi_{s}(x, k) \, dx \frac{\langle Uf(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_{s}(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^{M})}}{|\nabla \lambda_{s}(k)|} \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k) \, d\lambda \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left( \frac{(\pm i\pi)}{\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_{B_{\lambda}^{s}} \frac{\langle Uf(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_{s}(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^{M})} \psi_{s}(x, k)}{|\nabla \lambda_{s}(k)|} \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k) \right) \varphi(\lambda, x) \, dx \, d\lambda. \end{split}$$

Changing the order of integrations can be justified as in the proof of theorem 2.8 in chapter 2.  $\Box$ 

### 3.5 Properties of integrals over regular level sets

In this section we study integrals of the function

$$g(\lambda, x, k) := \frac{\langle Uf(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^M)} \psi_s(x, k)}{|\nabla \lambda_s(k)|}$$

over level sets of regular values of  $\lambda_s$  for a fixed band index s. Let  $I_0 \subset I \setminus \partial I$  and  $I \subset \mathcal{R} \subseteq \mathcal{R}_s$ . For  $\lambda, \tau \in I$  define for the  $L^2(\Omega \times B^s_{\tau}, \mathbb{C}^M; dx \otimes d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k))$ -function  $g(\lambda, \cdot, \cdot)$ , which is extended in x to  $\mathbb{R}^d$  by k-quasiperiodicity

$$g(\lambda, x+n, k) = e^{ikn}g(\lambda, x, k), \quad (n \in \mathbb{Z}^d),$$

the level set integral  $h_s$  of g by

$$h_s(\lambda, \tau, x) := \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_{B^s_{\tau}} g(\lambda, x, k) \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k) = U^{-1}_{B^s_{\tau}} g(\lambda, x).$$
(3.8)

We put  $h_s(\lambda, \tau, \cdot) = 0$  if  $\lambda$  or  $\tau$  is not in *I*. To remind of this fact, we will sometimes insert an characteristic function  $\chi_I$  in front of  $h_s$ . We are interested in the integrability properties of  $h_s$ .

Lemma 3.23.  $h_s \in L^2(I \times I \times \mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M; d\lambda \otimes d\tau \otimes w(x)dx).$ 

*Proof.* By lemma 3.11 there exists a q > 0 such that  $|\nabla \lambda_s(k)| \ge q > 0$  for all k belonging to the level sets  $B^s_{\tau}$  with  $\tau \in I$ . First we write out the definition of the norm and use corollary 3.21:

$$\begin{aligned} \|h_s\|_{L^2(I\times I\times \mathbb{R}^d; d\lambda\otimes d\tau\otimes w(x)dx)}^2 &= \int_I \int_I \left\| U_{B^s_\tau}^{-1} g(\lambda, \cdot) \right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d; w)}^2 d\tau \, d\lambda \\ &\leq C(I) \int_I \int_I \|g(\lambda, \cdot, \cdot)\|_{L^2(\Omega\times B^s_\tau)}^2 \, d\tau \, d\lambda \\ &= C(I) \int_I \int_I \left\| \frac{\langle Uf(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)} \psi_s(x, k)}{|\nabla \lambda_s(k)|} \right\|_{L^2(\Omega\times B^s_\tau)}^2 \, d\tau \, d\lambda. \end{aligned}$$

Then, using the definition of the  $L^2(\Omega \times B^s_{\tau})$ -norm, we integrate out the integral over  $\Omega$  and estimate one of the  $|\nabla \lambda_s(k)|$  in the denominator by q:

$$\begin{aligned} &\|h_s\|_{L^2(I\times I\times \mathbb{R}^d; d\lambda\otimes d\tau\otimes w(x)dx)}^2 \\ &\leq \frac{1}{q} C(I) \int_I \int_I \int_{B^s_{\tau}} \frac{|\langle Uf(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k)\rangle_{L^2(\Omega)}|^2}{|\nabla\lambda_s(k)|} \ d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k) \ d\tau \ d\lambda \end{aligned}$$

Again we use the Coarea formula and the isometry property of U:

$$\begin{aligned} \|h_s\|_{L^2(I \times I \times \mathbb{R}^d; d\lambda \otimes d\tau \otimes w(x) dx)}^2 &\leq \frac{1}{q} C(I) \int_I \int_B |\langle Uf(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)}|^2 \, dk \, d\lambda \\ &\leq \frac{1}{q} C(I) \int_I \|f(\lambda, \cdot)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)}^2 \, d\lambda < \infty. \end{aligned}$$

**Lemma 3.24.** Let  $\varepsilon > 0$  be fixed and  $h_s$  be as in (3.8), then for the truncated Hilbert transform (see appendix 5.6)

$$H^{(\varepsilon)}h_s(\lambda, x) = \int_{|\lambda - \tau| > \varepsilon} \frac{\chi_I(\tau)h_s(\lambda, \tau, x)}{\lambda - \tau} \, d\tau \in L^2(I \times \mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M; d\lambda \otimes dx)$$

holds without the weight function w.

*Proof.* Writing out the norm and the definition of  $H^{(\varepsilon)}$  and  $h_s$  we obtain:

$$\begin{aligned} & \left\| H^{(\varepsilon)} h_s \right\|_{L^2(I \times \mathbb{R}^d)}^2 \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_I |H^{(\varepsilon)} h_s(\lambda, x)|^2 \, d\lambda \, dx \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_I \left| \int_{|\lambda - \tau| > \varepsilon} \frac{\chi_I(\tau) \int_{B^s_\tau} g(\lambda, x, k) \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k)}{\lambda - \tau} \, d\tau \right|^2 \, d\lambda \, dx. \end{aligned}$$

Then we apply the Coarea Formula to the integrals  $\int_{|\lambda-\tau|>\varepsilon}$  and  $\int_{B^s_\tau}$ :

$$\begin{split} & \left\| H^{(\varepsilon)} h_s \right\|_{L^2(I \times \mathbb{R}^d)}^2 \\ = & \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_I \left| \int_{\{k \in B: |\lambda_s(k) - \lambda| > \varepsilon\}} \frac{\langle Uf(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)} \psi_s(x, k)}{\lambda - \lambda_s(k)} \, dk \right|^2 \, d\lambda \, dx \\ = & \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_I \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| \int_B \chi_{\{k \in B: |\lambda_s(k) - \lambda| > \varepsilon\}}(k) \frac{\langle Uf(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)} \psi_s(x, k)}{\lambda - \lambda_s(k)} \, dk \right|^2 \, dx \, d\lambda. \end{split}$$

We write the integral over B as an inverse Floquet-Bloch transform, which is possible, since the integrand is k quasiperiodic. Afterwards we use that U is an isometry:

$$\begin{aligned} & \left\| H^{(\varepsilon)} h_s \right\|_{L^2(I \times \mathbb{R}^d)}^2 \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_I \left\| U^{-1} \chi_{\{k \in B: |\lambda_s(k) - \lambda| > \varepsilon\}}(k) \frac{\langle Uf(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)} \psi_s(x, k)}{\lambda - \lambda_s(k)} \, dk \right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)}^2 \, d\lambda \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_I \left\| \chi_{\{k \in B: |\lambda_s(k) - \lambda| > \varepsilon\}}(k) \frac{\langle Uf(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)} \psi_s(x, k)}{\lambda - \lambda_s(k)} \right\|_{L^2(\Omega \times B; dx \otimes dk)}^2 \, d\lambda. \end{aligned}$$

In the next step we estimate the denominator by  $\varepsilon$ , integrate out the integral over  $\Omega$  in the  $L^2(\Omega \times B)$ -norm and add terms with the remaining  $s \in \mathcal{J}$  to complete the sum over s:

$$\begin{split} & \left\| H^{(\varepsilon)} h_s \right\|_{L^2(I \times \mathbb{R}^d)}^2 \\ \leq & \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \int_I \left\| \langle Uf(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)} \psi_s(x, k) \right\|_{L^2(\Omega \times B, dx \otimes dk)}^2 \, d\lambda \\ \leq & \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \int_I \int_B \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} |\langle Uf(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)}|^2 \, dk \, d\lambda. \end{split}$$

Finally we use Parseval's identity on the sum  $\sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}}$  and the isometry property of U:

$$\begin{split} \left\| H^{(\varepsilon)}h_s \right\|_{L^2(I\times\mathbb{R}^d)}^2 &\leq \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \int_I \left\| Uf(\lambda,\cdot,\cdot) \right\|_{L^2(\Omega\times B)}^2 d\lambda \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \int_I \left\| f(\lambda,\cdot) \right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)}^2 d\lambda < \infty. \end{split}$$

Definition 3.25. We define

$$\mathcal{B} := L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M; w(x)dx)$$
(3.9)

with inner product

$$\langle u, v \rangle_{\mathcal{B}} := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} u(x) \overline{v(x)} w(x) \, dx$$

Lemma 3.26. The mapping

$$h_s: \lambda \mapsto \underbrace{\left(\tau \mapsto \underbrace{h_s(\lambda, \tau, \cdot)}_{\in \mathcal{B}}\right)}_{\in L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B})}$$

is Lipschitz continuous for  $\lambda \in I$  with values in  $L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B})$ .

*Proof.* First we show that there exists a constant C > 0, that depends only on I and system constants, such that for all  $\lambda \in I$ , almost all  $\tau \in I$ ,  $||h_s(\lambda, \tau, x)||_{\mathcal{B}} \leq C < \infty$  holds. This shows that  $h_s(\lambda, \cdot, \cdot) \in L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B})$ . First we use the definition of  $h_s$  and the estimate from corollary 3.21:

$$\begin{aligned} \|h_s(\lambda,\tau,\cdot)\|_{\mathcal{B}}^2 &= \left\| U_{B^s_{\tau}}^{-1} \left( \frac{\langle Uf(\lambda,\cdot,k), \psi_s(\cdot,k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)} \psi_s(x,k)}{|\nabla \lambda_s(k)|} \right) \right\|_{\mathcal{B}}^2 \\ &\leq C(I) \left\| \frac{\langle Uf(\lambda,\cdot,k), \psi_s(\cdot,k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)} \psi_s(x,k)}{|\nabla \lambda_s(k)|} \right\|_{L^2(\Omega \times B^s_{\tau}; dx \otimes d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k))}^2 \end{aligned}$$

We integrate out the integral over  $\Omega$  in the  $L^2(\Omega \times B)$ -norm:

$$\begin{aligned} \|h_s(\lambda,\tau,\cdot)\|_{\mathcal{B}}^2 &\leq C(I) \left\| \frac{\langle Uf(\lambda,\cdot,k), \psi_s(\cdot,k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)}}{|\nabla \lambda_s(k)|} \right\|_{L^2(B^s_{\tau};d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k))}^2 \\ &= C(I) \int_{B^s_{\tau}} \frac{|\langle Uf(\lambda,\cdot,k), \psi_s(\cdot,k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)}|^2}{|\nabla \lambda_s(k)|^2} \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k) \end{aligned}$$

Then we use that  $|\nabla \lambda_s(k)|$  is bounded from below uniformly for all  $\tau \in I$  by a positive constant by lemma 3.11. We absorb this constant into C(I). Furthermore we use lemma 5.3 from the appendix:

$$\|h_s(\lambda,\tau,\cdot)\|_{\mathcal{B}}^2 \leq C(I) \frac{C(\operatorname{supp}(f))}{|B|} \|f(\lambda,\cdot)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)}^2 \int_{B^s_\tau} 1 \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k) < \infty$$

by remark 3.18. Now we show Lipschitz continuity of  $h_s$  with respect to  $\lambda$  by similar estimates. Let  $\lambda, \tilde{\lambda} \in I$ . First we use corollary 3.21 and integrate out the integral over  $\Omega$  in the emerging  $L^2(\Omega \times B^s_{\tau})$ -norm, such that we obtain:

$$\begin{split} & \left\| h_s(\lambda,\cdot,\cdot) - h_s(\widetilde{\lambda},\cdot,\cdot) \right\|_{L^{\infty}(I,\mathcal{B})}^2 \\ &= \sup_{\tau \in I} \left\| U_{B^s_{\tau}}^{-1} \left( \frac{\langle Uf(\lambda,\cdot,k) - Uf(\widetilde{\lambda},\cdot,k), \psi_s(\cdot,k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)} \psi_s(x,k)}{|\nabla \lambda_s(k)|} \right) \right\|_{\mathcal{B}}^2 \\ &\leq C(I) \sup_{\tau \in I} \left\| \frac{\langle Uf(\lambda,\cdot,k) - Uf(\widetilde{\lambda},\cdot,k), \psi_s(\cdot,k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)}}{|\nabla \lambda_s(k)|} \right\|_{L^2(B^s_{\tau}; d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k))}^2 \end{split}$$

Then we use lemma 3.11 to estimate the denominator and lemma 5.3 for the terms with Uf. All upcoming constants are absorbed into C(I):

$$\left\|h_s(\lambda,\cdot,\cdot) - h_s(\widetilde{\lambda},\cdot,\cdot)\right\|_{L^{\infty}(I,\mathcal{B})}^2 \leq \frac{C(\operatorname{supp}(f))}{|B|} \left\|f(\lambda,\cdot) - f(\widetilde{\lambda},\cdot)\right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)}^2$$

$$\leq C(I) \frac{C(\operatorname{supp}(f))}{|B|} \operatorname{Lip}(f)_I^2 |\lambda - \widetilde{\lambda}|^2.$$

In the last step we used the Lipschitz continuity of f with respect to  $\lambda$ .

The level set integral  $h_s$  has a connection to the spectral family  $\mu \mapsto E(\mu)$  associated with  $\mathcal{L}$  for  $\mu \in \mathcal{R}$ . For simplicity, let  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$  be independent of  $\lambda$ . Due to the Floquet-Bloch representation of  $\mathcal{L}$ 

$$\mathcal{L}f(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_B \lambda_s(k) \langle Uf(\cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^M)} \psi_s(x, k) \, dk$$

we find the following formula for  $E(\mu)$ 

$$E(\mu)f(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_B \chi_{\{\kappa \in B: \lambda_s(\kappa) \le \mu\}}(k) \langle Uf(\cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^M)} \psi_s(x, k) \, dk.$$

**Proposition 3.27.** Let  $I \subset \mathbb{C}$ ,  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$ ,  $g \in \mathcal{B}$  with a weight function as in theorem 3.19 and  $r := \max\{|s| : s \in \mathcal{J}, \lambda_s(B) \cap I \neq \emptyset\}$ . For the derivative  $A(\mu)$  of the spectral family, which is defined by

$$\langle A(\mu)f,g\rangle_{\mathcal{B}} := \frac{d}{d\mu} \langle E(\mu)f,g\rangle_{\mathcal{B}}$$

the following holds for almost all  $\mu \in I$ :

$$\begin{aligned} A(\mu)f &= \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}, |s| \le r} h_s(\mu, \cdot) \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}, |s| \le r} \int_{B^s_{\mu}} \frac{\langle Uf(\cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^M)} \psi_s(\cdot, k)}{|\nabla \lambda_s(k)|} \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k). \end{aligned}$$

*Proof.* For  $(E(\mu+\nu)-E(\mu))f$  we find the following representation, noting that  $|\nabla \lambda_s(k)| \ge q$  if  $\mu \le \lambda_s(k) \le \mu + \nu$  and thus we are able to apply the Coarea formula.

$$\begin{aligned} &(E(\mu+\nu)-E(\mu))f\\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}}\sum_{s\in\mathcal{J}}\int_{B}\chi_{\{\kappa\in B:\mu<\lambda_{s}(\kappa)\leq\mu+\nu\}}(k)\langle Uf(\cdot,k),\psi_{s}(\cdot,k)\rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{C}^{M})}\psi_{s}(\cdot,k)\;dk\\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}}\sum_{s\in\mathcal{J};|s|\leq r}\int_{\mu}^{\mu+\nu}\int_{B^{s}_{\tau}}\frac{\langle Uf(\cdot,k),\psi_{s}(\cdot,k)\rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{C}^{M})}\psi_{s}(\cdot,k)}{|\nabla\lambda_{s}(k)|}\;d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k)\;d\tau\end{aligned}$$

$$= \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}, |s| \le r} \int_{\mu}^{\mu+\nu} h_s(\tau, \cdot) d\tau.$$

We use this to calculate the derivative of  $E(\mu)$ :

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{\nu} \left| \langle (E(\mu+\nu)-E(\mu))f - \sum_{s\in\mathcal{J}; |s|\leq r} h_s(\mu,\cdot)\nu, g\rangle_{\mathcal{B}} \right| \\ &= \frac{1}{\nu} \left| \langle \sum_{s\in\mathcal{J}, |s|\leq r} \int_{\mu}^{\mu+\nu} h_s(\tau,\cdot) d\tau - \sum_{s\in\mathcal{J}; |s|\leq r} h_s(\mu,\cdot)\nu, g\rangle_{\mathcal{B}} \right| \\ &\leq \frac{1}{\nu} \sum_{s\in\mathcal{J}, |s|\leq r} \left| \langle \int_{\mu}^{\mu+\nu} h_s(\tau,\cdot) d\tau - h_s(\mu,\cdot)\nu, g\rangle_{\mathcal{B}} \right| \\ &= \frac{1}{\nu} \sum_{s\in\mathcal{J}, |s|\leq r} \left| \langle \int_{\mu}^{\mu+\nu} h_s(\tau,\cdot) d\tau - \int_{\mu}^{\mu+\nu} h_s(\mu,\cdot) d\tau, g\rangle_{\mathcal{B}} \right| \\ &\leq \sum_{s\in\mathcal{J}, |s|\leq r} \frac{1}{\nu} \int_{\mu}^{\mu+\nu} |\langle h_s(\tau,\cdot) - h_s(\mu,\cdot), g\rangle_{\mathcal{B}} | d\tau \end{aligned}$$

Now, since  $\tau \mapsto \langle h_s(\tau, \cdot), g \rangle_{\mathcal{B}}$  is in  $L^2(I)$  because  $\tau \mapsto h_s(\tau, \cdot)$  is in  $L^2(I, \mathcal{B})$  (lemma 3.23), by Lebesgue's Differentiation Theorem (see for example appendix in [31]) the last line goes to 0 as  $\nu \to 0$  for almost all  $\mu \in I$ .

## **3.6** The limiting absorption principle for regular $\lambda$

Recall  $\mathcal{B} := L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M; w(x)dx)$ . We now investigate the limiting absorption principle for  $u_\delta$  in the function space  $L^p(I_0, \mathcal{B}; d\lambda)$  for  $p \in (1, \infty)$ . For the whole section let  $I_0 \subset \subset I \setminus \partial I$ ,  $I \subset \subset \mathcal{R}, V := \{k \in B : \lambda_s(k) \in I \text{ for some } s \in \mathcal{J}\}, r := \max\{|s| \in \mathcal{J} : \lambda_s(B) \cap I \neq \emptyset\}, f \text{ as in chapter 2 section 2.1 and } \mathcal{L} \text{ as in chapter 1 section 1.4. Consider the absorptive distributional solution } u_\delta$  of

$$(P_{\delta}) \qquad (\mathcal{L} - (\lambda + i\delta))u = f$$

on  $I_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d$ . Then for almost all  $\lambda \in I_0$ ,  $u_\delta$  can be represented as the unique following  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ -function of x using the Floquet-Bloch decomposition of  $(\mathcal{L} - (\lambda + i\delta))^{-1}f$ :

$$u_{\delta}(\lambda, x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_{B} \frac{\langle (Uf)(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_{s}(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \psi_{s}(x, k)}{\lambda_{s}(k) - (\lambda + i\delta)} dk$$

$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_{B \setminus V} \frac{\langle (Uf)(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)} \psi_s(x, k)}{\lambda_s(k) - (\lambda + i\delta)} dk$$
$$+ \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_V \frac{\langle (Uf)(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)} \psi_s(x, k)}{\lambda_s(k) - (\lambda + i\delta)} dk.$$

Recall that earlier we regarded  $u_{\delta}(\lambda, x)$  as a distribution in x and  $\lambda$  and proved in chapter 2 convergence to a limit distribution  $u^{\pm}$  as  $\delta \to 0^{\pm}$ . Then for regular frequencies in section 3.4 we found a representation formula for  $u^{\pm}$ . This formula encourages us to to seek a convergence result for  $u_{\delta}(\lambda, x)$  in a space of functions in the variables x and  $\lambda$  where  $\lambda$  is confined to the set of regular frequencies.

**Lemma 3.28.** Regarding  $u_{\delta}$  as an element of  $L^p(I_0, \mathcal{B}; d\lambda)$  we have the following convergence

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_{B \setminus V} \frac{\langle (Uf)(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)} \psi_s(x, k)}{\lambda_s(k) - (\lambda + i\delta)} dk$$

$$\xrightarrow{\delta \to 0^{\pm}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_{B \setminus V} \frac{\langle (Uf)(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)} \psi_s(x, k)}{\lambda_s(k) - \lambda} dk$$
(3.10)

in  $L^p(I_0, \mathcal{B}; d\lambda)$ .

*Proof.* First we observe that there exists an  $\eta > 0$  such that for all  $k \in B \setminus V$ , all  $\lambda \in I_0$ and all  $\delta \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $|\lambda_s(k) - \lambda - i\delta|^{-1} \leq \eta$ . Next, recall that that we can swap the summation and integration in (3.10) due to  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ -convergence of the sum using Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem. We study the convergence as  $\delta \to 0^{\pm}$  for a fixed  $\lambda \in I_0$ :

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \left\| \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_{B \setminus V} \frac{\langle Uf, \psi_s \rangle \psi_s(x, k)}{\lambda_s(k) - (\lambda + i\delta)} dk - \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_{B \setminus V} \frac{\langle Uf, \psi_s \rangle \psi_s(x, k)}{\lambda_s(k) - \lambda} dk \right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)}^2 \\
= \left\| \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_B \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \chi_{B \setminus V} \left( \frac{\langle Uf, \psi_s \rangle}{\lambda_s(k) - (\lambda + i\delta)} - \frac{\langle Uf, \psi_s \rangle}{\lambda_s(k) - \lambda} \right) \psi_s(x, k) dk \right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)}^2 \\
= \left\| U^{-1} \chi_{B \setminus V} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \left( \frac{\langle Uf, \psi_s \rangle}{\lambda_s(k) - (\lambda + i\delta)} - \frac{\langle Uf, \psi_s \rangle}{\lambda_s(k) - \lambda} \right) \psi_s(x, k) \right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)}^2 \\
= \left\| \chi_{B \setminus V} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \left( \frac{\langle Uf, \psi_s \rangle}{\lambda_s(k) - (\lambda + i\delta)} - \frac{\langle Uf, \psi_s \rangle}{\lambda_s(k) - \lambda} \right) \psi_s(x, k) \right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)}^2 .$$

Here we have used that U is an isometry. In the next step we write out the  $L^2(B)$ -norm and use that the  $\psi_s(\cdot, k)$  are orthonormal in  $L^2(\Omega)$ :

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \left\| \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_{B \setminus V} \frac{\langle Uf, \psi_s \rangle \psi_s(x, k)}{\lambda_s(k) - (\lambda + i\delta)} dk - \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_{B \setminus V} \frac{\langle Uf, \psi_s \rangle \psi_s(x, k)}{\lambda_s(k) - \lambda} dk \right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)}^2 \\ &= \int_B \chi_{B \setminus V} \left\| \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \left( \frac{\langle Uf, \psi_s \rangle}{\lambda_s(k) - (\lambda + i\delta)} - \frac{\langle Uf, \psi_s \rangle}{\lambda_s(k) - \lambda} \right) \psi_s(x, k) \right\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 dk \\ &= \int_B \chi_{B \setminus V} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \left\| \left( \frac{\langle Uf, \psi_s \rangle}{\lambda_s(k) - (\lambda + i\delta)} - \frac{\langle Uf, \psi_s \rangle}{\lambda_s(k) - \lambda} \right) \psi_s(x, k) \right\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 dk \\ &= \int_B \chi_{B \setminus V} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \left| \frac{\langle Uf, \psi_s \rangle}{\lambda_s(k) - (\lambda + i\delta)} - \frac{\langle Uf, \psi_s \rangle}{\lambda_s(k) - \lambda} \right|^2 \underbrace{\|\psi_s(x, k)\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2}_{=1} dk \\ &= \int_B \chi_{B \setminus V} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \frac{\delta^2 |\langle Uf, \psi_s \rangle|^2}{|(\lambda_s(k) - \lambda - i\delta)(\lambda_s(k) - \lambda)|^2} dk. \end{split}$$

Finally we estimate the denominator by  $\eta^4$  and use Parseval's identity and the isometry property of U:

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \left\| \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_{B \setminus V} \frac{\langle Uf, \psi_s \rangle \psi_s(x, k)}{\lambda_s(k) - (\lambda + i\delta)} dk - \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_{B \setminus V} \frac{\langle Uf, \psi_s \rangle \psi_s(x, k)}{\lambda_s(k) - \lambda} dk \right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)}^2 
\leq \eta^4 \delta^2 \int_B \|Uf(\lambda, \cdot, k)\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 dk \tag{3.11}$$

$$= \eta^4 \delta^2 \|f(\lambda, \cdot)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)}^2 \xrightarrow{\delta \to 0} 0.$$

To obtain the convergence in  $L^p(I_0, \mathcal{B}; d\lambda)$  integrate the pointwise estimate (3.11)  $d\lambda$  over  $I_0$ . Note here that  $\lambda \mapsto \|f(\lambda, \cdot)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)}$  is locally Lipschitz in  $\lambda$ .

**Proposition 3.29.** Regarding  $u_{\delta}$  as an element of  $L^p(I_0, \mathcal{B}; d\lambda)$  we have the convergence

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_{V} \frac{\langle (Uf)(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_{s}(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \psi_{s}(x, k)}{\lambda_{s}(k) - (\lambda + i\delta)} \, dk$$

$$\stackrel{\delta \to 0^{\pm}}{\longrightarrow} -\pi \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}; \ |s| \le r} (Hh_{s})(\lambda, x) \mp i(Th_{s})(\lambda, x)$$

in  $L^p(I_0, \mathcal{B}; d\lambda)$ , where r is defined at the beginning of this section, H is the version of the

Hilbert transform from appendix 5.6, T is the trace operator on the diagonal from 5.5 and

$$h_s(\lambda,\tau,x) := \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_{B^s_{\tau}} \frac{\langle (Uf)(\lambda,\cdot,k), \psi_s(\cdot,k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega,\mathbb{C}^M)} \psi_s(x,k)}{|\nabla \lambda_s(k)|} \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k).$$

We put  $h_s(\lambda, \tau, \cdot) = 0$  if  $\lambda \notin I$  or  $\tau \notin I$ .

Remark 3.30. Informally, one could write the limit element as

$$\pi \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}; \ |s| \le r} \mathcal{P}_{\int_{I}} \frac{h_s(\lambda, \tau, x)}{\tau - \lambda} \ d\tau \pm i h_s(\lambda, \lambda, x)$$

to see the analogy with the distributional limit absorption solution: one part being a Cauchy principal value integral the other part being a point evaluation at  $\lambda$ .

*Proof.* Starting from the integral over V, the first step is to apply the Coarea formula 5.4 in each summand with respect to the band function  $\lambda_s$ . So we have to check the hypothesis of the Coarea formula ess inf  $|\nabla \lambda_s| > 0$ . This is true because of lemma 3.11 since  $\overline{I} \subset \mathcal{R}_s$ . Now we apply the Coarea formula on the integral over V:

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_{V} \frac{\langle (Uf)(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_{s}(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \psi_{s}(x, k)}{\lambda_{s}(k) - (\lambda + i\delta)} \, dk \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}; \, |s| \leq r} \int_{I} \int_{B^{s}_{\tau}} \frac{\langle (Uf)(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_{s}(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \psi_{s}(x, k)}{(\lambda_{s}(k) - (\lambda + i\delta)) |\nabla \lambda_{s}(k)|} \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k) \, d\tau \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}; \, |s| \leq r} \int_{I} \int_{B^{s}_{\tau}} \frac{\langle (Uf)(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_{s}(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \psi_{s}(x, k)}{(\tau - (\lambda + i\delta)) |\nabla \lambda_{s}(k)|} \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k) \, d\tau \\ &= \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}; \, |s| \leq r} \int_{I} \frac{h_{s}(\lambda, \tau, x)}{\tau - \lambda - i\delta} \, d\tau, \end{split}$$

with the level set integral

$$h_s(\lambda,\tau,x) := \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_{B^s_\tau} \frac{\langle (Uf)(\lambda,\cdot,k), \psi_s(\cdot,k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)} \psi_s(x,k)}{|\nabla \lambda_s(k)|} \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k).$$

We put  $h_s(\lambda, \tau, \cdot) = 0$  if  $\lambda \notin I$  or  $\tau \notin I$ . Since we are only interested in convergence on  $I_0 \subset I$ , we can put  $Th_s(\lambda, \cdot) = 0$  and  $Hh_s(\lambda, \cdot) = 0$  if  $\lambda \notin I$ . In the following calculations will remind the reader of this fact by inserting a characteristic function  $\chi_I$ . We now focus on one of the summands.

$$\int_{I} \frac{h_s(\lambda,\tau,x)}{\tau-\lambda-i\delta} d\tau = \int_{I} \frac{(\tau-\lambda)}{(\tau-\lambda)^2+\delta^2} h_s(\lambda,\tau,x) d\tau + i \int_{I} \frac{\delta}{(\tau-\lambda)^2+\delta^2} h_s(\lambda,\tau,x) d\tau$$

$$= -\pi \int_{\mathbb{R}} Q_{\delta}(\lambda - \tau) \chi_{I}(\tau) h_{s}(\lambda, \tau, x) d\tau$$
  
+ $i\pi \int_{\mathbb{R}} P_{\delta}(\lambda - \tau) \chi_{I}(\tau) h_{s}(\lambda, \tau, x) d\tau$   
=  $-\pi Q_{\delta} * h_{s}(\lambda, x) + i\pi P_{\delta} * h_{s}(\lambda, x),$  (3.12)

with the Poisson kernel

$$P_{\delta}(\eta) = \frac{\delta}{\eta^2 + \delta^2}$$

and the conjugate Poisson kernel

$$Q_{\delta}(\eta) = \frac{\eta}{\eta^2 + \delta^2}.$$

Since  $P_{\delta}$  is an approximate identity and  $h_s$  is uniformly continuous (Lipschitz) with respect to  $\lambda$ , we can use lemma 5.16 to obtain the convergence of the second term in (3.12):

$$\|P_{\delta} * h_s \mp Th_s\|_{L^p(I_0,\mathcal{B})} \xrightarrow{\delta \to 0^{\pm}} 0.$$
(3.13)

Considering the first term in (3.12) first notice the following estimate for the operator G from 5.6 using the definition of G and  $Q_{\delta}$ :

$$\begin{split} \|Q_{\delta}*(h_{s}-Th_{s})(\lambda,x)-Gh_{s}(\lambda,x)\|_{L^{p}(I,\mathcal{B};d\lambda)}^{p}\\ &= \left\|\int_{\mathbb{R}}Q_{\delta}(\lambda-\tau)\left(h_{s}(\lambda,\tau,x)-Th_{s}(\tau,x)\right)d\tau-\frac{1}{\pi}\int_{\mathbb{R}}\frac{h_{s}(\lambda,\tau,x)-Th_{s}(\tau,x)}{\lambda-\tau}d\tau\right\|_{L^{p}(I,\mathcal{B})}^{p}\\ &= \frac{1}{\pi}\left\|\int_{\mathbb{R}}\frac{(\lambda-\tau)^{2}}{(\lambda-\tau)^{2}+\delta^{2}}\cdot\frac{h_{s}(\lambda,\tau,x)-Th_{s}(\tau,x)}{\lambda-\tau}d\tau-\int_{\mathbb{R}}\frac{h_{s}(\lambda,\tau,x)-Th_{s}(\tau,x)}{\lambda-\tau}d\tau\right\|_{L^{p}(I,\mathcal{B})}^{p}\\ &= \frac{1}{\pi}\left\|\int_{\mathbb{R}}\left(\frac{(\lambda-\tau)^{2}}{(\lambda-\tau)^{2}+\delta^{2}}-1\right)\chi_{I}(\tau)\frac{h_{s}(\lambda,\tau,x)-Th_{s}(\tau,x)}{\lambda-\tau}d\tau\right\|_{B}^{p}d\lambda\\ &\leq \frac{1}{\pi}\int_{I}\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}}\left|\frac{(\lambda-\tau)^{2}}{(\lambda-\tau)^{2}+\delta^{2}}-1\right|\chi_{I}(\tau)\left|\frac{h_{s}(\lambda,\tau,x)-Th_{s}(\tau,x)}{\lambda-\tau}\right|_{B}d\tau\right)^{p}d\lambda\\ &\leq \frac{1}{\pi}\int_{I}\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}}\left|\frac{(\lambda-\tau)^{2}}{(\lambda-\tau)^{2}+\delta^{2}}-1\right|\chi_{I}(\tau)\operatorname{Lip}(h_{s})_{I}d\tau\right)^{p}d\lambda\quad \text{(by lemma 5.17)}\\ \delta \xrightarrow{\delta \to 0^{\pm}} 0 \qquad \text{(by Lebesgue dominated convergence).} \end{split}$$
With the truncated Hilbert transform from section 5.6 we see that (note that  $G^{(\delta)}h_s = H^{(\delta)}h_s - H^{(\delta)}Th_s$ , see (5.8))

$$\begin{aligned} & \|Q_{\delta} * h_{s} - H^{(\delta)}h_{s}\|_{L^{p}(I,\mathcal{B})} \\ & \leq & \|Q_{\delta} * (h_{s} - Th_{s}) - H^{(\delta)}(h_{s} - Th_{s})\|_{L^{p}(I,\mathcal{B})} + \|Q_{\delta} * Th_{s} - H^{(\delta)}Th_{s}\|_{L^{p}(I,\mathcal{B})} \\ & = & \|Q_{\delta} * (h_{s} - Th_{s}) - G^{(\delta)}h_{s}\|_{L^{p}(I,\mathcal{B})} + \|Q_{\delta} * Th_{s} - H^{(\delta)}Th_{s}\|_{L^{p}(I,\mathcal{B})} \\ & \xrightarrow{\delta \to 0^{\pm}} & 0, \end{aligned}$$

according to the last argument and theorem 4.1.5 in [41] and since  $G^{(\delta)}h_s \xrightarrow{\delta \to 0^{\pm}} Gh_s$  in  $L^p(I, \mathcal{B})$ . And since  $H^{(\delta)}(Th_s) \xrightarrow{\delta \to 0^{\pm}} H(Th_s)$  in  $L^p(I, \mathcal{B})$ , we conclude

$$\|Q_{\delta} * h_{s} - Hh_{s}\|_{L^{p}(I,\mathcal{B})}$$

$$\leq \|Q_{\delta} * h_{s} - H^{(\delta)}h_{s}\|_{L^{p}(I,\mathcal{B})} - \|H^{(\delta)}h_{s} - Hh_{s}\|_{L^{p}(I,\mathcal{B})} \xrightarrow{\delta \to 0^{\pm}} 0.$$
(3.14)

**Theorem 3.31** (Limiting absorption principle for regular frequencies). Let  $\mathcal{L}$  and f be as in introduced in section 1.4 and 2.1. Let  $I_0 \subset \subset I \setminus \partial I$ ,  $I \subset \subset \mathcal{R}$  with  $\mathcal{R}$  introduced in section 3.1 of this chapter. V denotes the set  $\{k \in B : \lambda_s(k) \in I \text{ for some } s\}$  and  $r := \max\{|s| : s \in \mathcal{J}, \lambda_s(B) \cap I \neq \emptyset\}$ . Let

$$u_{\delta}(\lambda, x) := \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_{B} \frac{\langle (Uf)(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_{s}(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \psi_{s}(x, k)}{\lambda_{s}(k) - (\lambda + i\delta)} \, dk \tag{3.15}$$

be the unique  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$ -function solving

$$(P_{\delta}) \qquad (\mathcal{L} - \lambda - i\delta)u = f.$$

Define

$$u^{\pm}(\lambda, x) := \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_{B \setminus V} \frac{\langle (Uf)(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)} \psi_s(x, k)}{\lambda_s(k) - \lambda} dk \qquad (3.16)$$
$$+ \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}; \ |s| \le r} -\pi H h_s(\lambda, x) \pm i\pi T h_s(\lambda, x),$$

where H is the Hilbert transform from section 5.6, T is the trace operator on the diagonal from section 5.5 and  $h_s$  is the level set integral

$$h_s(\lambda,\tau,x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_{B^s_\tau} \frac{\langle (Uf)(\lambda,\cdot,k), \psi_s(\cdot,k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)} \psi_s(x,k)}{|\nabla \lambda_s(k)|} \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k) \tag{3.17}$$

discussed in section 3.5. Then

$$u_{\delta}(\lambda, x) \stackrel{\delta \to 0^{\pm}}{\longrightarrow} u^{\pm}(\lambda, x)$$

in  $L^p(I_0, \mathcal{B}; d\lambda)$  for any  $p \in (1, \infty)$  with a weight function w as in theorem 3.19 and  $u^{\pm}$  is a distributional solution of  $(P_0)$ , where the space of test functions is  $C_0^{\infty}(I_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$ .

**Remark 3.32.** We recognize that we can improve the representation theorem in section 3.4 for  $\lambda$  in an interval  $I_0$  of regular frequencies, since the distributional solution  $u^{\pm}$  of  $(\mathcal{L} - \lambda)u = f$  satisfies

$$u^{\pm}[\varphi] = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} u^{\pm}(\lambda, x)\varphi(\lambda, x) \, dx \, d\lambda$$
<sup>M</sup>) with  $u^{\pm}(\lambda, x)$  from (3.16)

for  $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(I_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$  with  $u^{\pm}(\lambda, x)$  from (3.16).

*Proof of theorem 3.31.* The convergence result follows from lemma 3.28 and proposition 3.29. The solution property of  $u^{\pm}$  follows from the convergence result, since for  $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1$ 

$$\begin{aligned} & \left| u_{\delta} [(\mathcal{L} - \lambda - i\delta)\varphi] - u^{\pm} [(\mathcal{L} - \lambda)\varphi] \right| \\ &= \left| u_{\delta} [(\mathcal{L} - \lambda - i\delta)\varphi] - u^{\pm} [(\mathcal{L} - \lambda - i\delta)\varphi] - i\delta u^{\pm}[\varphi] \right| \\ &\leq \int_{I_{0}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left| (u_{\delta}(\lambda, x) - u^{\pm}(\lambda, x)) \right| \left| (\mathcal{L} - \lambda - i\delta)\varphi(\lambda, x) \right| \, dx \, d\lambda + \left| i\delta u^{\pm}[\varphi] \right| \\ &\leq \int_{I_{0}} \left\| (u_{\delta}(\lambda, \cdot) - u^{\pm}(\lambda, \cdot))\sqrt{w} \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \left\| (\mathcal{L} - \lambda - i\delta)\varphi(\lambda, \cdot) \frac{1}{\sqrt{w}} \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \, d\lambda \\ &+ \left| i\delta u^{\pm}[\varphi] \right| \\ &= \int_{I_{0}} \left\| u_{\delta}(\lambda, \cdot) - u^{\pm}(\lambda, \cdot) \right\|_{\mathcal{B}} \left\| (\mathcal{L} - \lambda - i\delta)\varphi(\lambda, \cdot) \frac{1}{\sqrt{w}} \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \, d\lambda \\ &+ \left| \delta u^{\pm}[\varphi] \right| \\ &\leq \left\| u_{\delta} - u^{\pm} \right\|_{L^{p}(I_{0}, \mathcal{B})} \left\| (\mathcal{L} - \lambda - i\delta)\varphi \frac{1}{\sqrt{w}} \right\|_{L^{q}(I_{0}, L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d}))} + \left| \delta u^{\pm}[\varphi] \right| \\ &\frac{\delta \rightarrow 0^{\pm}}{\longrightarrow} 0 \cdot \left\| (\mathcal{L} - \lambda)\varphi \frac{1}{\sqrt{w}} \right\|_{L^{q}(I_{0}, L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d}))} + 0 = 0. \end{aligned}$$

So

$$f[\varphi] = u_{\delta}[(\mathcal{L} - \lambda - i\delta)\varphi] \xrightarrow{\delta \to 0^{\pm}} u^{\pm}[(\mathcal{L} - \lambda)\varphi]$$

giving

$$u^{\pm}[(\mathcal{L}-\lambda)\varphi] = f[\varphi] \quad (\forall \varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(I_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)).$$

#### 3.7 Comments

**Remark 3.33.** The "evanescent" part<sup>4</sup> of  $u^{\pm}$  given by

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_{B \setminus V} \frac{\langle (Uf)(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)} \psi_s(x, k)}{\lambda_s(k) - \lambda} \, dk$$

in fact is in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  with respect to the variable x, which can be seen from the proof of lemma 3.28.

The "point evaluation" part

$$\sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}; \ |s| \le r} \pm i\pi T h_s(\lambda, x)$$

of  $u^{\pm}$ , in informal notation

$$Th_{s}(\lambda, x) = h_{s}(\lambda, \lambda, x)$$

$$= \int_{\{\lambda_{s}(k)=\lambda\}} \frac{\langle (Uf)(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_{s}(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \psi_{s}(x, k)}{|\nabla \lambda_{s}(k)|} d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k), \qquad (3.18)$$

describes the propagating part of  $u^{\pm}$ , that is carried by Bloch modes, which correspond directly to the frequency  $\lambda$  at which the system is excited, because the integration in (3.18) accesses only Bloch waves  $\psi_s(\cdot, k)$  with s and k such that  $\lambda_s(k) = \lambda$  holds. To call this part "propagating" is justified by the fact that it is in a weighted  $L^2$ -space with respect to the variable x and by the properties of the weight function w, it decays (in general, depending on the right hand side f) slower than a  $L^2$ -function when  $|x| \to \infty$ , in contrast to other parts of  $u^{\pm}$  that are truly in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  with respect to the variable x.

It would be satisfying to show that

$$\sum_{s\in\mathcal{J};\;|s|\leq r}-\pi Hh_s(\lambda,x)$$

is also evanescent, i.e. in  $L^2$  with respect to the variable x. Note that this is true for  $H^{(\varepsilon)}h_s$  for any  $\varepsilon > 0$  by lemma 3.24. But the convergence of  $H^{(\varepsilon)}h_s$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0$  is in the space  $L^p(I_0, \mathcal{B})$ . Since the properties of the weight function allow only the estimate

$$\left\|\cdot\right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d,w(x)dx)} \le C \left\|\cdot\right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>By this we mean a part of the solution with the fastest decay behavior compared with other parts of  $u^{\pm}$ . Usually an exponential decay is assumed, but for our purpose it is sufficient to distinguish parts in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and parts in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d; w(x)dx)$ .

but not the converse, the evanescence of the Hilbert transform part of  $u^{\pm}$  is not seen in such a direct way (but compare the quasi 1-D case in [28], where the only propagating part of the solution arises from "point evaluations"). This work leaves the question open.

**Remark 3.34.** If f does not depend on  $\lambda$ , we can drop the compact support of f and demand only  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Also the trace operator T is not needed and the Hilbert transform H is the standard Hilbert transform on  $L^2$ . Then the notation

$$u^{\pm}(\lambda, x) := \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_{B \setminus V} \frac{\langle (Uf)(\cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)} \psi_s(x, k)}{\lambda_s(k) - \lambda} dk$$
$$+ \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}; \ |s| \le r} -\pi H h_s(\lambda, x) \pm i\pi h_s(\lambda, x) \in L^2(I, \mathcal{B}; d\lambda)$$

is rigorous.

# Chapter 4

# The limit amplitude principle for regular frequencies

In this chapter we prove the limit amplitude principle for the class of operators as in section 1.4. So the powerful tool of Floquet-Bloch transform with all its implications including the limiting absorption principles from chapter 2 and 3 will be available. To apply known theory on the asymptotics of solutions of the wave equation, we will need the additional assumption (6) in section 1.4, i.e. the spectrum of  $\mathcal{L}$  is absolutely continuous and  $\lambda_s$  strictly positive for all  $s \in \mathcal{J}$ . From the continuity properties of  $\lambda_s$  follows that  $\lambda_s(k) \ge q > 0$  for some  $q \in \mathbb{R}$  and all  $s \in \mathcal{J}, k \in B$ .

An important tool to show the limit amplitude principle is the well-known representation formula

$$u(t) = u_{\text{trans.}}(t) + u_{\text{as.}}(t) = \cos(\mathcal{L}^{1/2}t)u^0 + \mathcal{L}^{-1/2}\sin(\mathcal{L}^{1/2}t)u^1 + \int_0^t \mathcal{L}^{-1/2}\sin(\mathcal{L}^{1/2}(t-\sigma)) e^{i\omega\sigma}g \, d\sigma$$

for the solution of the wave equation with initial conditions  $u^0$ ,  $u^1$  obtained by a diagonalization method (see [30], Chapter XV). "trans." stands for "transitory term" which corresponds to the homogeneous case ( $e^{i\omega t}g = 0$ ) and is a free oscillation term. "as." stands for "asymptotic term" and corresponds to forced oscillations due to the source  $e^{i\omega t}g$ . From this formula we will show, using the Floquet-Bloch decomposition, a certain representation of  $u_{as.}$  involving the Hilbert transform of the level set integrals  $h_s$  from the last chapter. This representation will be crucial in the study of the asymptotic behavior of  $u_{as.}$  as  $t \to \infty$ , where we use the Fourier transform as the main tool.

The proof of the equivalence of the principle of limit amplitude and limit absorption consists basically of the fact that the function v satisfying

$$u(t) \sim e^{i\omega t} v \text{ as } t \to \infty$$

exists and is uniquely determined.

#### **4.1** Functions of the operator $\mathcal{L}$

We will need to define operators  $\rho(\mathcal{L}, t)$  where  $\rho$  is a continuous function depending in addition on the time t. Defining functions of self adjoint operators is a standard construction (see [23], chapter VII for continuous functional calculus and chapter VIII for bounded and unbounded Borel functional calculus for self adjoint operators). By virtue of the Floquet-Bloch transform U we can define directly  $\rho(\mathcal{L}, t)$  for continuous  $\rho$ . To do this, neither  $\rho$  nor  $\mathcal{L}$  needs to be bounded. This subsection therefore is used to introduce the operator  $\rho(\mathcal{L}, t)$ and its domain and to collect some simple statements for later reference.

For abbreviation define

$$P_{s,k}[h](x) = \langle Uh(\cdot,k), \psi_s(\cdot,k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega,\mathbb{C}^M)} \psi_s(x,k)$$
(4.1)

the projection on span{ $\psi_s(\cdot, k)$ }. To simplify the notation we will suppress the target space  $\mathbb{C}^M$  in the proofs from now on.

**Definition 4.1.** Let  $\rho : (0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  be a continuous function. Then for  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  fixed we define the operator

$$\rho(\mathcal{L},t): \quad D(\rho(\mathcal{L},t)) \subseteq L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M) 
\rho(\mathcal{L},t)u(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_B \rho(\lambda_s(k),t) P_{s,k}[u](x) \, dk,$$
(4.2)

with domain

$$D(\rho(\mathcal{L},t)) = \{ u \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M) : \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_B \rho(\lambda_s(k), t) P_{s,k}[u] \ dk \ converges \ in \ L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M) \}.$$

Note that due to the convergence in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$  one can interchange the sum over s and the integral over B.

**Definition 4.2.** For any fixed  $t \ge 0$  define operators  $\mathcal{L}^{1/2}$ ,  $\cos \mathcal{L}^{1/2}t$ ,  $\sin \mathcal{L}^{1/2}t$  and  $\mathcal{L}^{-1/2}$ according to definition 4.1. For example  $\mathcal{L}^{-1/2} = \rho_1(\mathcal{L}, t)$  with  $\rho_1(x, t) = x^{-1/2}$  and  $\sin \mathcal{L}^{1/2}t = \rho_2(\mathcal{L}, t)$  with  $\rho_2(x, t) = \sin(\sqrt{x}t)$ . Hence in particular, with  $\mathcal{L}$  also  $\mathcal{L}^{1/2}$  is in the class of Floquet decomposable operators from section 1.4 (satisfying the additional requirement (6)) with strictly positive real spectrum.

**Lemma 4.3.** Let  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  be fixed. If  $\rho(\cdot, t)$  is bounded then  $D(\rho(\mathcal{L}, t)) = L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$  and  $\rho(\mathcal{L}, t)$  is bounded. For a continuous and bounded  $\rho(\cdot, t)$  and any continuous  $\tilde{\rho}(\cdot, t)$ ,  $\rho(\mathcal{L}, t)$  and  $\tilde{\rho}(\mathcal{L}, t)$  commute in the sense that

$$D(\rho(\mathcal{L},t)\widetilde{\rho}(\mathcal{L},t)) = D(\widetilde{\rho}(\mathcal{L},t)\rho(\mathcal{L},t)) = D(\widetilde{\rho}(\mathcal{L},t))$$

and for all  $u \in D(\widetilde{\rho}(\mathcal{L}, t))$ 

$$\rho(\mathcal{L}, t)\widetilde{\rho}(\mathcal{L}, t)u = \widetilde{\rho}(\mathcal{L}, t)\rho(\mathcal{L}, t)u$$

holds.

*Proof.* If  $\rho(\cdot, t)$  is bounded, then there exists a constant c > 0 such that  $|\rho(\lambda_s(k), t)|^2 \leq c$  for all  $s \in \mathcal{J}$  and  $k \in B$ . For  $u \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$  the following calculation holds using the isometry property of U and the orthonormality of  $\psi_s(\cdot, k)$  in  $L^2(\Omega)$ .

$$\begin{split} \|\rho(\mathcal{L},t)u\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})}^{2} &= \left\|\frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \rho(\lambda_{s}(k),t) \langle Uu,\psi_{s} \rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \psi_{s}(\cdot,k) \, dk \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})}^{2} \\ &= \left\|\sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \rho(\lambda_{s}(k),t) \langle Uu,\psi_{s} \rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \psi_{s}(\cdot,k) \right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega \times B)}^{2} \\ &= \int_{B} \left\|\sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \rho(\lambda_{s}(k),t) \langle Uu,\psi_{s} \rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \psi_{s}(\cdot,k) \right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \, dk \\ &= \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} |\rho(\lambda_{s}(k),t)|^{2} |\langle Uu,\psi_{s} \rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega)}|^{2} \, \|\psi_{s}(\cdot,k)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \, dk \\ &\leq c \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} |\langle Uu,\psi_{s} \rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega)}|^{2} \, dk \\ &= c \, \|Uu\|_{L^{2}(\Omega \times B)}^{2} = c \, \|u\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})}^{2} \, . \end{split}$$

For  $u \in D(\tilde{\rho}(\mathcal{L}, t))$ ,  $\|\rho(\mathcal{L}, t)\tilde{\rho}(\mathcal{L}, t)u\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)}^2$  can be estimated in an analogous way, from which the remaining statements immediately follow.

**Lemma 4.4.** For the domain of  $\mathcal{L}^{1/2}$  the following holds

- (i)  $D(\mathcal{L}) \subseteq D(\mathcal{L}^{1/2})$
- (ii)  $\mathcal{L}^{1/2}D(\mathcal{L}) \subseteq D(\mathcal{L}^{1/2})$

*Proof.* To show (i) we use the same technique as in the proof of lemma 4.3, noting that  $\frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}} \leq c$  for some c > 0.

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)} \langle Uu, \psi_{s} \rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \psi_{s}(\cdot, k) \, dk \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})}^{2} \\ &= \left\| \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)}} \lambda_{s}(k) \langle Uu, \psi_{s} \rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \psi_{s}(\cdot, k) \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})}^{2} \, dk \\ &= \int_{B} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \left| \frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)}} \right|^{2} |\lambda_{s}(k) \langle Uu, \psi_{s} \rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega)}|^{2} \, dk \\ &\leq c^{2} \left\| \mathcal{L}u \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})}^{2}, \end{aligned}$$

and hence  $u \in D(\mathcal{L}^{1/2})$  if  $u \in D(\mathcal{L})$ . For (ii) let  $u \in \mathcal{L}^{1/2}D(\mathcal{L})$ , i.e.  $u = \mathcal{L}^{1/2}v$  with some  $v \in D(\mathcal{L}^{1/2})$ . Since  $D(\mathcal{L}) \subseteq D(\mathcal{L}^{1/2})$  we obtain

$$\left\|\mathcal{L}^{1/2}u\right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} = \left\|\mathcal{L}^{1/2}\mathcal{L}^{1/2}v\right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} = \left\|\mathcal{L}v\right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} < \infty.$$

**Lemma 4.5.** Assume that  $\rho : (0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  is continuously differentiable in a neighborhood of  $\sigma(\mathcal{L}) \times \mathbb{R}$  and  $|(\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\rho)(y,\xi)| \leq c(\xi)$ , where  $\xi \mapsto c(\xi)$  is locally bounded. Then for all  $u \in \bigcap_{\tau \in (t-\varepsilon,t+\varepsilon)} D(\rho(\mathcal{L},\tau)) \cap D((\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\rho)(\mathcal{L},t))$  for some small  $\varepsilon$  the function  $t \mapsto \rho(\mathcal{L},t)u$ 

is classically differentiable as a function with values in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$  and

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\left(\rho(\mathcal{L},t)u\right) = \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\rho\right)(\mathcal{L},t)u$$

holds.

*Proof.* For small  $h \neq 0$ , we have for the difference quotient

$$\frac{\rho(\mathcal{L}, t+h)u - \rho(\mathcal{L}, t)u}{h} - \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\rho\right)(\mathcal{L}, t)u$$

$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_B \sum_s \left( \frac{\rho(\lambda_s(k), t+h) - \rho(\lambda_s(k), t)}{h} - \left( \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \rho \right) (\lambda_s(k), t) \right) P_{s,k}[u] \, dk.$$

Using the isometry property of U and Parseval's identity we perform the following calculation

$$\begin{split} &\lim_{h\to 0} \left\| \frac{\rho(\mathcal{L},t+h)u - \rho(\mathcal{L},t)u}{h} - \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\rho\right)(\mathcal{L},t)u \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})}^{2} \\ &= \lim_{h\to 0} \left\| \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_{B} \sum_{s} \left( \frac{\rho(\lambda_{s}(k),t+h) - \rho(\lambda_{s}(k),t)}{h} - \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\rho\right)(\lambda_{s}(k),t)\right) P_{s,k}[u] \, dk \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})}^{2} \\ &= \lim_{h\to 0} \left\| \sum_{s} \left( \frac{\rho(\lambda_{s}(k),t+h) - \rho(\lambda_{s}(k),t)}{h} - \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\rho\right)(\lambda_{s}(k),t)\right) P_{s,k}[u] \right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega\times B)}^{2} \\ &= \lim_{h\to 0} \int_{B} \sum_{s} \left| \frac{\rho(\lambda_{s}(k),t+h) - \rho(\lambda_{s}(k),t)}{h} - \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\rho\right)(\lambda_{s}(k),t) \right|^{2} |\langle Uu,\psi_{s}\rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega)}|^{2} \, dk. \end{split}$$

Since  $\left|\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\rho\right)(y,\xi)\right| \leq c(\xi)$ , where  $\xi \mapsto c(\xi)$  is locally bounded, for all  $|h| \leq h_0$  there exists, by the mean value theorem of calculus, a constant c > 0 independent of h, s and k such that

$$\frac{\rho(\lambda_s(k), t+h) - \rho(\lambda_s(k), t)}{h} - \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\rho\right) (\lambda_s(k), t) \Big|^2 \le c.$$

Since for the rest

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_B \sum_s |\langle Uu, \psi_s \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)}|^2 \, dk = \|Uu\|_{L^2(\Omega \times B)}^2 = \|u\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)}^2 < \infty$$

holds, Lebesgue's dominated convergence is applicable to move the limit  $h \to 0$  inside the integral and the sum. So we arrive at

$$\begin{split} \sqrt{|B|} \lim_{h \to 0} \left\| \frac{\rho(\mathcal{L}, t+h)u - \rho(\mathcal{L}, t)u}{h} - \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\rho\right)(\mathcal{L}, t)u \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})}^{2} \\ &= \int_{B} \sum_{s} \lim_{h \to 0} \left| \frac{\rho(\lambda_{s}(k), t+h) - \rho(\lambda_{s}(k), t)}{h} - \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\rho\right)(\lambda_{s}(k), t) \right|^{2} |\langle Uu, \psi_{s} \rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega)}|^{2} dk \\ &= 0. \end{split}$$

I	

#### **4.2** The solution of the wave equation for $t < \infty$

For an operator  $\mathcal{L}$  as introduced in section 1.4 including assumption (6) we consider a wave type problem for  $\mathcal{L}$  as in [30] p.420

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial t^2} + \mathcal{L}u = e^{i\omega t}g, \\ u(0) = u^0, \\ \frac{\partial u}{\partial t}(0) = u^1, \end{cases}$$
(4.3)

with given data  $u^0 \in D(\mathcal{L}), u^1 \in D(\mathcal{L}^{1/2}), g \in D(\mathcal{L}^{1/2})$  and  $\omega \in (0, \infty)$ . We consider strong solutions of (4.3), i.e.  $u \in C^2([0,\infty), L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M))$  such that for all  $t \ge 0, u(t) \in D(\mathcal{L}), \frac{\partial u}{\partial t}(t) \in D(\mathcal{L}^{1/2}), \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial t^2}(t) \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M).$ 

**Proposition 4.6.** The strong solution of (4.3) as described above is unique.

*Proof.* If there is another solution  $\tilde{u}$  to (4.3) then  $w := u - \tilde{u}$  satisfies (4.3) with right hand side and initial conditions equal to 0. Then we deduce w = 0 adapting the proof of theorem 5, section 2.4.3 in [42]. The unboundedness of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  is no obstruction, since the energy

$$e(t) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| \frac{\partial w}{\partial t}(x,t) \right|_{\mathbb{C}^M}^2 + |\mathcal{L}^{1/2} w(x,t)|_{\mathbb{C}^M}^2 dx$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \left( \langle \frac{\partial w}{\partial t}(\cdot,t), \frac{\partial w}{\partial t}(\cdot,t) \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)} + \langle \mathcal{L}^{1/2} w(\cdot,t), \mathcal{L}^{1/2} w(\cdot,t) \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)} \right)$$

is finite for each  $t \ge 0$  by the hypotheses made on the strong solution. Differentiating e with respect to t and using that  $\mathcal{L}^{1/2}$  is symmetric yields (skipping the subscripts  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  of the inner products)

$$\frac{\partial e}{\partial t}(t) = \frac{1}{2} \left( \langle \frac{\partial^2 w}{\partial t^2}(\cdot, t), \frac{\partial w}{\partial t}(\cdot, t) \rangle + \langle \frac{\partial w}{\partial t}(\cdot, t), \frac{\partial^2 w}{\partial t^2}(\cdot, t) \rangle + \langle \mathcal{L}w(\cdot, t), \frac{\partial w}{\partial t}(\cdot, t) \rangle + \langle \frac{\partial w}{\partial t}(\cdot, t), \mathcal{L}w(\cdot, t) \rangle \right) = 0.$$

Since e(0) = 0 it follows that  $\mathcal{L}^{1/2}w = 0$ , and by the assumptions on  $\mathcal{L}^{1/2}$  (property (6) in section 1.4), w = 0.

The solution of the problem (4.3) can be written in the form (see [30])

$$u = u_{\text{trans.}} + u_{\text{as.}},\tag{4.4}$$

with

$$u_{\text{trans.}}(t) = \cos(\mathcal{L}^{1/2}t)u^0 + \mathcal{L}^{-1/2}\sin(\mathcal{L}^{1/2}t)u^1,$$
(4.5)

$$u_{\rm as.}(t) = \int_0^t \mathcal{L}^{-1/2} \sin\left(\mathcal{L}^{1/2}(t-\sigma)\right) e^{i\omega\sigma} g \, d\sigma, \tag{4.6}$$

which can be seen by directly differentiating u. Note that  $u_{\text{trans.}}$  depends only on the initial conditions  $u^0, u^1$  and not on  $e^{i\omega t}g$ , while  $u_{\text{as.}}$  depends only on the source  $e^{i\omega t}g$  and not on  $u^0, u^1$ .

From now on we restrict to an interval I of frequencies  $\omega \in (0, \infty)$  that is compactly embedded in the set of regular frequencies with respect to the band functions  $\sqrt{\lambda_s}$ . In this chapter V denotes the preimage of I under all band functions  $\sqrt{\lambda_s}$  of  $\mathcal{L}^{1/2}$ . Note that there is the parameter  $\omega$  in the equation (4.3), and thus the actual strong solution of (4.3) depends on  $\omega$ . We now start to regard the parameter  $\omega$  and the variable x on an equal footing, meaning that the solution u of (4.3) is for any fixed t a function of  $\omega$  and x, i.e.  $u(t) = u(t)(\omega, x) = u(t, \omega, x)$ . Then we have the following

**Lemma 4.7.** For any fixed  $t \ge 0$ , we can regard  $u_{trans.}(t)$  and  $u_{as.}(t)$  as elements of  $L^p(I, L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M; dx); d\omega), p \in (1, \infty)$ , and

$$u_{as.}(t) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_B \widehat{u}_{as.}(s, k, t, \omega) \ dk, \tag{4.7}$$

with

$$\widehat{u}_{as.}(s,k,t,\omega) = \int_0^t \frac{\sin\left(\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}(t-\sigma)\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}} e^{i\omega\sigma} P_{s,k}[g] \, d\sigma.$$
(4.8)

Note that this means

$$u_{as.}(t) = \int_0^t \mathcal{L}^{-1/2} \sin \mathcal{L}^{1/2}(t-\sigma) e^{i\omega\sigma} g \, d\sigma = \rho_\omega(\mathcal{L}, t) g \tag{4.9}$$

with

$$\rho_{\omega}(\lambda, t) = \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\sin(\sqrt{\lambda}(t-\sigma))}{\sqrt{\lambda}} e^{i\omega\sigma} \, d\sigma.$$
(4.10)

Proof. Note that

$$u_{\rm as.}(t) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_0^t \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_B \lambda_s(k)^{-1/2} \sin(\lambda_s(k)^{1/2}(t-\sigma)) e^{i\omega\sigma} P_{s,k}[g] \, dk \, d\sigma$$

by (4.6) and definition 4.1. Thus, to show (4.7), we have to justify the following rearrangement of integrations and summation

$$\int_{0}^{t} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_{B} \frac{\sin\left(\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)}(t-\sigma)\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)}} e^{i\omega\sigma} P_{s,k}[g] \, dk \, d\sigma$$
$$= \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_{B} \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\sin\left(\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)}(t-\sigma)\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)}} e^{i\omega\sigma} P_{s,k}[g] \, d\sigma \, dk. \tag{4.11}$$

We denote the left hand side of (4.11) by  $u_1$  and the right hand side by  $u_2$ . For any fixed  $\omega \in (0, \infty)$  and  $t \in [0, \infty)$ ,  $u_1$  and  $u_2$  are in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . For any test function  $\varphi = \varphi(x) \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  we will show that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} u_1(x)\varphi(x) \, dx = u_1[\varphi] = u_2[\varphi],$$

so  $u_1 = u_2$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d; dx)$  for any fixed  $\omega$ . Let  $\varphi = \varphi(x) \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . For  $t \ge 0, \omega \in (0, \infty)$  fixed, lemma 2.9 in chapter 2 implies that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_B \frac{\sin\left(\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}(t-\sigma)\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}} e^{i\omega\sigma} P_{s,k}[g](x)\varphi(x) \, dk \, dx$$
$$= \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_B \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{\sin\left(\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}(t-\sigma)\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}} e^{i\omega\sigma} P_{s,k}[g](x)\varphi(x) \, dx \, dk. \tag{4.12}$$

Interchanging  $\int_0^t$  and  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^d}$  in

$$\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_{B} \frac{\sin\left(\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)}(t-\sigma)\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)}} e^{i\omega\sigma} P_{s,k}[g](x)\varphi(x) \, dk \, dx \, d\sigma$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \int_{0}^{t} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_{B} \frac{\sin\left(\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)}(t-\sigma)\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)}} e^{i\omega\sigma} P_{s,k}[g](x)\varphi(x) \, dk \, d\sigma \, dx \tag{4.13}$$

is justified by Fubini's theorem, since one can show (basically using Cauchy-Schwarz inequality and orthonormality of  $\psi_s(\cdot, k)$  in  $L^2(\Omega)$ ) that

$$\int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_B \frac{\sin\left(\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}(t-\sigma)\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}} e^{i\omega\sigma} P_{s,k}[g](x)\varphi(x) \, dk \right| \, dx \, d\sigma < \infty.$$

(4.12) and (4.13) imply

$$u_1[\varphi] = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_0^t \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_B \frac{\sin\left(\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}(t-\sigma)\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}} e^{i\omega\sigma} P_{s,k}[g](x)\varphi(x) \, dk \, d\sigma \, dx$$

$$= \int_0^t \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_B \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{\sin\left(\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}(t-\sigma)\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}} e^{i\omega\sigma} P_{s,k}[g](x)\varphi(x) \, dx \, dk \, d\sigma.$$
(4.14)

By lemma 2.10 in chapter 2 we can change the order of the summation over s and the integrations  $d\sigma$  over (0, t) and dk over B in (4.14) arbitrarily while keeping the integration dx over  $\mathbb{R}^d$  in the innermost position. Thus we arrive at

$$u_1[\varphi] = \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_B \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{\sin\left(\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}(t-\sigma)\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}} e^{i\omega\sigma} P_{s,k}[g](x)\varphi(x) \, d\sigma \, dx \, dk.$$

For fixed s and k it is clear that one can interchange  $\int_0^t$  and  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^d}$ . Moving the integration over  $\mathbb{R}^d$  before the sum over s and the integral over B while keeping the integration over (0, t) in the innermost position works similar to the first step (4.12). The result is then

$$u_{1}[\varphi] = \int_{0}^{t} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_{B} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \frac{\sin\left(\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)}(t-\sigma)\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)}} e^{i\omega\sigma} P_{s,k}[g](x)\varphi(x) \, dx \, dk \, d\sigma$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_{B} \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\sin\left(\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)}(t-\sigma)\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)}} e^{i\omega\sigma} P_{s,k}[g](x)\varphi(x) \, d\sigma \, dk \, dx$$
$$= u_{2}[\varphi].$$

This implies

$$u_{\rm as.}(t) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} u_1 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} u_2 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_B \hat{u}_{\rm as.} \, dk$$

with  $\hat{u}_{as.}$  from (4.8).

It remains to show that  $u_{\text{trans.}}(t)$  and  $u_{\text{as.}}(t)$  are in  $L^p(I, L^2(\mathbb{R}^d; dx); d\omega)$ . For  $t \ge 0$  fixed,  $u_{\text{trans.}}(t)$  can be regarded as a function of  $\omega$  and x that clearly lies in  $L^p(I, L^2(\mathbb{R}^d; dx); d\omega)$ , since it does not depend on  $\omega$  and  $u_{\text{trans.}}(t) \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d; dx)$ . Concerning  $u_{\text{as.}}$ , notice that for the function  $\rho_{\omega}$  from (4.10)

$$|\rho_{\omega}(\lambda, t)| \le 2t^2$$

holds, so  $\rho_{\omega}(\mathcal{L}, t) : L^2(\mathbb{R}^d) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  is a bounded operator and since moreover  $u_{as.}(t) = \rho_{\omega}(\mathcal{L}, t)g$  by (4.9)

$$\begin{aligned} \|u_{\text{as.}}(t)\|_{L^{p}(I,L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d};dx);d\omega)}^{p} &= \int_{I} \|\rho_{\omega}(\mathcal{L},t)g\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})}^{p} d\omega \\ &\leq c \int_{I} \|g\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})}^{p} d\omega = c|I| \|g\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})}^{p} < \infty. \end{aligned}$$

So we can regard  $u_{as.}$  as an element of  $L^p(I, L^2(\mathbb{R}^d; dx); d\omega)$ .

**Lemma 4.8.** For  $\omega^2 \in \mathbb{C}, \ \omega^2 \notin \sigma(\mathcal{L})$ 

$$\widehat{u}_{as.}(s,k,t,\omega) = \frac{P_{s,k}[g]}{\lambda_s(k) - \omega^2} G(t,\omega,\lambda_s(k)), \qquad (4.15)$$

where

$$G(t,\omega,\eta) = e^{i\omega t} - \cos\left(\sqrt{\eta}t\right) - i\omega\frac{\sin\left(\sqrt{\eta}t\right)}{\sqrt{\eta}}.$$
(4.16)

*Proof.* We can literally transcribe a proof from [30], which uses integration by parts.

$$\begin{split} \widehat{u}_{\mathrm{as.}}(s,k,t) &= \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\sin\left(\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)}(t-\sigma)\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)}} e^{i\omega\sigma} P_{s,k}[g] \, d\sigma \\ &= P_{s,k}[g] \int_{0}^{t} e^{i\omega\sigma} \frac{\sin\left(\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)}(t-\sigma)\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)}} \, d\sigma \\ &= P_{s,k}[g] \left( \left[ e^{i\omega\sigma} \frac{\cos\left(\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)}(t-\sigma)\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)^{2}}} \right]_{\sigma=0}^{\sigma=t} \\ &- \int_{0}^{t} i\omega e^{i\omega\sigma} \frac{\cos\left(\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)}(t-\sigma)\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)^{2}}} \, d\sigma \right) \\ &= P_{s,k}[g] \left( e^{i\omega t} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)^{2}}} - \frac{\cos\left(\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)}t\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)^{2}}} \\ &- \int_{0}^{t} i\omega e^{i\omega\sigma} \frac{\cos\left(\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)}(t-\sigma)\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)^{2}}} \, d\sigma \right) \\ &= P_{s,k}[g] \left( e^{i\omega t} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)^{2}}} - \frac{\cos\left(\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)}t\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)^{2}}} \\ &- \left( \left[ -i\omega e^{i\omega\sigma} \frac{\sin\left(\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)}(t-\sigma)\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)^{3}}} \right]_{\sigma=0}^{\sigma=t} \\ &- \int_{0}^{t} \omega^{2} e^{i\omega\sigma} \frac{\sin\left(\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)}(t-\sigma)\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)^{3}}} \, d\sigma \right) \right) \\ &= P_{s,k}[g] \left( e^{i\omega t} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)^{2}}} - \frac{\cos\left(\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)}t\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)^{3}}} - i\omega \frac{\sin\left(\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)}t\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)^{3}}} \\ &+ \int_{0}^{t} \omega^{2} e^{i\omega\sigma} \frac{\sin\left(\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)}(t-\sigma)\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)^{3}}} \, d\sigma \right) \end{split}$$

$$= -\frac{P_{s,k}[g]}{\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}^2}G(t,\omega,\lambda_s(k)) + \frac{\omega^2}{\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}^2}\widehat{u}_{\mathrm{as.}}(s,k,t),$$

with G from (4.16). Now for  $\omega^2 \notin \sigma(\mathcal{L})$  we obtain the assertion.

The next lemma shows that we can extend the formula (4.15) for  $\hat{u}_{as.}$  to  $\omega^2 \in \sigma(\mathcal{L})$  such that (4.7) holds.

**Lemma 4.9.** For any fixed  $\omega \in (0, \infty)$ ,

$$u_{as.}(t) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_B \frac{P_{s,k}[g]}{\lambda_s(k) - \omega^2} G(t, \omega, \lambda_s(k)) \ dk,$$

where  $G(t, \omega, \eta)$  is defined in (4.16). Note that  $\frac{G(t, \omega, \lambda_s(k))}{\lambda_s(k) - \omega^2}$  is bounded in k for fixed  $t, \omega, s$ .

*Proof.* For  $\omega^2 \notin \sigma(\mathcal{L})$  the assertion follows from lemma 4.7 and 4.8. So let  $\omega^2 \in \sigma(\mathcal{L})$ . We consider the equation (4.3) with  $\omega$  replaced by  $\omega + i\delta$  for some  $\delta \neq 0$ . Then (4.3) is solved by  $u = u_{\text{trans.}} + u_{\text{as.}}^{\delta}$  with  $u_{\text{trans.}}$  and  $u_{\text{as.}}^{\delta}$  as in (4.6) with  $\omega$  replaced by  $\omega + i\delta$ . Then we claim that the following convergence

$$u_{\rm as.}^{\delta}(x,t) = \int_0^t \mathcal{L}^{-1/2} \sin \mathcal{L}^{1/2}(t-\sigma) g e^{i(\omega+i\delta)\sigma} d\sigma$$
$$\xrightarrow{\delta \to 0^{\pm}} \int_0^t \mathcal{L}^{-1/2} \sin \mathcal{L}^{1/2}(t-\sigma) g e^{i\omega\sigma} d\sigma = u_{\rm as.}(x,t)$$

in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  holds for any fixed  $t \ge 0$  and  $\omega \in (0,\infty)$ . To see this, first notice that as a consequence of lemma lemma 4.7

$$u_{\mathrm{as.}}^{\delta}(t) - u_{\mathrm{as.}}(t) = \zeta^{\delta}(\mathcal{L}, t)g$$

with

$$\zeta^{\delta}(x,t) := \int_0^t \frac{\sin(\sqrt{x}(t-\sigma))}{\sqrt{x}} \left( e^{i(\omega+i\delta)\sigma} - e^{i\omega\sigma} \right) \, d\sigma$$

for all  $|\delta| \leq \delta_0$ . Clearly there exists a c > 0 independent of  $\delta$  such that  $|\zeta^{\delta}(x,t)| \leq c$ . Furthermore

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \zeta^{\delta}(x,t) = 0,$$

so the convergence of  $u_{as.}^{\delta}$  follows by Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem. Since the spectrum of  $\mathcal{L}$  is real, for  $\omega^2 \in \sigma(\mathcal{L})$  and any  $\delta \neq 0$  we have  $(\omega + i\delta)^2 \notin \sigma(\mathcal{L})$  and so by lemma 4.8

$$\widehat{u}_{\text{as.}}(s,k,t,\omega+i\delta) = \frac{P_{s,k}[g]}{\lambda_s(k) - (\omega+i\delta)^2} G(t,\omega+i\delta,\lambda_s(k)).$$
(4.17)

By lemma 4.7

$$u_{\mathrm{as.}}^{\delta}(x,t) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_{B} \frac{P_{s,k}[g]}{\lambda_{s}(k) - (\omega + i\delta)^{2}} G(t,\omega + i\delta,\lambda_{s}(k)) \, dk.$$

The limit  $\delta \to 0$  of the right hand side of the above formula exists in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and is equal to

$$\sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_B \frac{P_{s,k}[g]}{\lambda_s(k) - \omega^2} G(t, \omega, \lambda_s(k)) \ dk$$

for any fixed  $t \ge 0$  and  $\omega \in (0, \infty)$  by Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem since we can find a suitable bound as follows. Since only finitely many  $\sqrt{\lambda_s}$  can intersect at a certain  $\omega$  there is a maximal number r such that possibly  $\lambda_s(k) = \omega^2$  for some k and s with  $|s| \le r$ . For all s with |s| > r the function

$$\frac{G(t,\omega+i\delta,\lambda_s(k))}{\lambda_s(k)-(\omega+i\delta)^2}$$

is clearly bounded by a constant c independent of  $|\delta| \leq \delta_0$ , |s| > r,  $k \in B$ . Consider now  $|s| \leq r$ . Using the Taylor series expansion for  $G(t, \cdot, \lambda_s(k))$  at  $\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}$  yields  $(R(\omega) = \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} (it)^n e^{i\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}t} \left(\omega - \sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}\right)^n$  being the remainder term in the power series)

$$G(t,\omega+i\delta,\lambda_s(k)) = 0 + \left(ite^{i\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}t} - i\frac{\sin\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}t}{\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}}\right)(\omega+i\delta - \sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}) + R(\omega+i\delta).$$

For the finite number of s with  $|s| \leq r$  we show that for all small  $|\delta| \leq \delta_0$ 

$$\left|\frac{G(t,\omega+i\delta,\lambda_s(k))}{\lambda_s(k)-(\omega+i\delta)^2}\right| = \left|\frac{e^{i(\omega+i\delta)t}-\cos\left(\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)t}\right)-i(\omega+i\delta)\frac{\sin\left(\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)t}\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}}}{\lambda_s(k)-(\omega+i\delta)^2}\right|$$
$$\leq \left|\frac{ite^{i\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)t}}-i\frac{\sin\left(\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)t}\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}}}{\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}+\omega+i\delta}\right| + \left|\frac{R(\omega+i\delta)}{(\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}+\omega+i\delta)(\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}-(\omega+i\delta))}\right|$$

$$\leq \frac{t+t}{\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}+\omega} + \left| \frac{R(\omega+i\delta)}{(\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}+\omega+i\delta)(\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}-(\omega+i\delta))} \right|$$
  
$$\leq \frac{t+t}{\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}+\omega} + \frac{\exp(t(\omega+\delta_0+\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}))}{(\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}+\omega)(\omega+\delta_0+\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)})} \leq c$$

holds for some c > 0 that is independent of  $|\delta| \le \delta_0$ ,  $|s| \le r$  and  $k \in B$  (recall  $\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)} \ge q > 0$ ). Since  $u_{as.}^{\delta} \to u_{as.}$  for  $\delta \to 0$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  the assertion follows.  $\Box$ 

Now we are interested in the asymptotic behavior of  $u_{as}$  as  $t \to \pm \infty$ . To this end, it is favorable to rewrite  $u_{as}$  in terms of the standard Hilbert transform H after using partial fraction decomposition and the Coarea formula. Since the right hand side g of the corresponding Helmholtz equation of (4.3) is constant in  $\omega$  this situation is simpler than in chapter 3 and we do not need the subinterval  $I_0$  either. Thus, like in chapter 3 level set integrals will appear which lie in a weighted  $L^2$ -space.

Let w be a weight function as in theorem 3.19. Recall

$$\mathcal{B} = L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M; w(x)dx)$$
(4.18)

with inner product denoted by  $f \cdot g$  or  $\langle f, g \rangle_{\mathcal{B}}$  given by

$$\langle f,g \rangle_{\mathcal{B}} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f \overline{g} w(x) dx$$

In the calculations we will prefer the notation  $f \cdot g$ .

**Proposition 4.10.** Let I be an interval that is compactly embedded in the set of regular values of all  $\sqrt{\lambda_s}$  and V its preimage under all  $\sqrt{\lambda_s}$ . Then with G from (4.16)

$$u_{as.}(x,t) = \frac{1}{2\omega\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s\in\mathcal{J}} \int_{B\setminus V} \frac{P_{s,k}[g]}{(\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)} - \omega)} G(t,\omega,\lambda_s(k)) \, dk \tag{4.19}$$
$$-\frac{1}{2\omega} \sum_{s\in\mathcal{J}; |s| \le r} \pi H \left(h_s(\tau,x)G(t,\omega,\tau)\right)(\omega)$$
$$-\frac{1}{2\omega\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s\in\mathcal{J}} \int_B \frac{P_{s,k}[g]}{(\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)} + \omega)} G(t,\omega,\lambda_s(k)) \, dk.$$

with the level set integral  $h_s$  being

$$h_s(\tau, x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_{B^s_\tau} \frac{\langle Ug(\cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)} \psi_s(x, k)}{|\nabla \sqrt{\lambda_s}(k)|} \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k), \tag{4.20}$$

where we put  $h_s(\tau, x) = 0$  if  $\tau \notin I$ . In contrast to chapter 3 the level sets are taken from the functions  $\sqrt{\lambda_s}$ , i.e. in this chapter

$$B^s_\tau = \{k \in B : \sqrt{\lambda_s}(k) = \tau\}$$

*Proof.* Note that in the second line of (4.19) the Hilbert transform is not really a singular integral but rather

$$\begin{aligned} &-\frac{1}{2\omega}H\left(h_{s}(\tau,x)G(t,\omega,\tau)\right)\left(\omega\right)\\ &= -\frac{1}{2\omega}\lim_{\varepsilon\to 0}\int_{|\tau-\omega|\geq\varepsilon}\frac{\chi_{I}(\tau)h_{s}(\tau,x)G(t,\omega,\tau)}{\omega-\tau}\,d\tau\\ &= -\frac{1}{2\omega}\int_{I}\frac{h_{s}(\tau,x)\left(e^{i\omega t}-\cos(\tau t)-i\omega\frac{\sin(\tau t)}{\tau}\right)}{\omega-\tau}\,d\tau\\ &= -\frac{1}{2\omega\sqrt{|B|}}\int_{I}\int_{B_{\tau}^{s}}\frac{\langle Ug(\cdot,k),\psi_{s}(\cdot,k)\rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega)}\psi_{s}(x,k)}{|\nabla\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)}|(\omega-\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)})}G(t,\omega,\lambda_{s}(k))\,d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k)\,d\tau\\ &= \frac{1}{2\omega\sqrt{|B|}}\int_{V}\frac{\langle Ug(\cdot,k),\psi_{s}(\cdot,k)\rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega)}\psi_{s}(x,k)}{\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)}-\omega}G(t,\omega,\lambda_{s}(k))\,dk,\end{aligned}$$

unveiling how the Coarea formula comes into play. Undoing the partial fraction decomposition proves the statement (compare with lemma 4.9).  $\Box$ 

Though the representation of  $u_{as.}$  by (4.19) might seem to complicate things, it opens a way to regroup the terms on the right hand side using the linearity of H. Then the arising integrals will be really singular, but can be dealt with thanks to the properties of H. The partial fraction decomposition is for technical reasons which will become clear, when we will use Fourier transforms to obtain the asymptotical behavior as  $t \to \pm \infty$  of parts of  $u_{as.}$ .

# 4.3 Asymptotic behavior of the solution of the wave equation for $t \to \pm \infty$

In this subsection we study the asymptotic behavior of  $u_{as.}(t)$  and  $u_{trans.}(t)$  for  $t \to \pm \infty$ . To keep the notation simpler, we will suppress the x variable in the level set integral (4.20) and regard

$$\tau \mapsto h_s(\tau)$$

as a  $L^2$ -function with values in  $\mathcal{B} = L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M; w(x)dx)$  and support in I (compare with section 3.5). Thus, integrating  $h_s$  over  $\mathbb{R}$  means integrating in the sense of Bochner integral. Eventually we will see, that the asymptotic behavior of the solution u of the wave equation (4.3) is connected to the corresponding Helmholtz equation

$$(\mathcal{L} - \omega^2)v = g. \tag{4.21}$$

Since we will make excessive use of Fourier transforms with respect to several sets of variables, it will help to make the following

**Definition 4.11.** We use this notation for Fourier transforms to emphasize what variables are involved

$$\mathcal{F}_{ab}h(c) = \left. \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-iab} h(b) db \right|_{a=c},$$

or even

$$\left(\mathcal{F}_{ab}h(b)\right)(c) = \left.\int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-iab}h(b)db\right|_{a=c}.$$

Fourier transforms on  $L^2$  will also indicate which variables are involved if necessary, i.e. for a  $L^2$  function h in the variable t,  $\mathcal{F}_{\tau t}h$  is the Fourier transform of h in the variable  $\tau$ .

# **4.3.1** Asymptotic behavior of the parts of $u_{as.}$ involving the Hilbert transform H

First we take care of the the parts of  $u_{as}$  that contain the Hilbert transform H, i.e. the second line of (4.19). Inserting a zero in the form  $-i \sin \tau t + i \sin \tau t$  we can split the second line of (4.19) in the following way:

$$-\pi H\left(h_{s}(\tau)\left(e^{i\omega t}-\cos(\tau t)-i\omega\frac{\sin(\tau t)}{\tau}\right)\right)(\omega)$$

$$= -\pi H\left(h_{s}(\tau)\left(e^{i\omega t}-\cos(\tau t)-i\sin\tau t+i\sin\tau t-i\omega\frac{\sin(\tau t)}{\tau}\right)\right)(\omega)$$

$$= -\pi H\left(h_{s}(\tau)\left(e^{i\omega t}-e^{i\tau t}+i\tau\frac{\sin\tau t}{\tau}-i\omega\frac{\sin(\tau t)}{\tau}\right)\right)(\omega)$$

$$= -\pi Hh_{s}(\omega)e^{i\omega t}+\pi H\left(h_{s}(\tau)e^{i\tau t}\right)(\omega)$$

$$+\pi H\left(h_{s}(\tau)\left(i(\omega-\tau)\frac{\sin\tau t}{\tau}\right)\right)\right)(\omega).$$
(4.22)

Now we will determine the asymptotic behavior for  $t \to +\infty$  for each of the three resulting summands in (4.22), beginning with the last one.

**Lemma 4.12.**  $\pi H\left(i(\omega-\tau)\frac{\sin(\tau t)}{\tau}h_s(\tau)\right)(\omega)$  is constant in  $\omega$  and tends to 0 in  $\mathcal{B}$  as  $t \to \pm \infty$ .

*Proof.* supp $(h_s) \subseteq (0, \infty)$  and  $h_s \in L^2(I, \mathcal{B})$  (see lemma 3.23) yields

$$\pi H\left(i(\omega-\tau)\frac{\sin(\tau t)}{\tau}h_s(\tau)\right)(\omega) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{|\omega-\tau| \ge \varepsilon} \frac{1}{\omega-\tau}i\pi(\omega-\tau)\frac{\sin(\tau t)}{\tau}h_s(\tau) d\tau$$
$$= i\pi \int_{\mathbb{R}} \sin(\tau t)\frac{h_s(\tau)}{\tau} d\tau \xrightarrow{t \to \pm \infty} 0$$

in  $\mathcal{B}$  for any fixed  $\omega$  according to the Riemann-Lebesgue lemma.

To see the asymptotics of the second summand in (4.22) we will need the following two lemmata.

**Lemma 4.13.** For  $\mathcal{B}$ -valued Schwarz functions  $\varphi$  and  $f \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$  we have

$$\mathcal{F}_{t\tau}\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} f(\sigma)\varphi(\sigma)e^{-i\sigma\tau}d\sigma\right)(t) = f(-t)\varphi(-t).$$

*Proof.* Let  $\psi = \psi(t)$  be a *B*-valued Schwartz function on  $\mathbb{R}$ . Then the following calculation proves the statement, where  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  denotes the duality action of a distribution on the Schwartz space.

$$\langle \mathcal{F}_{t\tau} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}} f(\sigma) \varphi(\sigma) e^{-i\sigma\tau} d\sigma \right), \psi \rangle$$

$$= \langle \int_{\mathbb{R}} f(\sigma) \varphi(\sigma) e^{-i\sigma\tau} d\sigma, \mathcal{F}_{\tau t} \psi \rangle$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} f(\sigma) \varphi(\sigma) e^{-i\sigma\tau} d\sigma \cdot \mathcal{F}_{\tau t} \psi(\tau) d\tau$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}} f(\sigma) \varphi(\sigma) \cdot \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-i\sigma\tau} \mathcal{F}_{\tau t} \psi(\tau) d\tau d\sigma \quad \text{by Fubini's theorem,}$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}} f(\sigma) \varphi(\sigma) \cdot \mathcal{F}_{\sigma\tau} \mathcal{F}_{\tau t} \psi(\sigma) d\sigma$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}} f(\sigma) \varphi(\sigma) \cdot \psi(-\sigma) d\sigma$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}} f(-\sigma)\varphi(-\sigma) \cdot \psi(\sigma) \ d\sigma$$
$$= \langle f(-\cdot)\varphi(-\cdot), \psi(\cdot) \rangle.$$

Here we have used  $\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\tau}\mathcal{F}_{\tau t}\psi(\sigma) = \psi(-\sigma)$ .

The following lemma is standard from harmonic analysis.

**Lemma 4.14.** Let  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{B})$  have compact support and g be uniformly continuous on  $\mathbb{R}$ and  $\mathcal{F}g \in L^1(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{B})$ . Then  $f \cdot g \in L^1(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C})$  and  $\mathcal{F}(f \cdot g) = \mathcal{F}f * \mathcal{F}g$ . (By  $f \cdot g$  we mean the  $\mathbb{C}$ -valued function  $x \mapsto f(x) \cdot g(x)$  and by the convolution f \* g of two  $\mathcal{B}$ -valued functions we mean the  $\mathbb{C}$ -valued function  $x \mapsto (f * g)(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} f(x - y) \cdot g(y) \, dy$ ).

Proof.

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{F}(f \cdot g)(\xi) &= \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-ix\xi} f(x) \cdot g(x) \, dx \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-ix\xi} f(x) \cdot \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{i\eta x} \mathcal{F}g(\eta) \, d\eta \, dx \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-ix\xi} e^{i\eta x} f(x) \cdot \mathcal{F}g(\eta) \, dx \, d\eta \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-ix(\xi-\eta)} f(x) \, dx \right) \cdot \mathcal{F}g(\eta) \, d\eta \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathcal{F}f(\xi-\eta) \cdot \mathcal{F}g(\eta) \, d\eta \\ &= (\mathcal{F}f * \mathcal{F}g)(\xi). \end{aligned}$$

With this two lemmata we can prove the following, crucial

**Proposition 4.15.** As  $t \to \pm \infty$  we have the convergence

$$e^{-i\omega t}\pi H\left(h_s(\tau)e^{i\tau t}\right)(\omega) \to \mp i\pi h_s(\omega)$$

in  $L^2(I, \mathcal{B}; d\omega)$ .

*Proof.* Now regard  $T_t(\omega) := \pi H(h_s(\tau)e^{i\tau t})(\omega)$  as a family of distributions on the Schwartz space in the variable  $\omega$  with values in  $\mathcal{B}$ . It is helpful to compute the Fourier transform of  $T_t$ .

For a  $\mathcal{B}$ -valued Schwartz function  $\varphi$  we define  $\tilde{\varphi}(\omega) = \varphi(-\omega)$ . Now by duality and using  $\mathcal{FF}\tilde{\varphi} = \varphi$ 

$$\langle T_t, \varphi \rangle = \langle T_t, \mathcal{FF}\widetilde{\varphi} \rangle = \langle \mathcal{F}T_t, \mathcal{F}\widetilde{\varphi} \rangle.$$
 (4.23)

We compute the Fourier transform of  $T_t$ . Since  $\tau \mapsto h_s(\tau)e^{i\tau t}$  is in  $L^1(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{B}) \cap L^2(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{B})$  and  $-i \operatorname{sgn}(\cdot)$  is the Fourier multiplier of H in  $L^2$  (see [41]) we see that

$$T_t(\omega) = -i\pi \mathcal{F}_{\omega\sigma}^{-1} \left( \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma) \mathcal{F}_{\sigma\tau}(h_s(\tau) e^{i\tau t}) \right) (\omega)$$

and so

$$\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\omega}T_t(\sigma) = -i\pi \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma)\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\tau}(h_s(\tau)e^{i\tau t}) = -i\pi \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma)\mathcal{F}_{t\tau}(e^{i\sigma\tau}h_s(-\tau)), \qquad (4.24)$$

where the last equality is seen as follows, using  $h_s(\tau)e^{i\tau t} \in L^1(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{B})$ :

$$\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\tau} \left( h_s(\tau) e^{i\tau t} \right) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-i\sigma\tau} \left( e^{i\tau t} h_s(\tau) \right) d\tau$$
  
= 
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-i\tau t} \left( e^{i\sigma\tau} h_s(-\tau) \right) d\tau = \mathcal{F}_{t\tau}(e^{i\sigma\tau} h_s(-\tau)).$$

We use (4.24) to calculate  $\langle \mathcal{F}T_t, \mathcal{F}\widetilde{\varphi} \rangle$ :

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \mathcal{F}T_t, \mathcal{F}\widetilde{\varphi} \rangle &= \int_{\mathbb{R}} -i\pi \mathrm{sgn}(\sigma) \mathcal{F}_{t\tau}(e^{i\sigma\tau} h_s(-\tau)) \cdot \mathcal{F}\widetilde{\varphi}(\sigma) \, d\sigma \\ &= -i\pi \mathcal{F}_{t\tau} \left( h_s(-\tau) \cdot \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathrm{sgn}(\sigma) \, e^{i\sigma\tau} \mathcal{F}\widetilde{\varphi}(\sigma) \, d\sigma \right) \quad \text{by Fubini's theorem} \\ &= -i\pi \mathcal{F}_{t\tau} \left( h_s(-\tau) \right) * \mathcal{F}_{t\tau} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathrm{sgn}(\sigma) \, e^{i\sigma\tau} \mathcal{F}\widetilde{\varphi}(\sigma) \, d\sigma \right). \end{aligned}$$

In the last step lemma 4.14 was used. Note that  $h_s(-\tau)$  is a  $L^2$ -function of  $\tau$  with compact support and  $\tau \mapsto \int_{\mathbb{R}} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma) e^{i\sigma\tau} \mathcal{F} \widetilde{\varphi}(\sigma) d\sigma$  is uniformly continuous as the Fourier transform of the  $L^1$ -function  $\operatorname{sgn}(-\sigma) \mathcal{F} \widetilde{\varphi}(-\sigma)$ . Further, using lemma 4.13, we see that

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{F}_{t\tau} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma) \, e^{i\sigma\tau} \mathcal{F} \widetilde{\varphi}(\sigma) \, d\sigma \right) &= \mathcal{F}_{t\tau} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}} \operatorname{sgn}(-\sigma) e^{-i\sigma\tau} \mathcal{F} \widetilde{\varphi}(-\sigma) \, d\sigma \right) \\ &= \operatorname{sgn}(t) \, \mathcal{F} \widetilde{\varphi}(t), \end{aligned}$$

thus it is a  $L^1$ -function in t. So we continue the calculation with

$$\langle \mathcal{F}T_t, \mathcal{F}\widetilde{\varphi} \rangle = -i\pi \mathcal{F}_{t\tau} \left( h_s(-\tau) \right) * \operatorname{sgn}(t) \mathcal{F}\widetilde{\varphi}(t)$$

$$= -i\pi \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathcal{F}_{\eta\tau} \left( h_s(-\tau) \right) (\eta) \operatorname{sgn}(t-\eta) \cdot \mathcal{F}\widetilde{\varphi}(t-\eta) \, d\eta$$
  
$$= -i\pi \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathcal{F}_{\eta\tau} \left( h_s(-\tau) \right) (\eta) \operatorname{sgn}(t-\eta) \cdot \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-i(t-\eta)\omega} \widetilde{\varphi}(\omega) \, d\omega \, d\eta$$

Now we would like to change the order of the two integrations. We mark this step with  $(\star)$  below and justify it after the following calculation at the end of the proof. Before continuing we define temporarily the family  $f_t$  of  $L^2(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{B})$ -functions

$$f_t(\eta) := \mathcal{F}_{\eta\tau} \left( h_s(-\tau) \right)(\eta) \operatorname{sgn}(t-\eta).$$

Then we continue the calculation

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \mathcal{F}T_t, \mathcal{F}\widetilde{\varphi} \rangle &= -i\pi \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathcal{F}_{\eta\tau} \left( h_s(-\tau) \right) (\eta) \operatorname{sgn}(t-\eta) \cdot \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-i(t-\eta)\omega} \widetilde{\varphi}(\omega) \, d\omega \, d\eta \\ &\stackrel{(\star)}{=} -i\pi \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-it\omega} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}} f_t(\eta) e^{i\eta\omega} \, d\eta \right) \cdot \widetilde{\varphi}(\omega) \, d\omega \\ &= -i\pi \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{it\omega} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}} f_t(\eta) e^{-i\eta\omega} d\eta \right) \cdot \varphi(\omega) \, d\omega \\ &= -i\pi \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{it\omega} \mathcal{F}_{\omega\eta}(f_t(\eta))(\omega) \cdot \varphi(\omega) \, d\omega \\ &= \langle -i\pi e^{it\omega} \mathcal{F}_{\omega\eta}(f_t(\eta)), \varphi \rangle. \end{aligned}$$

Comparing this result with (4.23) we conclude that

$$T_t = -i\pi e^{it\omega} \mathcal{F}_{\omega\eta}(f_t(\eta)) \in L^2(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{B}; d\omega).$$

Since  $sgn(t - \eta) \rightarrow \pm 1$  pointwise as  $t \rightarrow \pm \infty$ , using Lebesgue dominated convergence we see that

$$f_t \to \pm \mathcal{F}_{\eta\tau} \left( h_s(-\tau) \right)$$

in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{B}; d\eta)$  as  $t \to \pm \infty$ . Since the Fourier transform is a bounded operator in  $L^2$  we conclude that

$$e^{-i\omega t}T_t = -i\pi \mathcal{F}_{\omega\eta}(f_t(\eta))$$
  

$$\rightarrow -i\pi \mathcal{F}_{\omega\eta}(\pm \mathcal{F}_{\eta\tau}(h_s(-\tau)))$$
  

$$= \mp i\pi \mathcal{F}_{\omega\eta}(\mathcal{F}_{\eta\tau}^{-1}(h_s(\tau)))$$
  

$$= \mp i\pi h_s(\omega)$$

in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{B}; d\omega)$  as  $t \to \pm \infty$ .

It remains to justify the step (\*). For any fixed t we have  $f_t \cdot \mathcal{F}\widetilde{\varphi}(\cdot - t) \in L^1(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C})$  by Cauchy-Schwarz inequality and

$$\int_{-R}^{R} f_t(\eta) \cdot \mathcal{F}\widetilde{\varphi}(\eta - t) \, d\eta \stackrel{R \to \infty}{\longrightarrow} \int_{\mathbb{R}} f_t(\eta) \cdot \mathcal{F}\widetilde{\varphi}(\eta - t) \, d\eta$$

in  $\mathbb{C}$ . On the other hand by Fubini's theorem

$$\int_{-R}^{R} f_{t}(\eta) \cdot \mathcal{F}\widetilde{\varphi}(\eta - t) \, d\eta = \int_{-R}^{R} f_{t}(\eta) \cdot \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{i\eta\omega} e^{-it\omega} \varphi(\omega) \, d\omega \, d\eta$$
$$= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-it\omega} \varphi(\omega) \cdot \underbrace{\int_{-R}^{R} f_{t}(\eta) e^{i\eta\omega} \, d\eta}_{=:g_{R,t}(\omega)} \, d\omega$$

Since  $\chi_{(-R,R)}f_t \in L^1(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{B}) \cap L^2(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{B})$ , we have

$$g_{R,t} = \mathcal{F}_1^{-1}(\chi_{(-R,R)}f_t) \stackrel{\text{a.e.}}{=} \mathcal{F}_2^{-1}(\chi_{(-R,R)}f_t) \in L^2(\mathbb{R},\mathcal{B}),$$

where  $\mathcal{F}_1$  is the Fourier transform in  $L^1$  and  $\mathcal{F}_2$  the Fourier transform in  $L^2$ . Since  $\mathcal{F}_2$  is an isometry and  $\chi_{(-R,R)}f_t \to f_t$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{B})$  as  $R \to \infty$  we obtain  $g_{R,t} \to \mathcal{F}_2^{-1}f_t$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{B})$  as  $R \to \infty$ . By the following calculation the step ( $\star$ ) will be justified. Note that for a  $\mathcal{B}$ -valued Schwartz function  $\varphi$  the function

$$\varphi(\omega) \cdot \mathcal{F}_2^{-1} f_t(\omega)$$

is in  $L^1(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C}; d\omega)$ .

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-i\omega t} \varphi(\omega) \cdot \int_{-R}^{R} e^{i\eta\omega} f_{t}(\eta) \, d\eta \, d\omega - \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-i\omega t} \varphi(\omega) \cdot \mathcal{F}_{2}^{-1} f_{t}(\omega) \, d\omega \right| \\ &= \left| \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-i\omega t} \varphi(\omega) \cdot \left( g_{R,t}(\omega) - \mathcal{F}_{2}^{-1} f_{t}(\omega) \right) \, d\omega \right| \\ &\leq \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \|\varphi(\omega)\|_{\mathcal{B}} \left\| g_{R,t}(\omega) - \mathcal{F}_{2}^{-1} f_{t}(\omega) \right\|_{\mathcal{B}} \, d\omega \\ &\leq \|\varphi\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R},\mathcal{B})} \left\| g_{R,t} - \mathcal{F}_{2}^{-1} f_{t} \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R},\mathcal{B})} \xrightarrow{R \to \infty} 0. \end{aligned}$$

-			
L.			
L.			
L.			

#### 4.3.2 Asymptotic behavior as $t \to +\infty$ of the nonsingular parts of $u_{as.}$ and of $u_{trans.}$

The remaining non-time-harmonic parts of  $u_{as.}$ , i.e the first and third line of (4.19) - except for the summands with  $e^{i\omega t}$  - and  $u_{trans.}$  converge weakly to 0, as it was known for the case  $\omega^2 \notin \sigma(\mathcal{L})$  (see [30], Chapter XVII B, §4.). This fact is the issue of the following two lemmata.

**Lemma 4.16.** As  $t \to \pm \infty$ , for any fixed  $\omega \in I$ ,  $g \in D(\mathcal{L}^{1/2})$ 

$$\frac{1}{2\omega\sqrt{|B|}}\sum_{s\in\mathcal{J}}\int_{B\setminus V}\frac{P_{s,k}[g]}{(\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}-\omega)}\left(\cos\left(\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}t\right)+i\omega\frac{\sin\left(\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}t\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}}\right)\ dk\to 0$$

weakly in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M; dx)$ .

*Proof.* We have  $\chi_{B\setminus V}P_{s,k}[g] = \chi_{B\setminus V}\langle Ug, \psi_s \rangle \psi_s = \langle \chi_{B\setminus V}Ug, \psi_s \rangle \psi_s$ , since  $\chi_{B\setminus V}$  depends only on k. Since  $U : L^2(\mathbb{R}^d) \to L^2(\Omega \times B)$  is an isomorphism, we can find a  $\hat{g} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ with  $U\hat{g} = \chi_{B\setminus V}Ug$ . Note that although  $\omega \in I$ ,  $(\mathcal{L}^{1/2} - \omega)^{-1}\hat{g} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  exists due to the special definition of  $\hat{g}$ . So

$$\begin{aligned} \hat{u} &:= \frac{1}{2\omega\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s\in\mathcal{J}} \int_{B\setminus V} \frac{P_{s,k}[g]}{(\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)} - \omega)} \left( \cos\left(\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}t\right) + i\omega\frac{\sin\left(\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}t\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}} \right) dk \\ &= \frac{1}{2\omega\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s\in\mathcal{J}} \int_B \frac{P_{s,k}[\hat{g}]}{(\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)} - \omega)} \left( \cos\left(\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}t\right) + i\omega\frac{\sin\left(\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}t\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}} \right) dk \\ &= \frac{1}{2\omega} \left( \cos\left(\mathcal{L}^{1/2}t\right) (\mathcal{L}^{1/2} - \omega)^{-1} \hat{g} + i\omega\sin\left(\mathcal{L}^{1/2}t\right) \mathcal{L}^{-1/2} (\mathcal{L}^{1/2} - \omega)^{-1} \hat{g} \right). \end{aligned}$$

Now since  $\mathcal{L}^{1/2}$  is selfadjoint and the generator of the unitary group  $e^{i\mathcal{L}^{1/2}t}$ , moreover  $(\mathcal{L}^{1/2} - \omega)^{-1}\hat{g}$ ,  $\mathcal{L}^{-1/2}(\mathcal{L}^{1/2} - \omega)^{-1}\hat{g} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and finally the spectrum of  $\mathcal{L}^{1/2}$  is absolutely continuous, by a theorem found in [30] (Proposition 1, p.426) we have for any  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ :

$$\langle \hat{u}, \varphi \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)} \xrightarrow{t \to \pm \infty} 0.$$

The same arguments lead to

**Lemma 4.17.** As  $t \to \pm \infty$ , for any fixed  $\omega \in I$ ,  $g \in D(\mathcal{L}^{1/2})$ ,  $u^0 \in D(\mathcal{L})$ ,  $u^1 \in D(\mathcal{L}^{1/2})$ 

$$\frac{1}{2\omega\sqrt{|B|}}\sum_{s\in\mathcal{J}}\int_{B}\frac{P_{s,k}[g]}{(\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)}+\omega)}\left(\cos\left(\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)}t\right)+i\omega\frac{\sin\left(\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)}t\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda_{s}(k)}}\right)dk \to 0,$$
$$u_{trans.}(t)=\cos(\mathcal{L}^{1/2}t)u^{0}+\mathcal{L}^{-1/2}\sin(\mathcal{L}^{1/2}t)u^{1}\to 0,$$

weakly in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M; dx)$ .

# 4.4 Formulation of the limit amplitude principle for regular frequencies

Recall  $\mathcal{B} = L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M; w(x)dx)$  with a weight function as in theorem 3.19 in chapter 3.

**Theorem 4.18** (Limit amplitude principle for regular frequencies). Let  $I \subset \subset \mathcal{R} \subseteq (0, \infty)$  be an interval that is compactly embedded in the set of regular (in the sense of 3.6) frequencies of the band functions  $\sqrt{\lambda_s}$  of the operator  $\mathcal{L}^{1/2}$ . Then the strong solution  $u = u(t, \omega, x)^1$  of the wave equation

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial t^2} + \mathcal{L}u = e^{i\omega t}g, \\ u(0) = u^0, \\ \frac{\partial u}{\partial t}(0) = u^1, \end{cases}$$
(4.25)

with  $u^0 \in D(\mathcal{L})$ ,  $g, u^1 \in D(\mathcal{L}^{1/2})$ , which is given by  $u = u_{trans.} + u_{as.}$  from (4.5) and (4.6), the following asymptotics holds

$$u(t,\omega,x) \sim e^{i\omega t} v^-(\omega,x) \text{ as } t \to +\infty,$$
(4.26)

in the following sense

$$u \sim \widetilde{v} \text{ as } t \to +\infty$$

$$:\iff \|\langle u(t,\omega,\cdot) - \widetilde{v}(t,\omega,\cdot), \phi(\cdot) \rangle_{\mathcal{B}}\|_{L^{2}(I,\mathbb{R};d\omega)}$$

$$\stackrel{t \to +\infty}{\longrightarrow} 0 \quad \forall \phi \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{M})$$

$$(4.27)$$

<sup>1</sup>i.e.  $u(t, \omega, \cdot) \in D(\mathcal{L}), \frac{\partial u}{\partial t}(t, \omega, \cdot) \in D(\mathcal{L}^{1/2}), \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial t^2}(t, \omega, \cdot) \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M), t \mapsto u(t, \omega, \cdot) \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$ twice continuously differentiable. with  $v^- \in L^2(I, \mathcal{B}; d\omega)$  being the limiting absorption solution (in distributional sense) of the first kind of the corresponding Helmholtz equation

$$(\mathcal{L} - \omega^2)v = g, \tag{4.28}$$

i.e.

$$v^{-}(\omega, x) = \lim_{\delta \to 0^{-}} v_{\delta}(\omega, x) = \lim_{\delta \to 0^{-}} (\mathcal{L} - (\omega + i\delta)^2)^{-1} g,$$

the limit existing in  $L^2(I, \mathcal{B}; d\omega)$ .

Proof of theorem 4.18. Let V be the preimage of I under all band functions  $\sqrt{\lambda_s}$ . The theory from chapter 3 works also for the absorptive operators  $\mathcal{L} - (\omega + i\delta)^2$  as for the absorptive operators  $\mathcal{L} - \omega^2 - i\delta$ . One has only to perform partial fraction decomposition after decomposing the resolvent by the Floquet-Bloch transform. Then adapting theorem 3.31 from chapter 3 have the following representation of the limiting absorption solution of (4.28)

$$v^{\pm}(\omega, x) = \frac{1}{2\omega\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s\in\mathcal{J}} \int_{B\setminus V} \frac{P_{s,k}[g]}{\sqrt{\lambda_s}(k) - \omega} dk \qquad (4.29)$$
$$+ \frac{1}{2\omega} \sum_{s\in\mathcal{J}; |s|\leq r} -\pi H h_s(\omega, x) \pm i\pi h_s(\omega, x)$$
$$- \frac{1}{2\omega\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s\in\mathcal{J}} \int_B \frac{P_{s,k}[g]}{\sqrt{\lambda_s}(k) + \omega} dk$$

with  $P_{s,k}[g] = \langle Ug(\cdot,k), \psi_s(\cdot,k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)} \psi_s(x,k),$ 

$$h_s(\tau, x) = \int_{B^s_\tau} \frac{\langle Ug(\cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)} \psi_s(x, k)}{|\nabla \sqrt{\lambda_s}(k)|} \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k)$$

and

$$B^s_{\tau} = \{k \in B : \sqrt{\lambda_s}(k) = \tau\}.$$

We can do without the trace operator T, since g depends not on  $\omega$ . Again we skip the variable x. Comparing  $v^{\mp}$  from (4.29) with the representation of  $u_{as.}$  in equation (4.19) we find the following for the difference

$$u_{\rm as.} - e^{i\omega t} v^{\mp}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2\omega\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{J}} \int_{B \setminus V} \frac{P_{s,k}[g]}{(\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)} - \omega)} \left( -\cos\left(\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}t\right) - i\omega \frac{\sin\left(\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}t\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}} \right) dk$$

$$(4.30)$$

$$+\frac{1}{2\omega}\sum_{s\in\mathcal{J};\ |s|\leq r}-\pi H\left(h_s(\tau)\left(-\cos(\tau t)-i\omega\frac{\sin(\tau t)}{\tau}\right)\right)(\omega)\pm i\pi e^{i\omega t}h_s(\omega)\\-\frac{1}{2\omega\sqrt{|B|}}\sum_{s\in\mathcal{J}}\int_B\frac{P_{s,k}[g]}{(\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}+\omega)}\left(-\cos\left(\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}t\right)-i\omega\frac{\sin\left(\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}t\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}}\right)\ dk.$$

Now the first and the third line converge weakly in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M; dx)$  to 0 for any fixed  $\omega$  as  $t \to \pm \infty$  as seen in lemma 4.16 and lemma 4.17. Since  $\omega \in I$ , one can show by Lebesgue dominated convergence that they converge to 0 in the sense of (4.27). An integrable majorant can be found noting that

$$\rho^{\pm}(\lambda_s(k), t) = \frac{\cos(\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}t) + i\omega \frac{\sin(\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}t)}{\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)}}}{\sqrt{\lambda_s(k)} \pm \omega}$$

can be bounded for all  $\omega \in I$ ,  $t \ge 0$ ,  $s \in \mathcal{J}$  and  $k \in B$ ,  $k \in B \setminus V$  respectively, by a constant that is independent of all of these. The same applies to the term  $u_{\text{trans.}}$ . Let  $\tilde{u}$  (compare with (4.22)) denote the second line of the right hand side of (4.30). Then  $\tilde{u}$  converges to 0 as  $t \rightarrow \pm \infty$  in  $L^2(I, \mathcal{B}; d\omega)$  as discussed in lemma 4.12 and proposition 4.15. For  $\phi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$ we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|\langle \widetilde{u}(t,\omega,\cdot),\phi(\cdot)\rangle_{\mathcal{B}}\|_{L^{2}(I,\mathbb{R};d\omega)}^{2} &= \int_{I} |\langle \widetilde{u}(t,\omega,\cdot),\phi(\cdot)\rangle_{\mathcal{B}}|^{2} d\omega \\ &\leq \int_{I} \|\widetilde{u}(t,\omega,\cdot)\|_{\mathcal{B}}^{2} \|\phi\|_{\mathcal{B}}^{2} d\omega \\ &= \|\phi\|_{\mathcal{B}}^{2} \|\widetilde{u}(t,\omega,\cdot)\|_{L^{2}(I,\mathcal{B};d\omega)}^{2} \end{aligned}$$

and so the second line the right hand side of (4.30) tends to 0 in the sense of (4.27).  $\Box$ 

## 4.5 Equivalence of the presented principles of limit absorption and limit amplitude

By equivalence we mean that both principles select the same (distributional) solution to the Helmholtz equation.

**Theorem 4.19.**  $I \subset \mathbb{C} \mathcal{R}$  be an interval that is compactly embedded in the set of regular frequencies of the band functions  $\sqrt{\lambda_s}$  of the operator  $\mathcal{L}^{1/2}$ . If  $v \in L^2(I, \mathcal{B}; d\omega)$  satisfies

the limit amplitude principle for the wave equation (4.25), i.e. if for the solution u of (4.25)  $u \sim e^{i\omega t} v$  for  $t \to +\infty$  holds in the sense of (4.27), then v is the limiting absorption solution of (4.28) for  $\delta \to 0^-$ . Conversely, if  $v \in L^2(I, \mathcal{B}; d\omega)$  is the limiting absorption solution of (4.28) for  $\delta \to 0^-$ , then for the solution u of the wave equation (4.25),  $u \sim e^{i\omega t} v$  holds.

*Proof.* Let u be the strong solution of (4.25) and  $v_1, v_2 \in L^2(I, \mathcal{B}; d\omega)$  with  $u \sim e^{i\omega t}v_1$  and  $u \sim e^{i\omega t}v_2$  as  $t \to +\infty$  in the sense of (4.27). Then  $e^{i\omega t}v_1 \sim e^{i\omega t}v_2$  as  $t \to +\infty$  because for  $\phi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$ 

$$\begin{aligned} & \left\| \langle e^{i\omega t} v_1 - e^{i\omega t} v_2, \phi \rangle_{\mathcal{B}} \right\|_{L^2(I,\mathbb{R};d\omega)}^2 \\ & \leq \quad \left\| \langle e^{i\omega t} v_1 - u(t,\omega,\cdot), \phi(\cdot) \rangle_{\mathcal{B}} \right\|_{L^2(I,\mathbb{R};d\omega)}^2 + \left\| \langle u(t,\omega,\cdot) - e^{i\omega t} v_2, \phi(\cdot) \rangle_{\mathcal{B}} \right\|_{L^2(I,\mathbb{R};d\omega)}^2 \\ & \to \quad 0 \text{ as } t \to +\infty. \end{aligned}$$

But also

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \langle e^{i\omega t} v_1 - e^{i\omega t} v_2, \phi \rangle_{\mathcal{B}} \right\|_{L^2(I,\mathbb{R};d\omega)}^2 &= \int_I |\langle e^{i\omega t} v_1 - e^{i\omega t} v_2, \phi \rangle_{\mathcal{B}}|^2 \, d\omega \\ &= \int_I |e^{i\omega t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (v_1 - v_2) \overline{\phi} \, w(x) dx|^2 \, d\omega \\ &= \int_I |\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (v_1 - v_2) \overline{\phi} \, w(x) dx|^2 \, d\omega \\ &= \left\| \langle v_1 - v_2, \phi \rangle_{\mathcal{B}} \right\|_{L^2(I,\mathbb{R};d\omega)}^2. \end{aligned}$$

So we see that  $\|\langle v_1 - v_2, \phi \rangle_{\mathcal{B}}\|_{L^2(I,\mathbb{R};d\omega)}^2 = 0$  and hence  $\langle v_1 - v_2, \phi \rangle_{\mathcal{B}} = 0$  for all  $\phi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M)$  for almost all  $\omega \in I$ . In particular,  $\langle v_1 - v_2, \phi \rangle_{L^2(K,\mathbb{C}^M)} = 0$  for all  $\phi \in C_0^{\infty}(K, \mathbb{C}^M)$ , where K is an arbitrary ball in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . So  $v_1(\omega, x) = v_2(\omega, x)$  for almost all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \omega \in I$ . From this we see, that the  $v \in L^2(I, \mathcal{B}; d\omega)$  satisfying  $u \sim e^{i\omega t}v$  as  $t \to +\infty$  is unique. Theorem 4.18 states that the limiting absorption solution  $v^-$  of the Helmholtz equation (4.28) given by (4.29) satisfies  $u \sim e^{i\omega t}v^-$  for  $t \to +\infty$ .

**Remark 4.20.** Theorem 4.19 shows the equivalence of the principles of limit amplitude and limit absorption of the first kind (compare chapter 1, section 1.1) provided I is an interval of regular frequencies. In an analogous way one can show the equivalence of the corresponding principles of the second kind for an interval I of regular frequencies, i.e. for the (strong) solution u of the wave equation (4.25),  $u \sim e^{-i\omega t}v$  as  $t \to +\infty$  in the sense of (4.27) for some  $v \in L^2(I, \mathcal{B})$  if and only if  $v = v^+ \in L^2(I, \mathcal{B})$  is the limit absorption solution of (4.28) as  $\delta \to 0^+$ . Furthermore,  $v^+$  is then given by (4.29).

# **Chapter 5**

# Appendix

### 5.1 The Floquet-Bloch transform

The Floquet Bloch transform is one of the most important tools in this work. A general treatment can be found in [24].  $\Omega = [0, 1]^d$  denotes the cell of periodicity and  $B = [-\pi, \pi]^d$  the Brillouin zone.

**Definition 5.1.** For a function f with compact support in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  the Floquet Bloch transform of f is defined by

$$Uf(x,k) := \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}^d} f(x-n) e^{ink} \quad (x \in \Omega, \ k \in B).$$
(5.1)

**Theorem 5.2.** U extends to a bounded operator on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Moreover,

$$\begin{cases} U: L^2(\mathbb{R}^d) \to L^2(\Omega \times B) \\ f(x) \mapsto Uf(x,k) \end{cases}$$
(5.2)

is an isometric isomorphism with the inverse

$$\begin{cases} U^{-1}: L^2(\Omega \times B) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^d) \\ g(x,k) \mapsto U^{-1}g(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|B|}} \int_B g(x,k) \, dk, \end{cases}$$
(5.3)

where in the integral g(x,k) is extended to all of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  by the k-quasiperiodicity condition  $g(x+n,k) = e^{ink}g(x,k)$  for  $n \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ .

A proof of this theorem can be found in [43].

For compactly supported functions in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  the following lemma holds by Cauchy-Schwaz inequality.

**Lemma 5.3.** There exists a C = C(supp(f)) such that for all  $k \in B$ 

$$\|Uf(\cdot,k)\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \le \frac{C}{\sqrt{|B|}} \|f\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)}.$$

## 5.2 The Cauchy principal value integral

For reference see [23, 44].

**Definition 5.4.** For  $h : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$ ,  $p \in \mathbb{R}$  the Cauchy principal value is defined as

$$\mathcal{P}\!\!\int_{\mathbb{R}} h(x) \, dx = \int_{\mathbb{R} \setminus (p-\epsilon, p+\epsilon)} h(x) \, dx + \mathcal{P}\!\!\int_{p-\epsilon}^{p+\epsilon} h(x) \, dx$$
$$=: \int_{\mathbb{R} \setminus (p-\epsilon, p+\epsilon)} h(x) \, dx + \lim_{\eta \to 0} \left[ \int_{p-\epsilon}^{p-\eta} h(x) \, dx + \int_{p+\eta}^{p+\epsilon} h(x) \, dx \right]. \tag{5.4}$$

In case of existence the Cauchy principal value is independent of the choice of  $\epsilon$ .

**Lemma 5.5.** Let  $h : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$  be locally Lipschitz continuous. Then

$$\mathcal{P}\!\int_{p-\epsilon}^{p+\epsilon} \frac{h(\lambda)}{p-\lambda} d\lambda = \int_{p-\epsilon}^{p+\epsilon} \frac{h(\lambda) - h(p)}{p-\lambda} d\lambda.$$

*Proof.* We start with the definition of the  $\mathcal{P}$  integral

$$\mathcal{P} \int_{p-\epsilon}^{p+\epsilon} \frac{h(\lambda)}{p-\lambda} d\lambda$$

$$= \lim_{\eta \to 0} \left[ \int_{p-\epsilon}^{p-\eta} \frac{h(\lambda)}{p-\lambda} d\lambda + \int_{p+\eta}^{p+\epsilon} \frac{h(\lambda)}{p-\lambda} d\lambda \right]$$

$$= \lim_{\eta \to 0} \left[ \underbrace{\int_{p-\epsilon}^{p-\eta} \frac{h(p)}{p-\lambda} d\lambda}_{=0 \text{ because of symmetry}} \right]$$

$$\begin{split} &+ \int_{p-\epsilon}^{p-\eta} \frac{h(\lambda) - h(p)}{p - \lambda} d\lambda + \int_{p+\eta}^{p+\epsilon} \frac{h(\lambda) - h(p)}{p - \lambda} d\lambda \Big] \\ &= \left[ \int_{p-\epsilon}^{p} \frac{h(\lambda) - h(p)}{p - \lambda} d\lambda + \int_{p}^{p+\epsilon} \frac{h(\lambda) - h(p)}{p - \lambda} d\lambda \right] \\ &= \int_{p-\epsilon}^{p+\epsilon} \frac{h(\lambda) - h(p)}{p - \lambda} d\lambda, \end{split}$$

where in the third step we have used Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem.  $\Box$ 

We will need the following:

**Theorem 5.6.** Let  $h : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$  be Lipschitz continuous in a neighborhood of p and integrable outside. Then

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0^{\pm}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{h(\lambda)}{p - \lambda - i\delta} \, d\lambda = \mathcal{P}\!\!\!\int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{h(\lambda)}{p - \lambda} \, d\lambda \pm i\pi h(p).$$
(5.5)

Proof. Write

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{h(\lambda)}{p - \lambda - i\delta} \, d\lambda = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{h(\lambda) - h(p)}{p - \lambda - i\delta} \, d\lambda + h(p) \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{1}{p - \lambda - i\delta} \, d\lambda$$

and use Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem and lemma 5.5 on the first integral and Cauchy's integral formula on the second integral.  $\Box$ 

#### 5.3 The Hausdorff Measure

For reference see [31].

#### **Definition 5.7.**

(i) Let  $A \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $0 \le s < \infty, 0 < \delta \le \infty$ . Define

$$\mathcal{H}^{s}_{\delta}(A) \equiv \inf\left\{\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \alpha(s) \left(\frac{\operatorname{diam} C_{j}}{2}\right)^{s} | A \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} C_{j}, \operatorname{diam} C_{j} \leq \delta\right\},\$$

where

$$\alpha(s) \equiv \frac{\pi^{s/2}}{\Gamma(\frac{s}{2}+1)}$$

Here  $\Gamma(s) \equiv \int_0^\infty e^{-x} x^{s-1} dx$ ,  $(0 < s < \infty)$ , is the usual gamma function.

(ii) For A and s as above, define

$$\mathcal{H}^{s}(A) \equiv \lim_{\delta \to 0} \mathcal{H}^{s}_{\delta}(A) = \sup_{\delta > 0} \mathcal{H}^{s}_{\delta}(A).$$

*We call*  $\mathcal{H}^s$  *s*-dimensional Hausdorff measure on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ .

Theorem 5.8 (Properties of the Hausdorff measure).

- (a)  $\mathcal{H}^s$  is a Borel regular measure  $(0 \le s < \infty)$ .
- (b)  $\mathcal{H}^0$  is the counting measure.
- (c)  $\mathcal{H}^1 = \mathcal{L}^1$  (Lebesgue measure) on  $\mathbb{R}^1$ .
- (d)  $\mathcal{H}^s \equiv 0$  on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  for all s > n.
- (e)  $\mathcal{H}^{s}(\lambda A) = \lambda^{s} \mathcal{H}^{s}(A)$  for all  $\lambda > 0, A \subset \mathbb{R}^{n}$ .
- (f)  $\mathcal{H}^{s}(L(A)) = \mathcal{H}^{s}(A)$  for each affine isometry  $L : \mathbb{R}^{n} \to \mathbb{R}^{n}$ ,  $A \subset \mathbb{R}^{n}$ .

(g) 
$$\mathcal{H}^n = \mathcal{L}^n$$
 on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ .

**Definition 5.9** (Hausdorff dimension). *The* Hausdorff dimension *of a set*  $A \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  *is defined to be* 

$$\mathcal{H}_{dim}(A) \equiv \inf\{0 \le s < \infty | \mathcal{H}^s(A) = 0\}.$$

#### 5.4 The Area- and Coarea-Formula

For reference see [31], Theorem 2 in section 3.3.3 and proposition 3 in section 3.4.4.

**Theorem 5.10** (Area formula). Let  $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^m$  be Lipschitz,  $n \leq m$ . Then for each  $\mathcal{L}^n$ -integrable function  $g : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x) Jf(x) \, dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^m} \left[ \sum_{x \in f^{-1}\{y\}} g(x) \right] \, d\mathcal{H}^n(y),$$

where Jf is the Jacobian of f in the sense of [31], section 3.2.2<sup>1</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>i.e.  $(Jf)^2 =$  sum of squares of the determinants of the  $(n \times n)$ -submatrices of Df, not to be confused with Clarke's generalized Jacobian  $\partial f$  of f or the Jacobian matrix Df of f.

**Theorem 5.11** (Coarea formula). Let  $f : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$  be Lipschitz, with

ess inf 
$$|Df| > 0$$
.

Suppose that  $h : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$  is integrable. Then

$$\int_{\{f>t\}} h \, dx = \int_t^\infty \left( \int_{\{f=s\}} \frac{h}{|Df|} \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} \right) \, ds.$$

# 5.5 A trace operator onto the diagonal for $L^{\infty}$ -valued Lipschitz functions

Let  $(\mathcal{B}, \|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{B}})$  be a Banach space. In our application in chapter 3 and 4,  $\mathcal{B}$  will be the weighted space  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^M; w(x)dx)$ . Let  $I \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  a compact interval. We want to define a trace operator onto the diagonal for functions that are Lipschitz continuous with values in  $L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B})$ , i.e. for  $\lambda \mapsto f(\lambda, \cdot) \in L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B})$  continuous on I we want a reasonable definition for the function  $\lambda \mapsto f(\lambda, \lambda) \in \mathcal{B}$ .

Define the set of step functions on I with values in  $L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B})$  by

$$\begin{aligned} \mathrm{SF}(I, L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B})) &:= & \Big\{g: I \to L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B}) : \exists \ N \in \mathbb{N}, \text{ disjoint intervals } J_j \\ & \text{ and } g_j \in L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B}) \text{ such that} \\ & I = \bigcup_{j \in \mathbb{N}}^N J_j \text{ up to a set of measure } 0 \\ & \text{ and } g(\lambda, \cdot) = \sum_{j=1}^N \chi_{J_j}(\lambda) g_j(\cdot) \Big\}. \end{aligned}$$

 $SF(I, L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B}))$  is a normed space with the norm from  $L^{\infty}(I, L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B}))$ .

**Definition 5.12.** For  $p \in [1, \infty]$ ,  $g \in SF(I, L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B}))$ ,  $g(\lambda, \mu) = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \chi_{J_j}(\lambda)g_j(\mu)$  define the trace operator onto the diagonal by

$$\begin{cases} T: SF(I, L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B})) \to L^{p}(I, \mathcal{B}) \\ g \mapsto Tg \\ Tg(\lambda) = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \chi_{J_{j}}(\lambda)g_{j}(\lambda). \end{cases}$$

**Lemma 5.13.**  $T : SF(I, L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B})) \to L^{p}(I, \mathcal{B})$  is well defined and bounded, and since the closure of  $SF(I, L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B}))$  with respect to the  $L^{\infty}(I, L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B}))$ -norm contains all continuous functions on I with values in  $L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B})$  we have  $||Tf||_{L^{p}(I, \mathcal{B})} \leq C_{p} ||f||_{L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{L}^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B}))}$  for all  $f \in C(I, L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B}))$ .

*Proof.* Let  $g(\lambda, \mu) = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \chi_{J_j}(\lambda) g_j(\mu) = \sum_{j=1}^{M} \chi_{K_j}(\lambda) h_j(\mu)$  and

$$T_1g(\lambda) = \sum_{j=1}^N \chi_{J_j}(\lambda)g_j(\lambda), \qquad T_2g(\lambda) = \sum_{j=1}^M \chi_{K_j}(\lambda)h_j(\lambda).$$

Consider the set  $H_{ij} = \{J_i \cap K_j : 1 \le i \le N, 1 \le j \le M\}$ . Then

$$\bigcup_{1 \leq i \leq N, 1 \leq j \leq M} H_{ij} = I \qquad \text{up to a set of measure 0}$$

and  $T_1g = T_2g$  on each  $H_{ij}$ . Therefore T is well defined. Concerning the boundedness we first see that

$$\begin{aligned} \|g\|_{L^{\infty}(I,L^{\infty}(I,\mathcal{B}))} &= \sup_{\lambda \in I} \|g(\lambda,\cdot)\|_{L^{\infty}(I,\mathcal{B})} = \sup_{\lambda \in I} \left\|\sum_{j=1}^{N} \chi_{J_{j}}(\lambda)g_{j}(\cdot)\right\|_{L^{\infty}(I,\mathcal{B})} \\ &= \max_{1 \leq j \leq N} \|g_{j}\|_{L^{\infty}(I,\mathcal{B})} \,. \end{aligned}$$

For  $p \in [1, \infty)$  we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|Tg\|_{L^{p}(I,\mathcal{B})}^{p} &= \int_{I} \|Tg(\lambda)\|_{\mathcal{B}}^{p} d\lambda = \int_{I} \left\|\sum_{j=1}^{N} \chi_{J_{j}}(\lambda)g_{j}(\lambda)\right\|_{\mathcal{B}}^{p} d\lambda \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{N} \int_{J_{j}} \|g_{j}(\lambda)\|_{\mathcal{B}}^{p} d\lambda \\ &\leq \sum_{j=1}^{N} \int_{J_{j}} \left(\max_{1 \leq j \leq N} \|g_{j}\|_{L^{\infty}(I,\mathcal{B})}\right)^{p} d\lambda = |I| \|g\|_{L^{\infty}(I,L^{\infty}(I,\mathcal{B}))}^{p} \end{aligned}$$

For  $p = \infty$  we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|Tg\|_{L^{\infty}(I,\mathcal{B})} &= \sup_{\lambda \in I} \|Tg(\lambda)\|_{\mathcal{B}} = \sup_{\lambda \in I} \left\| \sum_{j=1}^{N} \chi_{J_{j}}(\lambda)g_{j}(\lambda) \right\|_{\mathcal{B}} \\ &\leq \sup_{\lambda \in I} \left\| \sum_{j=1}^{N} \chi_{J_{j}}(\lambda)g_{j} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(I,\mathcal{B})} = \|g\|_{L^{\infty}(I,L^{\infty}(I,\mathcal{B}))} \,. \end{aligned}$$

Putting  $\frac{1}{\infty} = 0$  we conclude for all  $p \in [1, \infty]$  and  $g \in SF(I, L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B}))$ 

$$||Tg||_{L^{p}(I,\mathcal{B})}^{p} \leq |I|^{1/p} ||g||_{L^{\infty}(I,L^{\infty}(I,\mathcal{B}))}.$$
(5.6)

Now let  $f \in C(I, L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B}))$  and  $\varepsilon > 0$  fixed. Since I is compact, f is uniformly continuous. Choose  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  so big that  $||f(\lambda, \cdot) - f(\mu, \cdot)||_{L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B})} \leq \varepsilon$  whenever  $|\lambda - \mu| \leq \frac{1}{N}$ . Let  $g_k(\cdot) = f(\frac{k}{N}, \cdot)$  and  $g_{\varepsilon}(\lambda, \cdot) := \sum_{k=1}^{N} \chi_{(\frac{k-1}{N}, \frac{k}{N})}(\lambda)g_k(\cdot)$ . Then for almost all  $\lambda \in I$  we have  $(\lambda \in (\frac{k-1}{N}, \frac{k}{N})$  for some  $k = k(\lambda)$ )

$$\begin{split} \|f(\lambda,\cdot) - g_{\varepsilon}(\lambda,\cdot)\|_{L^{\infty}(I,\mathcal{B})} &= \left\| f(\lambda,\cdot) - \sum_{k=1}^{N} \chi_{(\frac{k-1}{N},\frac{k}{N})}(\lambda)g_{k}(\cdot) \right\|_{L^{\infty}(I,\mathcal{B})} \\ &= \left\| \sum_{k=1}^{N} \chi_{(\frac{k-1}{N},\frac{k}{N})}(\lambda) \Big( f(\lambda,\cdot) - g_{k}(\cdot) \Big) \right\|_{L^{\infty}(I,\mathcal{B})} \\ &= \left\| \chi_{(\frac{k(\lambda)-1}{N},\frac{k(\lambda)}{N})}(\lambda) \Big( f(\lambda,\cdot) - f(\frac{k(\lambda)}{N},\cdot) \Big) \right\|_{L^{\infty}(I,\mathcal{B})} \\ &\leq \varepsilon \end{split}$$

and thus we obtain  $||f - g_{\varepsilon}||_{L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B})} \leq \varepsilon$  and so (5.6) also holds for  $f \in C(I, L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B}))$ .

**Definition 5.14.** For  $I_0 \subset \subset I \setminus \partial I$ ,  $p \in [1, \infty]$ ,  $g \in SF(I, L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B}))$ ,  $g(\lambda, \cdot) = \sum_{j=1}^N \chi_{J_j}(\lambda)g_j(\cdot)$ and all  $h \geq 0$  so small that  $I_0 - h \subseteq I$  define

$$\begin{cases} T_h : SF(I, L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B})) \to L^p(I_0, \mathcal{B}) \\ T_h g(\lambda) &= \sum_{j=1}^N \chi_{J_j}(\lambda) g_j(\lambda - h). \end{cases}$$

If h is so big that  $I_0 - h \nsubseteq I$  then put  $T_h g = 0$ .

**Lemma 5.15.** For fixed  $I_0$ ,  $h \ge 0$  small enough,  $T_h$  is well defined on  $SF(I, L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B}))$  and bounded with norm independent of h. Moreover

$$||T_h f||_{L^p(I_0,\mathcal{B})} \le C_p ||f||_{L^\infty(I,L^\infty(I,\mathcal{B}))}$$

and in the case  $p \neq \infty$ ,  $||T_h f - Tf||_{L^p(I_0, \mathcal{B})} \xrightarrow{h \to 0} 0$  for all  $f \in C(I, L^\infty(I, \mathcal{B}))$ .

*Proof.* If  $p \in [1, \infty)$  we have

$$\|T_hg\|_{L^p(I_0,\mathcal{B})}^p = \int_{I_0} \|T_hg(\lambda)\|_{\mathcal{B}}^p d\lambda = \int_{I_0} \left\|\sum_{j=1}^N \chi_{J_j}(\lambda)g_j(\lambda-h)\right\|_{\mathcal{B}}^p d\lambda$$
$$= \sum_{j=1}^{N} \int_{J_{j}\cap I_{0}} \|g_{j}(\lambda-h)\|_{\mathcal{B}}^{p} d\lambda$$
  
$$\leq \sum_{j=1}^{N} \int_{J_{j}\cap I_{0}} \left(\max_{1\leq j\leq N} \|g_{j}\|_{L^{\infty}(I,\mathcal{B})}\right)^{p} d\lambda = |I_{0}| \|g\|_{L^{\infty}(I,L^{\infty}(I,\mathcal{B}))}^{p}.$$

For  $p = \infty$  we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|T_hg\|_{L^{\infty}(I_0,\mathcal{B})} &= \sup_{\lambda \in I_0} \|T_hg(\lambda)\|_{\mathcal{B}} = \sup_{\lambda \in I_0} \left\| \sum_{j=1}^N \chi_{J_j \cap I_0}(\lambda)g_j(\lambda) \right\|_{\mathcal{B}} \\ &\leq \sup_{\lambda \in I_0} \left\| \sum_{j=1}^N \chi_{J_j}(\lambda)g_j \right\|_{L^{\infty}(I,\mathcal{B})} \leq \|g\|_{L^{\infty}(I,L^{\infty}(I,\mathcal{B}))} \,. \end{aligned}$$

As in the preceding lemma we obtain for all  $f \in C(I, L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B}))$ 

$$||T_h f||_{L^p(I_0,\mathcal{B})}^p \le |I_0|^{1/p} ||f||_{L^{\infty}(I,L^{\infty}(I,\mathcal{B}))}.$$
(5.7)

For the last statement fix  $\varepsilon > 0$  and choose a  $g_{\varepsilon} \in SF(I, L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B}))$ ,

$$g(\lambda,\mu) = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \chi_{J_j}(\lambda) g_j^{(\varepsilon)}(\mu),$$

 $N = N(\varepsilon), J_j = J_j(\varepsilon)$ , such that  $||g_{\varepsilon} - f||_{L^{\infty}(I,L^{\infty}(I,\mathcal{B}))} \leq \varepsilon$ . Then for fixed  $\eta = \eta(\varepsilon) > 0$  choose a  $h_{\varepsilon,\eta} \in SF(I, C(I, \mathcal{B}))$ ,

$$h_{\varepsilon,\eta}(\lambda,\mu) = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \chi_{J_j}(\lambda) h_j^{(\varepsilon,\eta)}(\mu),$$

such that  $\|g_{\varepsilon} - h_{\varepsilon,\eta}\|_{L^{\infty}(I,L^{p}(I,\mathcal{B}))} \leq \eta$  (recall  $p \neq \infty$ ). Then for almost all  $\lambda \in I$  we have  $\|h_{\varepsilon,\eta}(\lambda,\lambda-h) - h_{\varepsilon,\eta}(\lambda,\lambda)\|_{\mathcal{B}}^{p} \xrightarrow{h \to 0} 0$  and

$$\|h_{\varepsilon,\eta}(\lambda,\lambda-h) - h_{\varepsilon,\eta}(\lambda,\lambda)\|_{\mathcal{B}}^{p} \leq 2^{p} \|h_{\varepsilon,\eta}\|_{L^{\infty}(I,L^{\infty}(I,\mathcal{B}))}^{p}$$

and so by the Lebesgue dominated convergence  $\|h_{\varepsilon,\eta}(\cdot,\cdot-h) - h_{\varepsilon,\eta}(\cdot,\cdot)\|_{L^p(I_0,\mathcal{B})} \xrightarrow{h \to 0} 0.$ Moreover

$$\|h_{\varepsilon,\eta} - g\|_{L^{\infty}(I,L^{p}(I))}^{p} = \sup_{\lambda \in I} \int_{I} \left\| \sum_{j=1}^{N} \chi_{J_{j}}(\lambda) \left( h_{j}^{(\varepsilon,\eta)}(\mu) - g_{j}^{(\varepsilon)}(\mu) \right) \right\|_{\mathcal{B}}^{p} d\mu$$

$$= \max_{1 \le j \le N} \int_{I} \left\| h_{j}^{(\varepsilon,\eta)}(\mu) - g_{j}^{(\varepsilon)}(\mu) \right\|_{\mathcal{B}}^{p} d\mu,$$
  

$$\|Th_{\varepsilon,\eta} - Tg_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{p}(I_{0},\mathcal{B})}^{p} = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \int_{J_{j}\cap I_{0}} \left\| h_{j}^{(\varepsilon,\eta)}(\mu) - g_{j}^{(\varepsilon)}(\mu) \right\|_{\mathcal{B}}^{p} d\mu$$
  

$$\leq N \max_{1 \le j \le N} \int_{I} \left\| h_{j}^{(\varepsilon,\eta)}(\mu) - g_{j}^{(\varepsilon)}(\mu) \right\|_{\mathcal{B}}^{p} d\mu$$
  

$$= N \|h_{\varepsilon,\eta} - g\|_{L^{\infty}(I,L^{p}(I))}^{p},$$
  

$$\|T_{h}h_{\varepsilon,\eta} - T_{h}g_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{p}(I_{0},\mathcal{B})}^{p} = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \int_{J_{j}\cap I_{0}} \left\| h_{j}^{(\varepsilon,\eta)}(\mu - h) - g_{j}^{(\varepsilon)}(\mu - h) \right\|_{\mathcal{B}}^{p} d\mu$$
  

$$\leq N \max_{1 \le j \le N} \int_{I} \left\| h_{j}^{(\varepsilon,\eta)}(\mu) - g_{j}^{(\varepsilon)}(\mu) \right\|_{\mathcal{B}}^{p} d\mu$$
  

$$= N \|h_{\varepsilon,\eta} - g\|_{L^{\infty}(I,L^{p}(I))}^{p}.$$

Now we are prepared for the final estimation

$$\begin{split} \|T_{h}f - Tf\|_{L^{p}(I_{0},\mathcal{B})} &\leq \|T_{h}f - T_{h}g_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{p}(I_{0},\mathcal{B})} + \|T_{h}g_{\varepsilon} - Tg_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{p}(I_{0},\mathcal{B})} \\ &+ \|Tg_{\varepsilon} - Tf\|_{L^{p}(I_{0},\mathcal{B})} \\ &\leq 2|I_{0}|^{1/p} \|g_{\varepsilon} - f\|_{L^{\infty}(I,L^{\infty}(I,\mathcal{B}))} \\ &+ \|T_{h}g_{\varepsilon} - T_{h}h_{\varepsilon,\eta}\|_{L^{p}(I_{0},\mathcal{B})} + \|T_{h}h_{\varepsilon,\eta} - Th_{\varepsilon,\eta}\|_{L^{p}(I_{0},\mathcal{B})} \\ &+ \|Th_{\varepsilon,\eta} - Tg_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{p}(I_{0},\mathcal{B})} \\ &\leq 2|I_{0}|^{1/p} \|g_{\varepsilon} - f\|_{L^{\infty}(I,L^{\infty}(I,\mathcal{B}))} + 2N \|h_{\varepsilon,\eta} - g_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}(I,L^{p}(I,\mathcal{B}))} \\ &+ \|h_{\varepsilon,\eta}(\lambda,\lambda-h) - h_{\varepsilon,\eta}(\lambda,\lambda)\|_{(L^{p}(I_{0},\mathcal{B}),d\lambda)} \\ &\leq 2|I_{0}|^{1/p}\varepsilon + 2N\eta + \|h_{\varepsilon,\eta}(\lambda,\lambda-h) - h_{\varepsilon,\eta}(\lambda,\lambda)\|_{(L^{p}(I_{0},\mathcal{B}),d\lambda)} \\ &\stackrel{h\to 0}{\longrightarrow} 2|I_{0}|^{1/p}\varepsilon + 2N\eta, \end{split}$$

and so  $\limsup_{h\to 0} \|T_h f - Tf\|_{L^p(I_0,\mathcal{B})} \leq 2|I_0|^{1/p}\varepsilon + 2N\eta \text{ for any } \eta > 0 \text{ and } \varepsilon \text{ fixed.}$ It follows  $\limsup_{h\to 0} \|T_h f - Tf\|_{L^p(I_0,\mathcal{B})} \leq 2|I_0|^{1/p}\varepsilon \text{ for any } \varepsilon \text{ and finally}$ 

$$\lim_{h \to 0} \|T_h f - Tf\|_{L^p(I_0, \mathcal{B})} = 0.$$

Let  $I \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  be a compact interval,  $I_0 \subset \subset I \setminus \partial I$  and  $\lambda \mapsto f(\lambda, \cdot) \in L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B})$  continuous on I. For  $p \in [1, \infty)$  we extend  $f(\lambda, \cdot)$  to  $L^p(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{B})$  by 0 outside of I. Moreover  $f(\lambda, \cdot) = 0$  if

 $\lambda \notin I$ . By abuse of notation we write for  $\lambda \in I$ 

$$(k_{\varepsilon} * f)(\lambda) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} k_{\varepsilon}(\lambda - \tau) f(\lambda, \tau) d\tau,$$

where  $k_{\varepsilon}$  is an approximate identity (see [41]).

**Lemma 5.16.** For  $f \in C(I, L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B}))$  and any  $I_0 \subset \subset I \setminus \partial I$  we have

$$k_{\varepsilon} * f - Tf \xrightarrow{\varepsilon \to 0} 0$$

in  $L^p(I_0, \mathcal{B})$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\varepsilon > 0$  fixed. First we prove that

$$\left\|\int_{\mathbb{R}} k_{\varepsilon}(\tau) \left(f(\lambda, \lambda - \tau) - T_{\tau}f(\lambda)\right) d\tau\right\|_{(L^{p}(I_{0}, \mathcal{B}), d\lambda)} \xrightarrow{\varepsilon \to 0} 0$$

Let  $g_{\eta} \in \operatorname{SF}(I, L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B}))$  with  $||g_{\eta} - f||_{L^{\infty}(I, L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B}))} \leq \eta$ . Then there exists a set  $M_1 \subseteq I_0$ with  $|I_0 \setminus M_1| = 0$  such that  $\lambda \in M_1 \Rightarrow ||g_{\eta}(\lambda, \cdot) - f(\lambda, \cdot)||_{L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B})} \leq \eta$ . Then for all  $\lambda \in M_1$  there exists a set  $M_2(\lambda) \subseteq I$  such that  $|I \setminus M_2(\lambda)| = 0$  and  $\mu \in M_2(\lambda) \Rightarrow ||g_{\eta}(\lambda, \mu) - f(\lambda, \mu)||_{\mathcal{B}} \leq \eta$ . Let  $M_3(\lambda) = \lambda - M_2(\lambda)$ . Then  $M_3(\lambda) \subseteq \lambda - I$  and  $|(\lambda - I) \setminus M_3(\lambda)| = 0$ . For any  $\mu \in M_2(\lambda)$  there exists a  $\tau \in M_3(\lambda)$  such that  $\mu = \lambda - \tau$  and we have  $\lambda \in M_1, \tau \in M_3(\lambda) \Rightarrow ||g_{\eta}(\lambda, \lambda - \tau) - f(\lambda, \lambda - \tau)||_{\mathcal{B}} \leq \eta$ .

$$\begin{split} & \left\| \int_{\mathbb{R}} k_{\varepsilon}(\tau) \left( f(\lambda, \lambda - \tau) - T_{\tau} f(\lambda) \right) d\tau \right\|_{(L^{p}(I_{0}, \mathcal{B}), d\lambda)} \\ &= \int_{M_{1}} \left\| \int_{\mathbb{R}} k_{\varepsilon}(\tau) \left( f(\lambda, \lambda - \tau) - T_{\tau} f(\lambda) \right) d\tau \right\|_{\mathcal{B}} d\lambda \\ &= \int_{M_{1}} \left\| \int_{M_{3}(\lambda)} k_{\varepsilon}(\tau) \left( f(\lambda, \lambda - \tau) - T_{\tau} f(\lambda) \right) d\tau \right\|_{\mathcal{B}} d\lambda \\ &\leq \int_{M_{1}} \int_{M_{3}(\lambda)} |k_{\varepsilon}(\tau)| \left\| f(\lambda, \lambda - \tau) - T_{\tau} f(\lambda) \right\|_{\mathcal{B}} d\tau d\lambda \\ &\leq \int_{M_{1}} \int_{M_{3}(\lambda)} |k_{\varepsilon}(\tau)| \left\| f(\lambda, \lambda - \tau) - g_{\eta}(\lambda, \lambda - \tau) \right\|_{\mathcal{B}} \\ &+ |k_{\varepsilon}(\tau)| \left\| g_{\eta}(\lambda, \lambda - \tau) - T_{\tau} f(\lambda) \right\|_{\mathcal{B}} d\tau d\lambda \\ &\leq \int_{M_{1}} \int_{M_{3}(\lambda)} |k_{\varepsilon}(\tau)| \left( \eta + \left\| T_{\tau}(g_{\eta} - f)(\lambda) \right\|_{\mathcal{B}} \right) d\tau d\lambda \end{split}$$

$$\leq \int_{M_1} \int_{M_3(\lambda)} |k_{\varepsilon}(\tau)| \left( \eta + \|T_{\tau}(g_{\eta} - f)\|_{L^{\infty}(I_0, \mathcal{B})} \right) d\tau d\lambda$$
  
 
$$\leq \int_{M_1} \int_{M_3(\lambda)} |k_{\varepsilon}(\tau)| \left( \eta + \|g_{\eta} - f\|_{L^{\infty}(I, L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B}))} \right) d\tau d\lambda \qquad (\text{by lemma 5.15})$$
  
 
$$\leq 2\eta I_0 c,$$

where c > 0 is a constant such that  $||k_{\varepsilon}||_{L^{1}(\mathbb{R})} \leq c$  for all  $\varepsilon > 0$ . The remainder of the proof is like in [41], theorem 1.2.19. Let  $\delta > 0$ . Since  $||T_{\tau}f - Tf||_{L^{p}(I_{0},\mathcal{B})} \xrightarrow{\tau \to 0} 0$  by lemma 5.15 there exists a neighborhood  $V_{\delta}$  of 0 such that for all  $\tau \in V_{\delta}$ 

$$\|T_{\tau}f - Tf\|_{L^p(I_0,\mathcal{B})} \le \frac{\delta}{2c}.$$

Since  $k_{\varepsilon}$  has integral one we have

$$\begin{aligned} &k_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) * f - Tf(\lambda) \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}} k_{\varepsilon}(\lambda - \tau) \chi_{I}(\tau) f(\lambda, \tau) d\tau - \int_{\mathbb{R}} k_{\varepsilon}(\tau) Tf(\lambda) d\tau \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}} k_{\varepsilon}(\tau) f(\lambda, \lambda - \tau) d\tau - \int_{\mathbb{R}} k_{\varepsilon}(\tau) Tf(\lambda) d\tau \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}} k_{\varepsilon}(\tau) \big( f(\lambda, \lambda - \tau) - Tf(\lambda) \big) d\tau \\ &= \int_{V_{\delta}} k_{\varepsilon}(\tau) \big( T_{\tau}f(\lambda) - Tf(\lambda) \big) d\tau + \int_{\mathbb{R}\setminus V_{\delta}} k_{\varepsilon}(\tau) \big( T_{\tau}f(\lambda) - Tf(\lambda) \big) d\tau. \end{aligned}$$

Now we take the  $L^p(I_0, \mathcal{B})$ -norm with respect to  $\lambda$ .

$$\begin{split} \left\| \int_{V_{\delta}} k_{\varepsilon}(\tau) \left( T_{\tau} f(\lambda) - T f(\lambda) \right) d\tau \right\|_{(L^{p}(I_{0},\mathcal{B}),d\lambda)} \\ &\leq \int_{V_{\delta}} |k_{\varepsilon}(\tau)| \left\| T_{\tau} f(\lambda) - T f(\lambda) \right\|_{(L^{p}(I_{0},\mathcal{B}),d\lambda)} d\tau \\ &\leq \int_{V_{\delta}} |k_{\varepsilon}(\tau)| \frac{\delta}{2c} d\tau \leq \frac{\delta}{2} \end{split}$$

and

$$\left\| \int_{\mathbb{R}\setminus V_{\delta}} k_{\varepsilon}(\tau) \left( T_{\tau}f(\lambda) - Tf(\lambda) \right) d\tau \right\|_{(L^{p}(I_{0},\mathcal{B}),d\lambda)}$$

$$\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}\setminus V_{\delta}} |k_{\varepsilon}(\tau)| \left\| T_{\tau}f(\lambda) - Tf(\lambda) \right\|_{(L^{p}(I_{0},\mathcal{B}),d\lambda)} d\tau$$

$$\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}\setminus V_{\delta}} |k_{\varepsilon}(\tau)| (|I|^{1/p} + |I_0|^{1/p}) \|f\|_{L^{\infty}(I,L^{\infty}(I,\mathcal{B}))} d\tau$$
  
$$\leq \frac{\delta}{2},$$

provided that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}\setminus V_{\delta}} |k_{\varepsilon}(\tau)| d\tau \leq \frac{\delta}{2(|I|^{1/p} + |I_0|^{1/p}) \|f\|_{L^{\infty}(I,L^{\infty}(I,\mathcal{B}))}}.$$

This can be achieved by choosing  $\varepsilon$  small enough, since  $k_{\varepsilon}$  is an approximate identity. So  $\|k_{\varepsilon} * f - Tf\|_{L^p(I_0,\mathcal{B})} \leq \delta$  for any  $\varepsilon > 0$  small enough and

$$\limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} \|k_{\varepsilon} * f - Tf\|_{L^{p}(I_{0}, \mathcal{B})} \leq \delta$$

follows. Since  $\delta > 0$  was arbitrary, the assertion follows.

Suppose that  $\lambda \mapsto f(\lambda, \cdot) \in L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B})$  is Lipschitz continuous on I and let

$$\operatorname{Lip}(f)_{I} := \inf \left\{ C > 0 : \| f(\lambda, \cdot) - f(\mu, \cdot) \|_{L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B})} \le C |\lambda - \mu|, \ \lambda, \mu \in I \right\}.$$

Then we have the following

**Lemma 5.17.** For all  $\lambda \in I$  and almost all  $\tau \in I$  we have

$$\|f(\lambda,\tau) - Tf(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{B}} \le Lip(f)_I |\lambda - \tau|.$$

*Proof.* Let  $\lambda \in I$  be fixed. Then we can choose a sequence  $g_{\varepsilon} \in SF(I, L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B})), g_{\varepsilon}(\mu, \cdot) = \sum_{j=1}^{N(\varepsilon)} \chi_{J_{j}^{(\varepsilon)}}(\mu) g_{j}^{(\varepsilon)}$ , such that for all  $\varepsilon > 0$  the fixed  $\lambda$  is in the interior of one of the  $J_{j}^{(\varepsilon)}$  and  $\|g_{\varepsilon} - f\|_{L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B})} \leq \varepsilon$ . Then for almost all  $\tau \in I_{0}$ 

$$\begin{split} &\|f(\lambda,\tau) - Tf(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{B}} \\ &\leq \|\|f(\lambda,\tau) - g_{\varepsilon}(\tau,\tau)\|_{\mathcal{B}} + \|g_{\varepsilon}(\tau,\tau) - Tf(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{B}} \\ &= \left\| \sum_{j=1}^{N(\varepsilon)} \chi_{J_{j}^{(\varepsilon)}}(\tau) \left( f(\lambda,\tau) - g_{j}^{(\varepsilon)}(\tau) \right) \right\|_{\mathcal{B}} + \|T(g_{\varepsilon} - f)(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{B}} \\ &\leq \sum_{j=1}^{N(\varepsilon)} \chi_{J_{j}^{(\varepsilon)}}(\tau) \sup_{\nu \in I} \left\| f(\lambda,\nu) - g_{j}^{(\varepsilon)}(\nu) \right\|_{\mathcal{B}} + \sup_{\nu \in I} \|T(g_{\varepsilon} - f)(\nu)\|_{\mathcal{B}} \\ &= \sup_{\nu \in I} \sum_{j=1}^{N(\varepsilon)} \chi_{J_{j}^{(\varepsilon)}}(\tau) \left\| f(\lambda,\nu) - g_{j}^{(\varepsilon)}(\nu) \right\|_{\mathcal{B}} + \|T(g_{\varepsilon} - f)\|_{L^{\infty}(I,\mathcal{B})} \end{split}$$

Hence we conclude

$$\begin{aligned} \|f(\lambda,\tau) - Tf(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{B}} &\leq \|f(\lambda,\cdot) - f(\tau,\cdot)\|_{L^{\infty}(I,\mathcal{B})} \\ &\leq \operatorname{Lip}(f)_{I}|\lambda - \tau| \end{aligned}$$

for all  $\lambda \in I$  and almost all  $\tau \in I$ .

## 5.6 A variant of the Hilbert transform

Let  $f \in \text{Lip}(I, L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B}))$ . Recall that we put  $f(\lambda, \cdot) = 0$  for  $\lambda \notin I$  and both  $f(\lambda, \tau) = 0$  and  $Tf(\tau) = 0$  for  $\tau \notin I$ . Define the truncated Hilbert transform by

$$H^{(\varepsilon)}(f)(\lambda) = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{|\lambda - \tau| \ge \varepsilon} \frac{f(\lambda, \tau)}{\lambda - \tau} d\tau.$$

We can write the truncated Hilbert transform of f on I the following way

$$H^{(\varepsilon)}f(\lambda) = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{|\lambda-\tau| \ge \varepsilon} \frac{f(\lambda,\tau)}{\lambda-\tau} d\tau = \chi_I(\lambda) \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{|\lambda-\tau| \ge \varepsilon} \frac{f(\lambda,\tau)}{\lambda-\tau} d\tau$$
$$= \chi_I(\lambda) \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{|\lambda-\tau| \ge \varepsilon} \frac{f(\lambda,\tau) - Tf(\tau)}{\lambda-\tau} d\tau + \chi_I(\lambda) \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{|\lambda-\tau| \ge \varepsilon} \frac{Tf(\tau)}{\lambda-\tau} d\tau$$
$$=: \chi_I(\lambda) G^{(\varepsilon)}f(\lambda) + \chi_I(\lambda) H^{(\varepsilon)}(Tf)(\lambda).$$
(5.8)

Now for all  $p \in (1, \infty)$  we know from theorem 4.1.12 in [41] that  $H^{(\varepsilon)}(Tf) \xrightarrow{\varepsilon \to 0} H(Tf)$ in  $L^p(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{B})$  and a.e. since  $Tf \in L^p(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{B})$ . Moreover form theorem 4.1.7 in [41]<sup>2</sup> we know  $\|H(Tf)\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{B})} \leq C_p \|Tf\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{B})}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The cited theorem is proved for real valued functions. For  $\mathcal{B}$ -valued functions take section 4.6 in [41] into account.

**Lemma 5.18.** For  $p \in [1, \infty]$ ,  $\chi_I G^{(\varepsilon)} f - Gf \xrightarrow{\varepsilon \to 0} 0$  in  $L^p(I, \mathcal{B})$  where

$$Gf(\lambda) = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{\chi_I(\lambda) \left( f(\lambda, \tau) - Tf(\tau) \right)}{\lambda - \tau} d\tau.$$

Moreover  $\|Gf\|_{L^p(I,\mathcal{B})} \leq C_p Lip(f)_I.$ 

*Proof.* Let  $p \in [1, \infty)$ 

$$\begin{aligned} \left\|\chi_{I}G^{(\varepsilon)}f - Gf\right\|_{L^{p}(I,\mathcal{B})}^{p} &= \int_{I} \left\|G^{(\varepsilon)}f(\lambda) - Gf(\lambda)\right\|_{\mathcal{B}}^{p}d\lambda \\ &= \int_{I} \left\|\frac{1}{\pi}\int_{|\lambda-\tau|\leq\varepsilon} \frac{f(\lambda,\tau) - Tf(\tau)}{\lambda - \tau}d\tau\right\|_{\mathcal{B}}^{p}d\lambda \\ &\leq \int_{I} \left(\frac{1}{\pi}\int_{|\lambda-\tau|\leq\varepsilon} \frac{\|f(\lambda,\tau) - Tf(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{B}}}{|\lambda - \tau|}d\tau\right)^{p}d\lambda \\ &\leq \frac{1}{\pi}\mathrm{Lip}(f)_{I}^{p}2^{p}\varepsilon^{p}I \xrightarrow{\varepsilon \to 0} 0 \end{aligned}$$

using lemma 5.17. For  $p = \infty$  we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left\|\chi_{I}G^{(\varepsilon)}f - Gf\right\|_{L^{\infty}(I,\mathcal{B})}^{p} &= \sup_{\lambda \in I} \left\|G^{(\varepsilon)}f(\lambda) - Gf(\lambda)\right\|_{\mathcal{B}} \\ &= \sup_{\lambda \in I} \left\|\frac{1}{\pi}\int_{|\lambda - \tau| \le \varepsilon} \frac{f(\lambda, \tau) - Tf(\tau)}{\lambda - \tau} d\tau\right\|_{\mathcal{B}} \\ &\le \frac{1}{\pi}\mathrm{Lip}(f)_{I}2\varepsilon \xrightarrow{\varepsilon \to 0} 0. \end{aligned}$$

Moreover

$$\|Gf\|_{L^{p}(I,\mathcal{B})} \leq \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\pi} \operatorname{Lip}(f)_{I} |I|^{(p+1)/p} & \text{if } p \neq \infty \\ \frac{1}{\pi} \operatorname{Lip}(f)_{I} |I| & \text{if } p = \infty. \end{cases}$$

**Definition 5.19.** We define the Hilbert transform of  $f \in \text{Lip}(I, L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{B}))$  on I by

$$Hf(\lambda) := \chi_I(\lambda)Gf(\lambda) + \chi_I(\lambda)H(Tf)(\lambda).$$

## 5.7 List of Symbols

Ω	$\Omega = [0, 1]^d$ , d-dimensional cell of periodicity
В	$B = [-\pi, \pi]^d$ , d-dimensional Brillouin zone
$\chi_A$	characteristic function of the set $A$
x	space variable, $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$
k	wave vector variable, $k \in B$
$\lambda, \tau$	frequency variables, $\lambda, \tau \in \mathbb{R}$
$\omega$	frequency variable, $\omega \in \mathbb{R},  \omega^2 = \lambda$
$\mathcal{L}$	Floquet-Bloch decomposable operator
$\lambda_s(k)$	band function of $\mathcal{L}$
$\psi_s(x,k)$	Bloch wave of $\mathcal{L}$
U	Floquet-Bloch transform
$\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda)$	$\Phi_{s,k}(\lambda) = \sqrt{ B } \ \overline{\langle U\overline{\varphi}(\lambda,\cdot,k), \psi_s(\cdot,k) \rangle}_{L^2(\Omega,\mathbb{C}^M)} \langle Uf(\lambda,\cdot,k), \psi_s(\cdot,k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega,\mathbb{C}^M)}$
$\operatorname{Lip}(f)_{\mathfrak{C}}$	local Lipschitz constant of $f$ on $\mathfrak{C}$
$\ \varphi\ _\infty$	$\left\ \varphi\right\ _{\infty} = \sup_{\lambda \in \mathbb{R}, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d} \left \varphi(\lambda, x)\right $
$B^s_{\tau}$	$B^s_{ au} = \{k \in B : \ \lambda_s(k) =  au\}$ in chapter 3,
	$B^s_{ au} = \{k \in B: \sqrt{\lambda_s(k)} =  au\}$ in chapter 4
$I_0, I$	intervals of regular frequencies
$h_s$	level set integral, $h_s(\lambda, \tau, x) = \int_{B_{\tau}^s} \frac{\langle Uf(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle}{ \nabla \lambda_s(k) } d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k)$ in chapter 3,
	$h_s(\lambda, \tau, x) = \int_{B_{\tau}^s} \frac{\langle Uf(\lambda, \cdot, k), \psi_s(\cdot, k) \rangle}{ \nabla \sqrt{\lambda_s}(k) } \ d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(k)$ in chapter 4
$U_{B^s_\tau}^{-1}$	inverse Floquet-Bloch transform restricted to $B^s_{\tau}$
$\partial \lambda_s(k)$	generalized gradient of $\lambda_s$ in $k$
$\mathcal{R}, \mathcal{R}_s$	regular values, regular values of $\lambda_s$
w(x)	weight function
$P_{s,k}$	$P_{s,k}[h](x) = \langle Uh(\cdot,k), \psi_s(\cdot,k) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega,\mathbb{C}^M)} \psi_s(x,k)$
${\mathcal B}$	weighted $L^2$ -space
H	Hilbert transform or variant of Hilbert transform
T	Trace operator on the diagonal/point evaluation operator
${\cal F}$	Fourier transform

## **Bibliography**

- [1] <sup>3</sup> W.I. Smirnow, Lehrgang der höheren Mathematik, Teil IV, VEB Deutscher Verlag der Wissenschaften, (1966)
- [2] A.N. Tychonoff, A.A. Samarski, Differentialgleichungen der mathematischen Physik, VEB Deutscher Verlag der Wissenschaften, (1959)
- [3] D. Colton, R. Kress, Inverse Acoustic and Electromagnetic Scattering Theory, 2nd edition, Springer, New York, (1998)
- [4] D.M. Eidus, The Principle of Limiting Absorption, American Mathematical Society Translations, Series 2, Vol. 47, p.157-191, (1965)
- [5] B.R. Vainberg, Principles of radiation, limit absorption and limit amplitude in the general theory of partial differential equations, Russ. Math. Surv. 21,115-193, (1966)
- [6] T. Ikebe, Y. Saito, Limiting absorption method and absolute continuity for the Schrödinger operator, J. Math. Kyoto Univ., 12-3, (1972), 513-542
- [7] M. Ben-Artzi, A. Devinatz, The limiting absorption principle for partial differential operators, Memoirs of the American Mathematical Society, vol. 66, no. 364, (1987)
- [8] C. Gerard, F. Nier, The Mourre Theory for analytically fibered operators, Journal of Functional Analysis 152, 202-219, (1998)
- [9] C. Gerard, F. Nier, Scattering theory for the perturbations of periodic Schrödinger operators, J. Math. Kyoto Univ. 38-4, 595-634, (1998)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The entries are ordered by appearence in the text.

- [10] X.P. Wang, P. Zhang, High-frequency limit of the Helmholtz equation with variable refraction index, Journal of Functional Analysis 230, (2006), 116-168
- [11] A. Jensen, P. Perry, Commutator Methods and Besov space estimates for Schrödinger Operaotrs, J. Operator Theory 14, (1985), 181-188
- [12] J. Royer, Limiting absorption principle for the dissipative Helmholtz equation, preprint (2009)
- [13] M. Melgaard, Optimal limiting absorption principle for a Schrödinger type operator on a Lipschitz cylinder, manuscripta math. 118, 253-270 (2005)
- [14] M. Murata, T. Tsuchida, Asymptotics of Green functions and the limiting absorption principle for elliptic operators with periodic coefficients, J. Math. Kyoto Univ. 46-4, 713-754, (2006)
- [15] D.M. Eidus, The principle of limit amplitude, Russ. Math. Surv. 24 (3), 97-167, (1969)
- [16] B. Zhang, On the limiting absorption and amplitude principles for transmission problems with unbounded interfaces, Math. Proc. Camb. Phil. Soc. (1997), 122, 343
- [17] K. Kikuchi, H. Tamura, Limiting Amplitude Principle for Acoustic Propagators in Perturbed Stratified Fluids, Proc. Japan Acad., 65, Ser. A (1989)
- [18] H. Tamura, Resolvent estimates at low frequencies and limiting amplitude principle for acoustic propagators, J. Math. Soc. Japan, Vol. 41, No. 4, (1989)
- [19] J.D. Joannopoulos, R.D. Maede, J.N. Winn, Photonic Crystals, Molding the Flow of Light, Princeton University Press, (1995)
- [20] K. Sakoda, Optical Properties of Photonic Crystals, Second Edition, Springer (2004)
- [21] K. Busch, G. von Freymann, S. Linden, S.F. Mingaleev, M. Tkeshelashvili, M. Wegener, Periodic Nanostructures for Photonics, Physics Reports 444, 101-202, (2007)
- [22] A. Figotin, A. Klein, Localization of Classical Waves I: Acoustic Waves, Commun. Math. Phys. 180,439-482(1996)
- [23] M. Reed, B. Simon, Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics I: Functional Analysis, Academic Press, (1980)

- [24] P. Kuchment, Floquet Theory for Partial Differential Equations, Birkhäuser Verlag, (1993)
- [25] P.A. Markowich, F. Poupaud, The Maxwell equation in a periodic medium: homogenization of the energy density, Annali della Scuola Normale Superiore di Pisa, Classe di Scienze 4<sup>e</sup> série, tome 23, n<sup>o</sup> 2, (1996), p. 301-324
- [26] A. Morame, The absolute continuity of the spectrum of Maxwell operator in a periodic media, Journal of Mathematical Physics, Volume 41, Number 10, (2000)
- [27] T. Suslina, Absolute continuity of the spectrum of periodic operators of mathematical physics, Journées Équations aux dérivées partielles, (2000), p. 1-13
- [28] V. Hoang, The Limiting Absorption Principle for a periodic semi-infinite Waveguide, (2010), submitted
- [29] G.F. Roach, B. Zhang, The limiting-amplitude principle for the wave propagation problem with two unbounded media, Math. Proc. Camb. Phil. Soc. (1992), **112**, 207
- [30] R. Dautray, J.-L. Lions, Mathematical Analysis and Numerical Methods for Science and Technology, vol. 5 Evolution Problems I, Springer (2000)
- [31] L.C. Evans, R.F. Gariepy, Measure Theory and Fine Properties of Functions, Studies in Advanced Mathematics, CRC Press, (1992)
- [32] R. Courant, D. Hilbert, Methoden der mathematischen Physik I, 3. Auflage, Springer-Verlag, (1968)
- [33] K. O. Friedrichs, Mathematical Aspects of the Quantum Theory of Fields, Interscience Publishers, Inc., New York, (1953)
- [34] T. Kato, Perturbation theory for linear operators, Springer Verlag, (1980)
- [35] M. Reed, B. Simon, Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics II: Fourier Analysis. Self-Adjointness, Academic Press, (1975)
- [36] F.H. Clarke, On the inverse function theorem, Pacific Journal of Mathematics, Vol. 64, No. 1, (1976), 97-102

- [37] F.H. Clarke, Generalized gradients and applications, Transactions of the American Mathematical Society, Vol. 205, (1975), 247-262
- [38] C.H. Wilcox, Theory of Bloch waves, Journal d'Analyse Mathématique, Vol. 33, (1978), 146-167
- [39] H. Federer, Geometric Measure Theory, Springer-Verlag, (1969)
- [40] S. Konyagin, On the level sets of Lipschitz functions, Tatra Mountains Math. Publ., 2, (1993), 51-59
- [41] L. Grafakos, Classical Fourier Analysis, Springer, (2008)
- [42] L.C. Evans, Partial Differential Equations, Graduate Studies in Mathematics, Vol. 19, American Mathematical Society, (1998)
- [43] M. Plum, On the Spectra of Periodic Differential Operators, Lecture Notes Autumnschool (2006) of the GRK 1294
- [44] K. Jänich, Funktionentheorie, Springer Verlag (1999)

## **Curriculum Vitae Auctoris**

Maria Barbara Radosz, Dipl. Phys. geboren am 10.10.1979 in Ratibor, Polen.

Eltern: Claudia Radosz, Christoph Radosz.

- 10.2010 : Wissenschaftlicher Mitarbeiter am Institut für Analysis, Karlsruher Institut für Technologie
- 10.2006 7.2010: Doktorand am Karlsruher Institut für Technologie unter der Betreuung von Prof. Dr. Michael Plum im Rahmen des Graduiertenkollegs 1294 "Analysis, Simulation und Design nanotechnologischer Prozesse".
- 10.2000 9.2006: Studium der Physik an der Universität Karlsruhe. Diplomarbeit: Untersuchung der Abbildungseigenschaften eines Auger-Fluoreszenzteleskopes mit einer künstlichen UV-Lichtquelle
- 10.2002 9.2006 Studium der Mathematik an der Universität Karlsruhe.
- 1991 2000: Besuch des Progymnasium Baiersbronn und Hebel-Gymnasium Pforzheim.